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Property Portfolio
E TS

DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES -

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

ZRRREVMFR-EEZWR

Gross
Floor Area
Attributable  Site Area (included  Expected
Number Item Name Location Type of Property  Portion Interest (Total Site Area) underground)  Completion Date Lease Term
(sqm)
BEER BEER R
F¥  EEER WENE nEER 2B (BiEEEE) (B#T) RHRKH REHR
(FAR)
1 Changsha Outlets Changsha, Wangcheng Commercial Commercial Portion 483.65 mu* 386,923 Medium-term
RORE District, Tengfei Village, ~ &% HEE (322,435.9 sq.m) I
Magjiaohe Village, 483,658
Dongma (322,435.9F /%)
11 Commercial North Portion 84,782 Completed
AELE BRI
12 Commercial South Portion 302,141 March 2023
BEER —E-=%=f
2 Changsha Outlets Changsha, Wangcheng Residential, Residential Portion 100% 1,104.18 mu 1,191,751 N/A
RORE District, Tengfei Village, Commercial AZE (736,117.1 sq.m) TER
Magjaohe Village, 2 H¥ 1,104.188,
Dongma (736,117.1F A %)
2.1 Residential Phase 1 100,161 Completed and delivered
TE-5 BRITRN
2.2 Residential Phase 2 402,779 Partially completed and
FE=H delivered
PARIIRM
23 Residential Phase 3 204,898 June 2022
(including the required kSt 1|
education facilties)
TE=H
(BERHEHIE)
24 Residential Phase 4 393913 September 2022
TEmH —RZZFNA
* In this report, mu refers to “&8”, a Chinese unit of measurement. 1 mu equals to~ * RAREN @] IEPE—BFr 286 1mE

approxiamtely 666.67 sg.m, for information only.

FA#666.67F oK - (B H2E -
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Property Portfolio

L IE TS

Gross
Floor Area
Attributable  Site Area (included  Expected
Number  Item Name Location Type of Property  Portion Interest  (Total Site Area) underground)  Completion Date Lease Term
(sqm)
BEEE BEER it
F¥  EEER BEHE nEER 2B EfEEE (AEER) (B#T) RAKH REHR
(FAx)
3 Yinchuan Project West of China National Commercial Commercial Portion 100% 80.95 mu 90,899 Medium-term
#)IER Highway 109, DeSheng ¥ HEE (53,967.0 sq.m) I
Industrial Park* (&8 T 80.958
#E&), Yinchuan City, (53,967.0F /%)
Ningxia Hui Autonomous
Region, the PRC
PEZEAREABERIT
EBETIXEE109EER
3.1 Commercial Phase 1 80,262  Completed
Bx—4 BRI
32 Commercial Phase 2 - 10,637 Completed
Expansion project BRI
BECB-BRIR
4 Yinchuan Project West of China National Residential, Residential Portion 100% 119.05 mu 221,118 N/A
#)IER Highway 109, DeSheng Commercial fZE (79,365.0 sq.m) TEA
Industrial Park* (BT~ % B 119.058
#E&), Yinchuan City, (79,365.0F 71 %)
Ningxia Hui Autonomous
Region, the PRC
PEZEARERBERIT
EBETIXEE109EER
41 Residential Phase 1 33672 Completed and delivered
=5 BREIWRA
42 Residential Phase 2 45,788 Main part completed
et FTEIRRT
43 Residential Phase 3 141,658 June 2021
TE=H —2--%5A
5 Qinhuangdao Project ~ Qinhuangdao Municipality, ~ Residential, Whole Portion 100% 1,077 mu 500,899 Medium-term
FE Beidaihe New District, Commercial 4] (717,955 sq.m) I
Changli County, Central % &% 1,078
Golden Coast (717,955F 7 K)
ZEETLBTHEERE
Exalikd
5.1 Phase 1 (including the 84,130 Main part partially
Exhibit Center and completed
excluding D section) PHEBIRET

06

Richly Field China Development Limited

~H(BRRPL
T&DE )

Annual Report 2020



Property Portfolio

L E TS

Gross
Floor Area
Attributable  Site Area (included  Expected
Number  Item Name Location Type of Property  Portion Interest  (Total Site Area) underground)  Completion Date Lease Term
(sqm)
BEER BEER A
F$  BEER WENE nEER 7B EfEEE (AEBER) (B#T) =HRKH HEHR
(F7K)
6 Changchun Project  Xingfu Village Sheling Street ~ Residential, Whole Portion 42% 442.8 mu 573,504 Medium-term
REER Shuangyang District Commercial 2E (295,368 sq.m) T
Changchun City Jilin fz wE 442.88
Province the PRC (295,368F 75 K)
PEENERETERE
ERHERT
6.1 Phase 1 105,102 December 2020
—5 S
7 Huailai Wineries Zhangjiakou, Huailai Industrial (small Whole Portion 50% 156.06 mu 104,038 To be confirmed Medium-term
BRER County, Sangyuan Town, private wine 2 (104,038 sq.m) HERER I
Zhangguanying Village, estate) 156.06%
Xinxiang Ling Village 1% (104,038 15K)
Northwest (MERAER)

REOTEREREE
REENHARNEL

CECREEE WHTEARRERLF
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ENE5t e 5N

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Richly Field China
Development Limited (the “Company”) hereby presents the audited
consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year” or the “Reporting
Period”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in outlets commercial operation and
development and operation of featured commercial properties (such as
tourism property, senior care property and wine chateaus), development
of high-end residential properties as well as property management.

Key projects of the Group include Changsha Outlets Project, which is
a comprehensive project comprising the “Globe Outlets” (commercial)
and “Outlets Town” (residential) developed by the Group in Changsha,
Hunan Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), and
the JeShing European City Project which is a comprehensive project
comprising ‘M E” (residential), “ZX/E1E" (residential) and “KF 15"
(commercial) and JinSheng Yue Jing (residential) developed by the Group
in Yinchuan, Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, the PRC, together with
the Qinhuangdao Venice-the City of Water Outlets Project which is a
comprehensive project developed by the Group in BeiDaiHe new district,
Qinhuangdao, Hebei, the PRC.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of HK$181,687,000,
representing a decrease of 36.1% as compared to HK$284,184,000
for the year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Corresponding Year”). The
decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to the impact of the
novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic, sales were stopped
for a few months. In terms of the revenue breakdown, the sales of
properties, gross rental income and management fee income were
approximately HK$143,999,000 (Corresponding Year: HK$235,062,000),
HK$21,251,000 (Corresponding Year: HK$28,743,000) and
HK$16,437,000 (Corresponding Year: HK$20,379,000), respectively.
The Group recorded a loss on revaluation of investment properties of
HK$140,551,000 for the Year as compared to a gain of HK$2,590,000
for the Corresponding Year.

The loss attributable to equity holders for the Year amounted to
HK$294,856,000 representing a 9.9% increase as compared to
HK$268,297,000 for the Corresponding Year. The loss per share for
the Year was HK$1.26 cents as compared to HK$1.15 cents for the
Corresponding Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Bl EssmE i

As for financing aspect, regarding the loan agreements with a related
party, R ERBEBRREMSLEEERER AR, the total outstanding
principal amount was approximately RMB231,792,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$253,696,000) (the “Other Loan 17) as at 31 March
2020 and is due to repay on 31 December 2020. During the year, the
Group signed a supplemental agreement, in which the due date of Other
Loan 1 has been extended to 31 December 2021. Other Loan 1 is with
an interest rate of 9.5% per annum and was secured by the pledge of
certain of the Group’s assets.

Regarding the loan agreement with related parties, JeShing Real Estate
Group Company Limited* (£ R BX K EEEBRAG), MRE—E
FLTREEARAR and TEF &M EHE R A7, the total outstanding
principal amount was RMB301,800,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$330,320,000) (the “Other Loan 2”) as at 31 March 2020. Other Loan
2 is due in December 2020, with an interest rate range of 5.7%-6.19%
per annum and was secured by the pledge of certain of the Group’s
assets.

In 2017, the Group entered into loan agreements with a bank together
with a financial institution Z£ &% (&) 1 & &I AR 2 7 in relation to the
loan facility in the total outstanding principal amount of RMB940,700,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,029,596,000) for a term of 5 years at
an interest rate range of 8%-10% per annum which was secured by the
pledge of certain of the Group’s assets (the “Other Loan 3”), which had
been utilised as at 31 March 2020. Subsequently in October 2019, the
Group entered into a supplemental agreement, in which the due dates
of Other Loan 3 has been extended and there is a repayment amount
of RMB248,800,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$272,312,000) (the
“First Installment”) together with unpaid default interest of approximately
RMB14,700,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$16,089,000) due on or
before 30 June 2020.

The Group entered into an extension loan agreement regarding a
revolving loan facility agreement with a related party, JeShing Real Estate
Group Company Limited during the Year, in relation to an unsecured loan
facility in the total principal amount of RMB1,000,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,094,500,000) (the “Other Loan 4”) at an interest
rate of 5% per annum, in which the due dates of Other Loan 4 has
been extended to December 2021. As at 31 March 2020, approximately
RMB103,150,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$112,898,000) had
been utilised.

BMEFE HABEESTERAERBBERED
GREERBRAGILUNERBER =
T-EF_AZT—HHNAEBELASR
FH B ARY231,792,0007T (HE R L
253,696,000 L) ([HaEH1])  »®
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HEFINIHAEEREZE T - —F+=
A=+— B -EMEF1ZREHRALEN
ATEERS TFEAEIE -

HEEHAFSREEREERAER QA
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T-EF_AZFT—HHNAEBELAS R
%A AR®301,800,0007T (HE R
330,320,000 L) ([HMmEHK2]) - K
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+ = A
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(& M #41,029,596,000/8 JT) B B X &t
EHEEBRHF FHENFTEUEI0%H
EXthe EXREREHASEMNETE
ERNE(HMBEHR3]) R -_TF=
A=+ HE®HARA -HEER-_ZTE—LF+
A AEEFTY@HAHE EREMEFKS
MEEHA RZE_EFEFA=FtHzE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Bl EssmE s

Regarding the loan agreement with a financial institution, A 4% gt &
EEERMERATHEE S AF (the “Hunan Huarong”), the total
outstanding principal amount was RMB270,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$295,515,000) (the “Other Loan 5”) as at 31 March
2020. The interest rate was ranged of 11%-11.5% per annum and
secured by the pledge of certain of the Group’s assets. Subsequently in
June 2019, the Group entered into an extension agreement, it shall be
due in June 2022. The Group is required to deposit RMB123,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$134,624,000) as pledged deposit into
a designated bank account by Hunan Huarong (the “Additional Deposit”)
during the period from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020.

Total amount obtained by the Group from Other Loan 1, Other Loan
3 and Other Loan 5 was approximately RMB1.44 billion (equivalent to
approximately HK$1.58 billion) as at 31 March 2020 and was solely used
for funding the Changsha Outlets Project. Due to the large financing
amount at the early stage of the Changsha Outlets Project, financial
costs have increased year by year, coupled with the local government’s
strong implementation of strict real estate policies, the purchasing power
and profitability are greatly reduced and the tightening of the financing
environment has made the Company more difficult to satisfy its working
capital.

Projects Overview

Changsha Outlets Project

Located in Changsha Wangcheng National Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Changsha Outlets Project features a special
“residential + commercial” product mix in the local market to establish the
Group’s market recognition as a featured property developer. The project
covers an area of approximately 1,500 mu, comprising a residential
portion (Outlets Town) and a commercial portion (Globe Outlets), with a
planned area of approximately 500 mu and 1,000 mu, respectively.

Residential Project — Outlets Town or Qutlets City

Specially designed by the Group as a high-class low-density residential
community in Spanish style, Outlets Town offers high-quality detached
and semi-detached houses, townhouses, bungalows, middle-height
buildings and high-rise buildings, surrounded by verdant plants along
with well-designed streams and bridges, with a super-low plot ratio.
It outperforms other nearby property projects in terms of appearance,
quality, unit layout and comfort. In particular, the greenery and landscape
design of the community highlight the project out of the others, which
offers a green space ratio of 40%, creating abundant oxygen by plenty of
plants.
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During the Year, the Group continued to focus on developing Section
C, which covers a site area of approximately 204 mu, planned to be
developed into 37 11-storey buildings and a kindergarten. Currently,
the project construction is progressing smoothly. For the first batch of
ten buildings for which pre-sale permits have been obtained, the main
structures, interior and exterior masonry walls and the plastering thereof,
and external wall putty work have been completed during the Reporting
Period. Basement fire control works, indoor fire control and water supply
works have been basically completed. Decoration of the exterior walls
and installation of doors, windows and equipment are under progress.
For the second batch of ten buildings, the capping of main structures has
been completed, masonry walls are basically completed, and plastering
of interior and external walls is in progress. The Group is actively acquiring
pre-sale permits for the second batch of ten buildings, with five of them
obtained on 27 November 2019.

Qutlets Town is equipped with the renowned nine-year school,
Wangcheng Nanya School (M E#EZ£ &K ). The school had
commenced construction during the Reporting Period. However, due
to continuously rainy weather in the local area and workers’ delayed
resumption of work due to the outbreak of COVID-19 at the beginning of
this year, the construction of the school is not progressed as scheduled.
At present, examination and acceptance of the main structure has been
completed for the secondary school section, interior painting, ceiling
putty work and construction of indoor staircase of the conference hall
have been completed by 80%, the external wall brickwork has been
completed, and the external wall painting has been completed by
50%. The basic division of the primary school section has passed the
examination and acceptance. Capping of the main structure of the two
teaching buildings, the conference hall and the complex building has
been completed. The main structures of the basement and waterproof
works of exterior walls have been completed by 50%. The capping of
the main structures of the southern and the northern gates has been
completed. The construction of the main structures of eastern and
western enclosures has been completed. The earthwork backfilling of the
north road has been completed. The Group has optimized the recourse
allocation for construction of the school, striving to achieve partial
enroliment in September this year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Commercial Properties — Globe Outlets

Globe Outlets, the commercial portion of the Changsha Outlets Project
with a developed area of nearly 100,000 sg.m. so far, currently has more
than 200 domestically and internationally renowned fashion retail brands,
a large separate indoor trampoline centre with an area of over 5,000
sg.m., a Letian IMAX cinema, an art education and training organization,
HappyNest (a supermarket for imported household products), an indoor
constant temperature swimming pool and children’s water park, a
cartoon amusement park for children, a high-end chain kindergarten, and
brand specialty catering.

During the Year, Globe Outlets brought in Huayue Art Education Training
Institute (ZEWHEIMH A HFI#E) , an institution providing integrated
services including children art training, middle school art education and
art training for college entrance examination, with an operation area
of more than 5,000 sg.m. It also brought in HappyNest, an integrated
household market offering selected high-quality niche products imported
from all over the world, with an operation area of more than 3,000
sg.m. In addition, two major sports brands, Kappa and Supreme, were
introduced during the Reporting Period. Catering and snack brands
popular among teenagers, including Modern China Tea Shop (ZEE1H
), Shuyi Herbal Jelly (Z7NMENIE ), Shengxiangting (& =) and
Hutuzhua (A% T0) , were also brought into the Globe Outlets. Long Qi
Le Children’s Animation Experience Center (RESF24 5 E L E B2 2 H P
£3) , with an operation area of 2,000 sqg.m., also settled in Globe Outlets,
directly targeting children as its customers.
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Qinhuangdao Venice - City of Water Outlets Project
Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Company Limited* (2= £ & B 45 3 Hy
BEABPPRAT])is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The project
developed by the company in the core area of International Healthy City,
Beidaihe New District, Qinhuangdao, is positioned as a large coastal
shopping, tourism and healthcare resort complex with outlets business
as the major operation, integrated with high-end hot spring resort hotels,
high-end hospitals, health preservation and elderly care, cultural and
entertainment activities, and recreational resorts (“Qinhuangdao Venice —
City of Water QOutlets Project”).

Qinhuangdao Venice — City of Water Outlets Project covers an area of
approximately 1,077 mu, planned to be developed in three phases.
Phase 1 of the project covers a total area of approximately 230,000
sg.m., which is planned to be developed, by function, into outlets
business (including Latitude Space), a health preservation hotel, resort
units and an exhibition hall, along with supporting parking lots and
greenery landscape. During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to
focus on the development of Phase 1 of the project.

In terms of permits, the Group has successively obtained the construction
work planning and commencement permits for Phase 1 and the
exhibition hall, as well as the pre-sale permits for the first 59 resort
units. In terms of project construction, the exhibition hall has been
put into operation to commence the pre-sale of the resort units of the
Phase 1; the main structure of outlets business, which covers an area
of 70,000 sg.m., has completed capping. The Latitude Space Indoor
Trampoline Park was capped on 20 September 2019, with secondary
structure construction completed by 50%. A total of 189 resort units with
designed courtyard have been planned in one-storey, two-storey or three-
storey duplexes, among which 129 units were capped and others are
undergoing construction of the secondary structure. The entrance and
exit and front view of the project have been initially built, and the main
structure of the clock tower has been completed. In relation to the health
preservation hotel, Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Company Limited
has entered into an indicative strategic cooperation agreement with
Nanjing Jinling Hotel (B8R & M&E/E) in 2017. The construction work
planning permit was obtained on 3 December 2019, and the construction
is expected to commence in the second half of 2020.
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In addition, the planning schemes for Phase 2 and Phase 3 were
reviewed and approved by Qinhuangdao Municipal Planning Commission
on 8 April 2020. In particular, Phase 2 has been ascertained to be
developed section by section. The Group plans to obtain the construction
work planning permit for section 1 of Phase 2 in early June 2020,
which is planned to be developed into multiple four-storey and six-storey
bungalows and supporting community facilities.

Yinchuan Project

Ningxia Jinguan Property Investment Co. Litd.* (R E & TR E B X AR
A A]) (“Ningxia Jinguan”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
acquired from a connected person in February 2018. Ningxia Jinguan
is principally engaged in property development and management and
home furnishing. It owns the property named JeShing European City ( &
B BN ) , which comprises five parcels of land with a total site area of
approximately 133,300 sg.m. and a residential and commercial complex
which is currently being constructed thereon (“Yinchuan Project”).

Residential project — Jin Sheng Yue Jing ( £ & =

The Jin Sheng Yue Jing (£ 8 B & ) project is to be developed into slab-
type residential properties delivering distinctive scenery and educational
resources in 3 phases with a site area of approximately 120 mu and a
planned gross floor area of 221,000 sg.m. The project aims to create
a comfortable and convenient living environment on the back of the
surrounding resources such as banks, medical institutes, educational
institutions, department stores and supermarkets, entertainment facilities
and restaurants as well as its own lifestyle amenities and building
materials stores.
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During the Reporting Period, fire inspection and completion acceptance
were completed for Phase 1 of Jin Sheng Yue Jing as scheduled, and
the proof of delivery was obtained on 6 November 2019. As at the date
of this report, units in Phase 1 have been delivered to over 225 property
owners.

The planned gross floor area of Phase 3 is approximately 140,000 sg.m.,
planned to be developed into 14 11/18-storey exquisite high-rise
buildings. During the Reporting Period, the Group successfully obtained
the construction work commencement permit for 14 residential buildings
and underground garages under Phase 3 on 28 April 2019. On 12 July
2019, Phase 3 of the project under construction was awarded the Top
Ten Sites of Helan County Adopting Standard Practice by the Helan
County Administration of Housing and Urban-Rural Development for
its excellent construction quality, and applied for the Building Structure
Quality Project of Yinchuan City. To date, 14 buildings of Phase 3
have passed the work commencement (resumption) examination and
acceptance procedures set by the competent construction authority
on 5 April 2020, the main structure construction of the basements of 7
buildings in the east is under progress, and the construction of secondary
structure and wall masonry filling of the 7 buildings in the west is under
progress. In terms of marketing, the Group has obtained pre-sale permits
for a total of 14 buildings under Phase 3 in August and September 2019
and July 2020, respectively, achieving seamless rolling sales. Due to its
high cost performance and complete education, medical and other living
facilities, sales performance of Phase 3 of Jin Sheng Yue Jing maintained
a leading position in the industry.

Yinchuan Commercial Properties

The Yinchuan Commercial Properties consist of three commercial
buildings and two corridors, with a total gross floor area of approximately
95,000 sg.m. and an occupancy rate of 92%. Shops in the buildings are
engaged in trading of high-end building materials, premium furniture, and
blackwood products, featuring building materials and household products
such as ceramics, sanitary ware, flooring, stairs, doors and windows,
cupboards, lamps, wallpaper, bedroom, sofas, suites and other furniture.
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In terms of business solicitation, during the Reporting Period, the Group
brought in a large indoor trampoline centre and a boxing gym to the
corridors, which invigorated the existing product portfolio, and attracted
a wider range of shopping groups with a unique business structure. At
the same time, with its well-established brand influence in the field of
household products and building materials, the Group successfully brought
in international top-tier household brand Zuoyou (with a contracted area of
approximately 1,500 sq.m.) and CBD Platinum high-end series household
products, as well as a number of domestic top-tier brands, such as Dong
Peng Tiles ( 5 ) and Huida Sanitary Ware ( Z A4 ) . In addition,
the introduction of Fotile, Haier Electrics, Jingdong home appliances and
other well-known domestic brands complemented the home appliance
business and acted as a connecting link for upgrade.

In terms of marketing, during the Reporting Period, the Group joined
hands with brand partners and actively encouraged alliance stores
to host a number of large alliance marketing events, such as Meet
Your Idol Girl, Get a Discount (‘Z##{&%]") fans meeting, Happy 26th
Anniversary (“ @268 F  # 0 i #”) discount fair, and JeShing
Promotion Campaign (‘5812 « & & ="). To this end, the Group
spent more than RMB1 million of marketing and promotion fees for
the shopping mall, which attracted large traffic to the mall and drove
significant sales on the event dates. The turnover for alliance stores
hit as high as RMB20 million. Meanwhile, as a large enterprise with a
strong sense of social responsibility, the Group actively collaborated with
government departments to hold the large-scale public welfare event
Care for Left-Behind Children (‘B8)X & <F52E”"). In addition, during the
outbreak of COVID-19 in the PRC, the Group actively proposed the policy
of “Conquering the Difficult Times Together by Reducing Rental and
Burden”, waiving two months of rental for store tenants. Through various
measures and channels, it comprehensively protected the interests of
shopping mall tenants and alleviated the burden for medium and micro
enterprises to jointly curb the economic loss caused by the pandemic,
undertaking its corporate social responsibility as a large enterprise.
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Associated Companies

During the Reporting Period, the projects managed by the associated
companies of the Company also achieved certain progress.

Huailai Project

The master plan, demonstration area design plan, chateau design plan
and environmental impact assessment of the characteristic villa residential
and winery project in Huailai of Hebei Province have been completed.
The project is developed by Huailai Dayi Winery Company Limited* (&
RR—HEBEHFEEAERAF), a 50%-owned associated company of
the Company. In the demonstration area, access to roads, electricity and
water supply has been in place and certain works regarding landscaping,
planting and slope wall reconditioning have been completed. In addition,
bidding for a parcel of construction land of approximately 480 mu to be
put up for sale is under preparation.

Changchun Project

Globe Outlet Town (Jilin) Limited ( & M B B2 HT 8 R 2 AT MM A
AR (“Jilin Company”), a 42%-owned associated company of the
Company, obtained land use rights for a piece of land with an area
of 443 mu for commercial and residential purposes in Shuangyang
District, Changchun City, Jilin Province in April 2016. In order to seek
differentiated development, Jilin Company plans to develop its project in
Shuangyang District, Changchun into an integrated project (“Jilin Project”)
combining a theme park and a cultural tourism town under the theme of
cultural tourism and the objective of building a liveable place with elderly
care.

An area of approximately 443 mu of the above lot is used for Phase 1
of Jilin Project. Jilin Company intends to initially develop the C3 lot of
the land under the promotion name of Jinsheng Premium (& &% 25 ) |
which covers an area of approximately 74 mu with plot ratio of 1.49
and a greening ratio of 30.81%, by planning and building it into a multi-
storey high-end residential community with a planned gross floor area of
approximately 105,000 sg.m. with hot spring directly accessible to each
individual unit.

In terms of project construction, the main structure, secondary structure,
retaining wall structure and fire prevention construction of basements,
window frame installation, outdoor site leveling, outdoor integrated
pipeline network, and partial seedling plantation had been completed for
phase 1 of Jinsheng Premium project during the Reporting Period. As at
the end of the Reporting Period, the bidding work for the fine decoration
bidding section and the procurement bidding for the main decoration
materials had been completed. The relevant units have also entered the
sites while the water and electricity reconstruction is under way.
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DISCLAIMER OF OPINION ISSUED BY THE
AUDITOR

As disclosed on pages 85 to 86 of this report, the disclaimer of opinion
was mainly the result of multiple uncertainties faced by the Group relating
to going concern assumption of the Group. Specifically, the Company’s
auditor (the “Auditor”) noted (i) net loss of approximately HK$294,856,000
for the year ended 31 March 2020, (i) as at 31 March 2020, the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately HK$352,886,000 and cash
and cash equivalents of approximately HK$27,107,000 only, and (i)
subsequent to the end of the Reporting Period, the Group breached the
terms of Other Loan 3 and Other Loan 5 as explained in the business
review section above, these borrowings become in default and the
lenders have the right to demand immediate repayment of the entire
outstanding principal balance and all unpaid interest. In the Auditor’s
opinion, there may be material uncertainties on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The Directors have commenced negotiations of the repayment terms of
Other Loan 3 and Other Loan 5 with the relevant bankers since then. Up
to the date of this report, those negotiations are still in progress and have
not been concluded. As at the date of this report, the lenders have not
made any demand for immediate repayment of the entire loans.

THE BOARD AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEW
AND THE PLAN TO ADDRESS THE DISCLAIMER
OF OPINION

The Directors have carefully assessed the Auditor’s qualification and
concerns and have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections covering
a period of twelve months from 31 March 2020 which have taken into
account the followings:

() the Group’s property development projects have shown steady
progress and the Group is in the process of accelerating the pre-
sales and sales of its properties under development;

(i) the continuous financial support from related parties;

(i) the unutilised loan facility from a related company beneficially
owned by a controlling shareholder of RMB1,000,000,000 that
will not be expiring before 31 March 2021 of which approximately
RMB896,850,000 remained unutilised as at 31 March 2020;

(iv) the forecasted operating cash flows for the year ending 31 March
2021.
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In addition, the Group is also considering various options for additional
financing to the Group, such as new investors and business partners.

Based on the above, the Directors are of the view that the Group will
have sufficient working capital to fuffill its financial obligations as and
when they fall due in the coming twelve months from 31 March 2020.
Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
these consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

As disclosed on page 37 of this report, the audit committee of the
Company has reviewed with the management the Group’s consolidated
financial results for the year ended 31 March 2020, including the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
auditing, risk management and internal control, and financial reporting
matters. During the meeting of the audit committee held on 31 July 2020,
all members of the audit committee thoroughly reviewed the Auditor’s
qualification and the Group’s financial position, and agreed with the
management’s position that the Company was able to carry on as a
going concern.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not have any significant investments during the Year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group mainly finances its business operations with its internal
resources and loan facilities from banks, financial institutions and related
parties. As at 31 March 2020, the Group had cash and bank balances
amounted to approximately HK$27,107,000 (2019: HK$75,114,000).
The Group’s current ratio (measured as total current assets to total
current liabilities) was 0.88 times (2019: 0.72 times). The secured and
unsecured interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and notes
payable of the Group amounted to approximately HK$1,325,111,000
(2019: HK$1,422,276,000) and approximately HK$52,674,000 (2019:
HK$50,335,000) and nil (2019: HK$93,471,000), respectively as at 31
March 2020. The gearing ratio as at 31 March 2020, which is calculated
as a percentage of net debt to total equity, was 1,773% (2019: 407%).
The increase was mainly due to the decrease of total equity as a result of
loss during the Year.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, property interest held by the Group with net
carrying amount of approximately HK$2,061,241,000 (31 March 2019:
HK$2,316,791,000) were pledged to banks and financial institutions.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURES

As the Group’s bank and other borrowings, bank and cash balances,
trade receivables, prepayments, deposits, other receivables, trade
payables, accruals, other payables, receipts in advance, contract liabilities
and amounts due to related parties were mainly denominated in RMB,
the Group had not experienced significant exposure to foreign currency
fluctuation.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had capital commitments of
construction of properties included under property, plant and equipment
and investment properties approximately HK$472,697,000 (31 March
2019: HK$690,926,000).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2020, the Group employed a total of 247 employees
(excluding Directors), as compared to 272 employees (excluding
Directors) as at 31 March 2019. The Group remunerates its employees
based on their performance, working experience and prevailing market
parameters. Employee benefits include pension insurance fund, medical
insurance coverage, unemployment insurance fund, occupational injury
insurance fund, maternity insurance fund, housing provident fund and
mandatory provident fund (for Hong Kong employees).

PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK

The outbreak of the COVID-19 epidemic at the end of 2019 has
gradually spread to different countries across the globe, causing grave
challenges to the global economy, with industries like catering, tourism
and transportation bearing the brunt especially. As a national pillar
industry, the real estate industry is not directly affected, but it also faces
severe challenges due to its close ties with many industries. Various
disease prevention arrangements, including temporary suspension of land
transactions, extension of holidays and disease prevention measures,
affect real estate development, the sales outlook is grim and the capital
chain of enterprises is also seriously affected.
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However, the impact of the epidemic is short-term, exogenous and
controllable overall. According to economic data released by the National
Bureau of Statistics, the positive trend in domestic disease prevention
and control has continued to strengthen, with resumption of work,
production and market activities making satisfactory progress. Production
demand gradually improve, basic industries have showed strong
support, the market performance is expected to be stable in general and
economic activities continue to increase, further demonstrating that China
has the conditions, foundation and confidence to cope with risks and
challenges and achieve sustained economic recovery and improvement.
The trend of continued recovery and improvement in key indicators
indicates that the fundamentals of China’s long-term economic growth
remain intact.

On the industry policy front, the positioning of “housing is for people
to live in, not for speculation” continue to be adamant, which will
undoubtedly be the main theme of the long-term regulation of China’s
real estate market. Meanwhile, the central government has made it
clear that it will not use real estate as a means of providing short-term
economic stimulus, and it will maintain the continuity, consistency and
stability of real estate and financial policies. On the premise that regulation
is not relaxed in general, the central and local governments have
implemented a series of support policies, including fiscal, financial and
land policies, to ensure the stable and healthy development of the real
estate market.

The Board considers that while the short-term changes caused by the
epidemic are serious, it is imperative for the Group to carry out the
underlying long-term reforms hidden behind such changes. In terms of
property development, the Group, relying on its abundant land bank,
can flexibly adjust its business strategy based on the current market
conditions and demand, roll out innovative product design and boost
product resilience amid extreme conditions. Going forward, we may
integrate home office elements into the design of residential products
and equip the community with more intelligent delivery systems. To date,
the Group’s real estate transactions still mainly rely on the on-site flat
viewing model. Although the model is more suitable for customers whose
product demand is inflexible and those who want to improve their living
conditions, it exposes the Group to increasing risk of concentration in
view of the epidemic. To this end, the Group will strive to expand its future
marketing channels, promoting online flat viewing by integrating popular
channels such as live streaming platforms, videos and VR to expand
brand influence, while mitigating concentration of risks.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Bl EssmE s

In addition, in view of the large demand for funds and the generally
difficult financing environment, the Group may consider forsaking the
traditional mindset of “going it alone” and enhance cooperation with
financing institutions, governments and other interested partners,
thereby leveraging others’ resources to facilitate its own development.
Furthermore, due to the large financing amount at the early stage of
the Changsha Outlets Project, financial costs have increased year by
year, and the tightening of the financing environment has made the
Company more difficult to satisfy its working capital. Coupled with the
local government’s strong implementation of strict real estate policies,
the purchasing power and profitability are greatly reduced. The Group is
investigating various options for the Changsha Outlets Project, provided
that any decision will be made in the best interests of the Shareholders
as a whole. The management believes that by leveraging the Group'’s
extensive industry experience accumulated over the years and the fitness
of products to market demand, the Group’s featured real estate products
will certainly achieve transcendent transformation.
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Report of the Directors
EEBHRS

The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 is
set out in the sections of Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
8to17.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 89.

There will not be a payment of a final dividend for the Year (31 March
2019: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company are set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out on pages 92, 93 and 213, respectively.

The Company had no distributable reserve as at 31 March 2020 (2019:
Nil).
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Report of the Directors
SFEERS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 14.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was not more than 7% of the Group’s total revenue for the
Year.

The percentage of purchases cost for the Year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

21%
64%

- the largest supplier
- five largest suppliers combined

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in
the major suppliers or customers noted above.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 216. This summary does
not form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
SFEERS

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Chen Wei (Vice President)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Hsu Wai Man Helen
Wong Tak Chun
Xu Jinghong

Pursuant to Bye-Law 99, Mr. Li Yi Feng (“Mr. Li") and Mr. Chen Wei (“Mr.
Chen”) will retire from office by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the
requirement of Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors of the Group are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages 81 to 84.
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Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors, the Chief Executive of the
Company and their associates, had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO) or, as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of persons (other
than Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS

Under otherwise specified, the shareholding percentages disclosed
below are calculated based on the total of 23,336,687,255 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2020.
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Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each of the Company

1]

Number of issued

ordinary shares
and underlying
shares held/

ARAFEFREECSB T Z2ERR

Approximate

percentage of the

issued share
capital of the

Name of shareholder Capacity interested Company
®¥E/%®E
REHZE BT =R YN
EERR EEITRA
BRREEEB &5 HERGHE BHABEDt
Fine Bliss Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 2,340,000,000 10.03%
=RBRAT (MFET) EREAA
Complete Power International Limited (Note 1)  Interest of controlled corporation 2,340,000,000 10.03%
2HBEBRAERLE (1) ZHEE R R
Good Moral Enterprises Limited (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 2,340,000,000 10.03%
ERAEXRARAF (M) A E S
Stimulate High Investment Limited Beneficial owner 11,658,898,452 49.96%
IREFREFR A A ERnEEA
Wang Hua (Note 1 and 2) Interest of controlled corporation 13,998,898,452 59.99%
FE (MF1K2) 72 A B R
Galaxy Sharp Investment Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 2,600,000,000 11.14%
(Note 3)
BRI EERAR A E (H53) THEEER
Sino Dynamics Investments Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 2,600,000,000 11.14%
Sino Dynamics Investments Limited (F{5E3)  EZ#EA A
Du Wei (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 2,600,000,000 11.14%

12 (FFE3)
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Notes:

1) Fine Bliss Limited is the registered holder of 2,340,000,000 shares of the
Company. Mr. Wang Hua owns the entire issued share capital of Complete
Power International Limited, and Complete Power International Limited owns the
entire issued share capital of Good Moral Enterprises Limited, and Good Moral
Enterprises Limited owns the entire issued share capital of Fine Bliss Limited.
Accordingly, each of Mr. Wang Hua, Complete Power International Limited and
Good Moral Enterprises Limited is deemed to be interested in the 2,340,000,000
shares directly held by Fine Bliss Limited under the SFO.

2) Stimulate High Investment Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Wang Hua.
Accordingly, Mr. Wang Hua is deemed to be interested in the 11,658,898,452
shares directly held by Stimulate High Investment Limited under the SFO.

3) Sino Dynamics Investments Limited is the registered holder of 2,600,000,000
shares of the Company. The entire issued share capital of Sino Dynamics
Investments Limited is directly owned by Galaxy Sharp Investment Holdings
Limited. Mr. Du Wei owns the entire issued share capital of Galaxy Sharp
Investment Holdings Limited. Accordingly, each of Galaxy Sharp Investment
Holdings Limited and Mr. Du Wei is deemed to be interested in the
2,600,000,000 shares directly held by Sino Dynamics Investments Limited under
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, no person (other than
the Directors) had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

To the best knowledge of the Board, at no time during the Year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Directors or their respective
spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them, or
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Having made all reasonable enquiries and based on the available
books and records, the Board is not aware of any material interest in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors, the Shareholders
and their respective associates had any interest in a business which
competes or is likely to compete with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the Year are set out in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The Board is not aware of any contract during the Year entered into with
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 2.3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

During the Year, the Company and any of its subsidiaries did not
purchase, sell or redeem any of the Company’s listed shares.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the Year
and up to the date of this report.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Due to the impact of the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19)
pandemic, property sales were stopped for a few months. It has
impacted the cash flow of the Group negatively and the Group defaulted
on two loans.

Regarding Other Loan 3, the Group failed to repay the First Installment
and unpaid default interest on or before 30 June 2020. Regarding to
Other Loan 5, the Group failed to put in the full amount of Additional
Deposit during the period from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020. Pursuant
to the terms of Other Loan 3 and Other Loan 5, the bank and the
financial institutions have a discretionary right to demand immediate full
repayment of the outstanding principal of RMB940,700,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,029,596,000) and RMB270,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$295,515,000) respectively together with an estimated
unpaid interest of approximately RMB97,389,000. The directors of the
Company have commenced negotiations of the repayment terms of the
loans with the relevant providers of finance since then. Up to the date
of this report, those negotiations are still in progress and have not been
concluded.

AUDITOR

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited had resigned as auditor of the
Company with effect from 30 March 2017, and SHINEWING (HK) CPA
LIMITED was appointed as auditor of the Company with effect from 18
April 2017 to fill the causal vacancy.
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The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Year
have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA LIMITED, Certified Public
Accountants. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-
appoint SHINEWING (HK) CPA LIMITED as auditor of the Company.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”) will be held on
Thursday, 27 August 2020.

To ascertain the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
24 August 2020 to Thursday, 27 August 2020, both days inclusive,
during which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to qualify for
the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of Shares
accompanied by the relevant shares certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong by 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 21 August 2020.

On behalf of the Board

Li Yi Feng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 July 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in the best interest of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The Company has been making an effort to enhance the
corporate governance standard of the Company by reference to the code
provisions and recommended best practices set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). During the
Year, the Company has applied and complied with all the code provisions
set out in the CG Code except for the deviation from code provision
A2.1.

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

During the Year, the Company had deviated from code provision A.2.1
because the roles of Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company had been vested in the same persons (Mr. Li
Yi Feng). The reason for this deviation was that the Board believes that
at the current development of the Group, vesting of the two roles in
the same person provides the Company with strong and consistent
leadership and facilities the planning and execution of the Group’s
business strategies. The Board will review this structure periodically
and will consider steps to separate dual roles of chairman and chief
executive as and when appropriate taking into account the prevailing
circumstances.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises of five Directors
including two Executive Directors, and three Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Company’s businesses, investment and strategic
decisions and performance. In addition, the Board has delegated various
responsibilities to the board committees. Further details of these board
committees are set out in this annual report.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which sets
out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will review
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. The Company will
also take into consideration its own specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

Executive Directors:

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Chen Wei (Vice President)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Hsu Wai Man Helen

Wong Tak Chun

Xu Jinghong

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other. The biographical information of the
Directors is set out on pages 81 to 84.
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Chairman

The Chairman of the Company takes the lead in formulating the overall
strategies and policies of the Company in order to ensure effective
performance by the Board of its functions, including compliance with
good corporate governance practices and encourages and facilitates
active contribution of Directors in Board activities. The chairman also
ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings and have received adequate, complete and reliable information
in a timely manner with the assistance of the company secretary.

Executive Directors

The Executive Directors are responsible for running the Company and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the Company’s
management team in accordance with the directions set by the Board
and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal control system is
in place and the Company’s business conforms to applicable laws and
regulations.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Independent Non-executive Directors serve the important function of
ensuring and monitoring an effective corporate governance framework.
Their participation provides adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole. The
Board currently consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors
and two of them have relevant professional qualification or accounting
or relating financial management expertise. The Company has received
annual confirmation of independence from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. On this
basis, the Board is of the view that all the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
Independent Non-executive Directors will provide independent opinion
and share their knowledge and experience with other members of the
Board.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai
Man Helen, Mr. Wong Tak Chun and Mr. Xu Jinghong, was appointed
for a fixed term of three years commencing from 21 November 2019, 3
September 2018 and 1 April 2020 respectively.
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Board Meetings and General Meetings EEESRRBRRAE
During the Year, the Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings and MRAFE BEFHFEFERZLBKREK
general meetings is set out as follows: GZHEERHNRNAT :
Number of meetings attended/held
HE BITEEEE
Board Annual General

Name Meetings* Meetings*
A EEEegR BRBFEARE
Executive Directors:
HTES:
Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer) 26/27 1/1
PR (EFSF/mFTHAER)
Chen Wei (Vice President) 27/27 1/1
PR (G/4E %)
Independent Non-executive Directors:
BYFHITES:
Hsu Wai Man Helen 27/27 1/1
REK
Wong Tak Chun 27/27 1/1
X
Xu Jinghong 27/27 11
TS
* The denominator represents the number of Board meetings, annual general  * NEEREEZS_TF =A==+ —H LK

meeting or, as the case may be, special general meetings, held during the tenure FEsREEAPRRTCESESE KR

of each Director in the financial year ended 31 March 2020. BERGH (RBEAME) RREFRRE ZH

E

All minutes of Board meetings and general meetings are kept by the FIBEFE@@ZERRIAEEZLHHA
company secretary and are open for inspection at reasonable time on AWM ERF TR EAEBANEGERHET
reasonable notice by any Director. Every Director is entitled to have AIEEMEZEH SEEHEREZNME
access to Board papers and related materials and access to the advice @FE&XHRHABER WA ERARWE
and services of the company secretary. In addition, the Company Z&E&E MR LN RBEEHBERLT &
enables the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent AR AT ESTHERITBBEFSKBILEE
professional advice in appropriate circumstances. B o
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed Director is provided with induction and information
to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business as well as his/her responsibilities under the

relevant status, laws, rules and regulations.

The continuous professional development is provided to all Directors at
the Company’s expense to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to assist them in discharging their duties. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, a record of the training attended/received by each of the

Directors, is set out as follows:

EE 27

ARBRAEFEESTRHBENLEHR N
BREBYEMBARNA ZEERER M
RERBBEEAR AE -RAURMRHIETZ
BfE-

ARRBEHMAEFERHUFEZ R
NBERYEHFEMBRZE HBREE
TRE UWBRREEFANEFSHFHABR
R B R

REAFER SEF2HE /BIZBID
FCERFIRINE

Type of training

Name ®E 35|38 Bl

Executive Directors: BITES:

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and FNE(EEZF/ERITEARH) A&B
Chief Executive Officer)

Chen Wei (Vice President) PR (B/48%E) A&B

Independent Non-executive Directors: BYEHITES:

Hsu Wai Man Helen REH A&B

Wong Tak Chun =iEE A&B

Xu Jinghong PR A&B

Notes: P& -

A attending courses/seminars/conferences

B: reading journals/written training materials/updates
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Listing Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code. The Audit
Committee is mainly responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial
reporting system and risk management and internal control systems;
making recommendations to the Board in the appointment and removal
of the external auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors, and any questions of resignation or
dismissal of such auditors; and reviewing the interim and annual reports
and accounts of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee comprised all Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Wong Tak Chun
and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen is the Chairlady of the
Audit Committee.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the six months
ended on 30 September 2019 and the Year have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, who is of the opinion that such statements comply
with the applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and legal
requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the Audit
Committee is set out as follows:

EREEE

ARAERUBRZER®([ERZE
2 YEFTETRAREEE AT Z
STAGEXAEEE A G ERESRE - B
ZESTIRRBEEEBARAIZHMBHEBER
FEREREERABEERR RRER
B INEZEE  HE R B INEZBE 2
B B AE R - DA Re B 5% A BUOR B (2 AR R
ERzENHABEREESSRHERES
RENARBDZTFHRFERSEMER -

RAFERN BERRESHE2BBELIFH
TEFAEK IREBXL \EREELER
MEBAE-BGREEXIAELZES®]
o

EREERCEMAAANE T NF
AAZHELEAERREFENEAS S
®E - URBEWRRGABA R
FHRAREREE  TEEEESRE -

RAFERN BREBGRAHEEAE
GHEOEEEIROT

Number of meetings HE BT

of the Audit Committee BEREES

Name attended/held  # % eEge
Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairiadly) 212 W®REH(FE) 2/2
Wong Tak Chun 2/2 =iE& 2/2
Xu Jinghong 2/2 FER 2/2

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Listing Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy
for Directors and senior management, and overseeing the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors and senior management.
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee comprises one Executive
Director, namely Mr. Li Yi Feng, and three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Wong Tak Chun and
Mr. Xu Jinghong. Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen is the Chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Year
includes reviewing the policy for the remuneration of Executive Directors,
assessing the performance of Executive Directors and approving the
terms of Executive Directors’ service contracts.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the
Remuneration Committee is set out as follows:

Number of meetings

RAFERN FHEZBE2ERE —R2HTE
EFNBEEN=ZZBILFRTEETHRE
Bt BRERERFEBLLE -HREH
HERFMEEEER-

FEZEERAFEAMETZIHERRE
ENRTESFZHFMBER FRRTES
CREANBURTEERBAD 2GR

RAFERN FHEEEXNBEHEZES
ERMLERINRIAT

of the Remuneration HE BT
Committee FMEES
Name attended/held* # % =1 4=
Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairiadly) 11 REG(EE) 1/1
Li Vi Feng abstained/1 7% EEN
Wong Tak Chun 11 &=EE 1/1
Xu Jinghong 11 FFER 1/1

*

The denominator represents the number of meetings of the Remuneration
Committee held during the tenure of each member of the Remuneration
Committee in the financial year ended 31 March 2020.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board, making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become member of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships, assessing the independence of Independent non-
Executive Directors, and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee comprises one Executve WRAFE RN - RELELZE€RE—RBATE
Director, namely Mr. Li Yi Feng, and three Independent Non-executve FEEREBEEERZZBIUIIERNTEETHRE
Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Wong Tak Chun and @&+ @& E L ENFEBLAE - TRIE
Mr. Xu Jinghong. Mr. Li Vi Feng is the Chairman of the Nominaton %4 AiEREZE@TF-

Committee.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the Year REZZE @R AFERNFETZ IIERIE
includes reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and EMEZE S € 2 288 - B8 M AR A KT &
assessing the independence of all Independent Non-executive Directors FIBE BV IENITEER AN EFEE RN Z B L
during the Year. M o

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the RAFERN REZZEGXNEHFZE S
Nomination Committee is set out as follows: FEOBFEEINTOT

Number of meetings

of the Nomination HE BT

Committee REEE]

Name attended/held* %% BEHE"
Li Yi Feng (Chairman) 11 g (EE) 1/1
Hsu Wai Man Helen 11 BREHK 1/1
Wong Tak Chun 11 &®EE 1/1
Xu Jinghong 11 FHER 1/1
* The denominator represents the number of meetings of the Nomination — * AERREBEE_Z_ZTF=A=1+—HILH
Committee held during the tenure of each member of the Nomination WEERAEZEENEIREEEGHELH

Committee in the financial year ended 31 March 2020. NFTERITEEMEE -

REMUNERATION DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND EERTEESHMATHMF
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 5

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest-paid individuals Z=EHBME AEB > AL TS H WA TH
in the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial 1570 Bl & R 45 & B B R Mt sE9H10 -
statements respectively.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided by the Company’s auditors are set out as follows:

BB AT &

RAFER  BRRAZBEEHRZZH
FOERBIRBEBZME RN T

Services rendered Fee paid/payable R #IR e EREA
HK$’000 TET
Audit services 1,250 ZEBRE 1,250
Non audit services 160  FERZERTE 160
DIRECTOR’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BEECESFRS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions 2~ 2 & B £R 4% & 1 47 BI B 8% 10 pfr # 1= 17 8
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing TAEFETHEF X H 2 FESFH ([F%E
Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding securies TRl ) " 1EREFETEF X 5 2 HETT
transactions by the Directors. BSF A

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all Directors confirmed
that they had complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code including:

° develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

o review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

° review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

° review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the Group’s
financial statements for each financial period and to ensure that the
financial statements are in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards and for such internal control as
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material restatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

The statement of the auditors of the Company regarding their
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 85 to 88.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Philosophy of Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board considers that sound risk management and internal control
systems can improve the operational effectiveness and efficiency of the
Group and help safeguard the assets of the Group and the investments
of the Shareholders.

Risk Management and Internal Responsibility

The Board is well aware of its responsibility to maintain high standards
of risk management and internal control systems and to review the
effectiveness of such systems during the process of implementation.
The systems are intended to provide a reasonable but not absolute
assurance regarding operational effectiveness and efficiency, reliability of
financial reports and compliance with laws and regulations, with the aim
of managing rather than eliminating risks associated with failure to meet
business objectives.

The Board is fully responsible for assessing and determining the nature
and extent of the risks to which the Company is wiling to assume
in achieving its strategic objectives and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Structures of
the Group

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management,
establishing risk assessment criteria, and supervising the design,
implementation and monitoring of risk management and internal control
systems. Under the authority of the Board, the Audit Committee may
seek external legal, financial or other independent professional advice at
the expense of the Company if necessary (subject to prior discussion with
the Board on the relevant expenses).

The Company has developed and adopted a number of risk management
procedures and guidelines with well-defined terms of reference, which are
implemented through its major business procedures and office functions,
including administration and management, human resources, material
procurement, contract execution, project establishment, tendering and
bidding, project management, sales and leasing, financial reporting and
information technology.

The Company set up its internal audit function in 2014. Established
under the Audit Committee and being independent from other functional
departments, the audit department assists the Board in performing its
regulatory role in the internal control and risk management functions
of the Group, reviewing and assessing the overall effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems. The audit department has
been equipped with professional auditors for conducting internal audits
in accordance with the annual work plan, including regular or ad hoc
internal audits and special audits, as well as audits and assessment on
the operation and management, financial position and enforcement of
internal control of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Major Features of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Company has set up risk management and internal control
systems to ensure that internal rules and systems are strictly enforced,;
recruitment, remuneration and assessment systems are fair, impartial and
transparent; the Company operates in compliance with relevant laws,
rules and regulations; construction projects are carried out in conformity
to the relevant systems of the Company regarding project establishment,
tender awards, contract execution, procurement, construction,
acceptance inspection and settlement, etc.; shop management systems
for commercial projects are stringent with no loopholes; assets are not
misappropriated and embezzled; accounting records for providing reliable
financial information for business purposes or public use are properly
kept; access to and use of internal information without proper authority
are strictly prohibited; and reasonable assurance is provided against
major misrepresentations, losses or fraudulent activities.
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To safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the Shareholders, the
Company handles and publishes insider information in accordance with
its insider information disclosure system to ensure that such information is
kept highly confidential prior to disclosure and issued in an effective and
consistent manner. The Board shall immediately convene a meeting to
discuss the relevant matter and, if necessary, seek advice from external
independent professional institutions.

Under the supervision of the Board, the internal audit department of the
Company had conducted an annual review on the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2020. The scope of the review has been formulated and approved by
the Audit Committee, covering business operations, financial reporting,
and compliance with regulations and systems. Results of the review
and the areas for improvement have been reported to the Board and
the Audit Committee, with emphasis on staff performance appraisal,
standardization and execution of systems, enhancement of tendering
and bidding processes, financial budget management, project budget
management, as well as project and marketing contract management.
Besides, the Board had also conducted a review during the Year of the
effectiveness of the Company’s processes for financial reporting and
Listing Rules compliance, as part of its review of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems.

Procedures for Identifying, Assessing and Managing
Significant Risks

An introduction to the procedures used by the Company for identifying,
assessing and managing significant risks is given below:

Risk Identification and Assessment

° The internal audit department conducts regular annual audits or ad
hoc special audits to perform systematic analysis on the processes,
systems and significant events of the Company to identify possible
risks in the business process. The legal department performs
professional analysis on the proposed terms of contracts to identify
terms that may place the Company in a disadvantageous position,
with the aim of avoiding any potential risks.

° The identified risks are assessed based on the assessment
criteria set up by the management to determine the risk response
approach.
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Risk Response

o The risk management strategies and internal control procedures are
determined based on the category of the risks identified. For major
risks, the internal audit department shall prepare a summary and
report directly to the Audit Committee, and put forward solutions for
resolving the risks for the consideration of the Board.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° The relevant risks are continuously and regularly monitored to
ensure that they are under control through appropriate internal
control procedures. If any significant changes arise, the risk
management policies and internal control procedures will be
amended, and the results of risk monitoring will be reported semi-
annually to the management and the Audit Committee of the
Board.

Effectiveness of Control

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the management has reported to
the Audit Committee and the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems based on the above internal
audit report. The Audit Committee is of the view that that there are no
significant deficiencies in internal control. The Group will follow up all the
recommendations of the internal audit department as appropriate and
ensure that they are implemented in due course. As a result, the Board
considers that the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) is
an employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. During the Year, the Company Secretary has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes made to the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2020.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the Year, the Company has proactively enhanced its corporate
transparency and communications with its Shareholders and the
investment community through its mandatory interim and annual reports
announcements.

44 Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2020

R, B P

s RERBRFEFLEERREERE
NAREZERERF - SFHEARNRR A
NABAHFAIERERBREEERZR
BEg YRERRBBASE HES
EEE-

2L B B B % B 4R

s REYTHERAHEAR BBEE
) P 70 B2 1 7R P e OR B B B 10 AT 4 40
E-ERBRERMAENES EF
RREEHRRLAMEZRF T8
FFERNERERESEERZRGE
WERERNER-

B AR
REZE-_T_TF=A=1+—HILEFE"
ERLiiAERE EEBERAERERE
EREFERERAREENABEESE
MBMME BERZZEERAR LEHREK
PO BB BE 4% R Kk o AN £R B S A IR N AP
FeesEs THEARAERBAANEE
HWIT-BAl - EFERA BRREERAL
EREHEERARA-

NEME
KRB ZRRME ([RAWE]) BARA T
ZRE BABRARRZBEEZH NAFE
B -RAWMEELREND5/NEFHNIEEH
BEE o

HEEEXH
ARAZEBERYSERBE BB
SACt-BLFETEEAEE-

REEBRE

RAFE ZBERFTHARFERS A
EARARECHEBERERABEARAR
HEEBRRMBRERHEZER-



Corporate Governance Report

EREBRS

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

General meetings of the Company, including annual general meetings
and, where applicable, special general meetings, provide a useful
forum for the Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The
chairman of the Board as well as chairlady/chairman of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are
pleased to answer the enquires raised by the Shareholders. Separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantially
separate issue, including the election of individual directors. All the
announcements and circulars are published on the Company’s website
(www.richlyfieldchinagroup.com) and on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted its dividend policy which sets out the
principles and guidelines in relation to the declaration, payment or
distribution of its profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.
In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance
between maintaining sufficient capital to grow the business of the Group
and rewarding the shareholders of the Company.

The board shall also take into account of the following factors, among
other things, when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

o the Group’s overall results of operation, financial position, capital
requirement, cash flows and future prospects;

° the amount of retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio;
° return on equity;
° the Group’s capacity from current and future operation;

° future commitments at the time of preparing and making the
distribution;

ERREBRE
AARlzBRRERG(BEREBREBAFRE
R(mERA) BRRENRE) RKREHE
EZEgRRERREERTARA-EEE
TR - BREZEES FHEEGLRRES
ZEEXITRHELEN B ERRIELE 2 M
BoBEEE BAUYEEH(BEER
BEREF)BRBERERE Lo RIIEZER
BR-MARESRBRHARAR MM
(www.richlyfieldchinagroup.com) & B 32
FIT 48 uf (www.hkexnews.hk) I & o

g BB R

ARAEHEMEREREK B+ HRAN
A AR E R R 2k 0 R i B BB P
EAZRAI RS-

R E K BB SHFERE
iMLﬁlﬂKE@%ﬁ‘%i'Eéﬁi@ﬁﬁzﬁa A B
ReHEz¥8E-

RE B RR N RS E BB

BFATEE (K5eE) :

c AEEZEBRLBEL BHEHKR-
EeBE - RERERARNR

o AEERBENNTIREEZLE;

o AEENHEHEELE

o BRABEE

o AEREEHEARE

o R RIFE S IR R IR,

CECREEE WHTEARRERLF 45



Corporate Governance Report
PREGKRS

° any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders; and

° other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject to
any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Bermuda, the Listing
Rules, the laws of Hong Kong and the Company’s Bye-laws and any
other applicable laws and regulations.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Way in Which Shareholders of the Company
Can Convene a Special General Meeting of the
Shareholders (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws and Bermuda laws, the Directors
shall, on the requisition of Shareholder(s) who, at the date of the deposit
of the requisition, holds not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, proceed duly to convene an SGM of the Company.

The requisition must state the purposes of the SGM and must be signed
by the requisitionists and deposited to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong, and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

The request of intention to propose a resolution will be verified by the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong (the “Branch Share
Registrar”). Upon confirmation from the Branch Share Registrar, the
Company Secretary will present to the Board for their approval on the
inclusion of the proposed resolution in the SGM.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene an SGM, the requisitionists, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene an SGM themselves, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the aforesaid
date of the deposit of requisition.
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The Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact information of
the requisitionists and deposited to the Board or the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 5086,
ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong. The Company will
endeavour to respond to requisitionists’ enquires in a timely manner.

The Procedures for Making Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

If a Shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at the AGM/SGM
which is to be held, such Shareholder should submit a written notice of
the proposal with his/her detailed contact information to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong. The
request of intention to propose a resolution will be verified by the Branch
Share Registrar. Upon confirmation from the Branch Share Registrar, the
Company Secretary will present to the Board for their approval on the
inclusion of the proposed resolution in the AGM/SGM.

The notice period to be given to all Shareholders for consideration of the
proposal raised by the Shareholders concerned at the AGM/SGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, which is as follows:

° At least 14 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include 10
business days and excludes the date of the notice and the date
of the meeting) in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary
resolution of the Company.

° At least 21 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include 20
business days and excludes the date of the notice and the date
of the meeting) in writing if the proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the Company in the SGM or an ordinary resolution of
the Company in the AGM.
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The Procedures that Shareholders Can Use to
Propose a Person for Election as a Director

Other than a retiring director, any person who is not recommended by
the Board shall not be eligible to be elected as a director at any general
meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person
for election as a director and notice in writing by that person of his/her
willingness to be elected (including that person’s biographical details
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules) have been lodged to
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong
Kong at least 7 days before the date of the general meeting. As required
by the provisions of the Company’s Bye-Laws, the period for lodging
notices will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the notice
is received less than 10 clear business days prior to the date of such
general meeting, the Company will need to consider adjourning such
general meeting in order to allow the Shareholders to have 14 days’
notice (the notice period must include 10 clear business days) of the
proposal.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

215 HBREARES

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Richly Field China Development Limited (hereinafter referred to as the
“Richly Field China”, the “Company” or “We”") is pleased to publish
our fourth environmental, social and governance (ESG) report (the
“Report”). The Report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (‘ESG Guide”) as set out in
Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, detailing our approaches and
performance on sustainable development over the past year. We care
about the needs of stakeholders, strive for excellence in our business
processes, pursue sustainable development, and endeavour to build a
better and more prosperous society.

SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD OF THE
REPORT

The Report covers our overall ESG performance from 1 April 2019 to 31
March 2020 (the “Reporting Period”). Unless otherwise stated, the Report
covers the businesses of our three main projects’, including Changsha
Outlets Project (the “Changsha Project”) in Changsha, Hunan Province,
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), Qinhuangdao Outlets Project
(the “Qinhuangdao Project”) in the core area of International Healthy City,
Beidaihe New District, Qinhuangdao, Hebei Province, the PRC and the
residential and commercial complex (the “Yinchuan Project”) in Yinchuan
City, Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, the PRC.

OPINIONS AND FEEDBACK FROM
STAKEHOLDERS

We attach great importance to opinions of stakeholders as they help us
develop better sustainable development policies. If you are in any doubt
or have any opinion for this Report, please share your valuable opinions
with us via e-mail at info@richlyfield.com.

! The construction work in our real estate development business is carried out by
contractors. The data on emissions and use of resources thereof is not included
in our key performance indicators.
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ABOUT RICHLY FIELD CHINA

The principal businesses of Richly Field China include outlets commercial
operation and development and operation of featured commercial
properties (such as tourism property, senior care property and wine
chateaus), development of high-end residential properties as well as
property management. We believe that reducing pollutant emissions,
minimizing resource consumption and reducing carbon emissions while
contributing to the society are social responsibilities that all companies
shall shoulder. Therefore, we formulate and continuously improve our
sustainable development philosophy and operation strategies, give play
to innovative thinking and focus on long-term overall interests, build a
vibrant community, and practice green construction, while ensuring that
our construction and operation activities strictly comply with national
regulatory requirements.

PROJECTS OVERVIEW

The Changsha Project covers an area of 1,500 mu, comprising a
residential portion (Outlets Town) and a commercial portion (Globe
Qutlets). Outlets Town is a high-class, low-density residential community
specially designed in Spanish style. It is surrounded by verdant plants
along with well-designed streams and bridges, offering residents a
relaxing environment brought about by a super-low plot ratio. The
greenery and landscape design of the community highlight the project out
of the others, which offers a green space ratio of 40%, creating abundant
oxygen by plenty of plants. With a developed area of nearly 100,000
sg.m. so far, Globe Outlets has become a local tourist attraction by
providing European and American-style block-type shopping experience,
spacious green parks integrating greenery landscape and natural scenery,
and a selected portfolio of domestically and internationally renowned
brands.
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The Qinhuangdao Project is a large coastal shopping, tourism and
healthcare resort complex with outlets business as the major operation,
integrated with high-end hot spring resort hotels, high-end hospitals,
health preservation and elderly care, cultural and entertainment activities,
and recreational resorts. The project covers an area of approximately
1,077 mu, planned to be developed in three phases. Phase 1 of
the project covers a total area of approximately 230,000 sg.m.,
comprising outlets business, a health preservation hotel, resort units
and an exhibition hall, along with supporting parking lots and greenery
landscape. During the Reporting Period, we continued to focus on the
development of Phase 1 of the project.

Qinhuangdao Project
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The Yinchuan Project comprises five parcels of land with a total site
area of approximately 133,300 sg.m. and a residential and commercial
complex which is currently being constructed thereon, of which Jin
Sheng Yue Jing (£ 5858 %) , the residential project, covers a site area
of approximately 120 mu and a planned gross floor area of 221,000
sg.m. The project aims to create a comfortable and convenient living
environment on the back of the surrounding resources such as banks,
medical institutes, educational institutions, department stores and
supermarkets, entertainment facilities and restaurants as well as its own
lifestyle amenities and building materials stores. The commercial project
portion consists of three commercial buildings and two corridors with a
total gross floor area of approximately 95,000 sg.m. and an occupancy
rate of 92%. Shops in the buildings are engaged in trading of high-end
building materials, premium furniture, and blackwood products, featuring
building materials and household products.

Yinchuan Project
R/l HE A
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOVERNANCE

The Board understands that it shall take full responsibility for the ESG
strategies and reporting of Richly Field China. The Board actively
participates in the formulation and implementation of sustainable
development strategies. In carrying out the Company’s risk assessment
procedures, it includes the identification and analysis of ESG-related risks
and the formulation of internal control to mitigate the risks. At annual
board meetings, the Board reviews the effectiveness of ESG work,
promptly revises policy directions and objectives, and allocates sufficient
resources by reviewing ESG reports and key performance indicators.

We have established a working group on sustainable development to
coordinate the preparation of ESG reports. Members of the working
group include management personnel of each major project, covering
different backgrounds and professional knowledge. Advice of professional
consultants is sought when necessary. Through the preparation of ESG
reports and related key performance indicators, the working group
reviews whether Richly Field China’s ESG measures are effectively
implemented to achieve our goals of reducing carbon dioxide emissions,
energy consumption and waste generation.

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholders engagement is essential to the formulation of strategies for
sustainable development. It allows the Group to understand the risks and
opportunities. The Group has identified key stakeholders that are important to
the Group’s business and established various channels for communication.
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MATERIALITY ANALYSIS EEMOMN

When defining and managing material sustainability issues, we consider ERTMEREEZMAFELEZER -
the opinions of both our internal and external stakeholders. Through T {fIRIE E E QAR NI LINFH M E =
various daily operational channels, we collect stakeholders’ opinions R - &FIFEBSER®2ERT H&EHT
to understand their expectations for the Company’s sustainable ZEER  THRMEMY AL R AIFERRE
development, formulate measures to respond to stakeholders and use HEWTEH I F K EEHER EEHE I

the opinions as the basis for the preparation of the Report. YERZN & 0 47 I K7t o
Stakeholders Communication Channel Expectation Related Sections
BHE BEAFNX & B EE
Government e On-site inspections and e Comply with the laws A1. Emissions
BT checks o BFIAE BEm
e Higl W& e Tax payment according A2. Use of Resources
e Work conferences, to laws &R & A
research and discussion o KIEMTL A3. The Environment and
s TEEZ REKIH e Promote economic Natural Resources
e Annual reports, development and RERRAAEZIR
interim reports and employment in the B1. Employment
announcements region =X
e FH -FHMERAS o HMEIEAEEREEFE B7. Anti-corruption
e Company’s website e Environmental k&3
o N\ A48 uh protection B8. Community Investment
o IRIFIRE ftEZE
e Use of Resources
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Stakeholders Communication Channel Related Sections
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Stakeholders Communication Channel
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

58

A1. Emissions

Air Emission

Our business does not produce a large amount of exhaust
gas, and our air emissions come from mainly the use of
vehicles, as well as the use of natural gas-fired heating
equipment in some projects. To reduce unnecessary air
emissions, we encourage salespersons and employees
to use public transport as much as possible when visiting
customers or attending external meetings or activities. For
nearby activities, we encourage employees to walk instead of
riding a vehicle. Our air emissions during the Reporting Period
were as follows:

A

REEM®
1. BERY

BER B

BANEBETEELERNEER
BB P ERFREERE
REEWEFER UREHIERE
RRERAROEERREME
o BB AT B BER Y
EHEBEBEERDNERE
ARBTHE2MINBEHIED
B EEERAAARBIA-M
PEREE B EE  KME
SRMEIZEASITRBERER
BTE RPN BEHEHNER
HERan T

2019/20 Unit

Type of Emissions BEEE 2019/20FE Efu
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) BEALY(NOY) 173.7 kgT7n
Sulphur oxides (SOx) &L ¥ (SOx) 2.28 kgT =
Particulate matter (PM) FE R (PM) 479 kgTm
Greenhouse Gas Emissions BERBHEK

Our greenhouse gas emissions are mainly indirect emissions
from electricity consumption in office operations. There are
also direct emissions from natural gas burning for heating and
the use of vehicles and indirect emissions from employees’
business travel by air, which account for a small portion
of our greenhouse gas emissions. We adopt a series of
energy-saving measures (see the section headed “Use of
Resources”) and monitor energy consumption to reduce the
generation of greenhouse gases and reduce the impact on
the environment.
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In response to the carbon dioxide emissions generated by
employees’ business travel by air, we have set up telephone
and video conferencing systems in offices. Where feasible, we
would use teleconferencing or video conferencing instead of
face-to-face meetings to reduce the need for employees to
travel by air. Considering that carbon dioxide emissions from
business travel are not the major source of our greenhouse
gas emissions (accounting for only 0.2% of our total
greenhouse gas emissions last year), we stop disclosing such
insignificant emissions from this year onwards.

During the Reporting Period, our greenhouse gas emissions
were as follows:

HHREERYREABELN
SACTREE R BV B R
ETERABRGERRAR KA
THEATEREERERGE X
BEezAEMEEMNEE K
MBI EEFRLERBABNE
Ko BB RBELEN ALK
BERYFFRMEBRNEERE G
MR(EZFEEERBEREBY
PEN0.2%) - B 1tk 3 AP 0 AN 6 B
EELLAREE-

B P95 592 29T 08 I B HE R
-

Greenhouse Gas Emissions 2019/20 Unit

BEREBHER 2019/20FE By

Scope 1 - Direct Emissions 521.84 Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
HEN BN mE — bR E 2

Scope 2 - Energy Indirect Emissions 2,065.75 Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent

#E2— s REE R WA LIREE

Total 2,587.59 Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
HnE mE — bk E 2

Intensity (per m?) 185.44 kg of carbon dioxide equivalent
BE (BFHXK) TR_StHRES

Solid Waste

Given the nature of our business, our operations do not
generate hazardous waste?. The solid waste generated by
our business mainly includes food waste from staff canteens,
construction waste generated from renovations by property
owners or brand partners, and domestic waste from offices,
residential areas and commercial areas.

& B2 BE =W
EREMNEBHEEL BANE
BARYITEELATREEY? -
BMEBHELNBERBERZY T
EEREEIREEANESR %
FTIAHREAETRERES
MEEER BHR ETERLE
EBELMNEELR -

2 The hazardous waste as defined by The Directory of National Hazardous Waste 2 BIRIE (BIREREYRER) FIEENERE
((BREREYRLEE) ). =)o
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We encourage employees to sort the waste, recycle
stationery and reduce wastage, so as to reduce the
generation of waste at source. In addition, we adopt the
electronic operation mode to reduce the generation of paper
waste, require printing permission in the office to restrict
unnecessary printing, and make statistics and adjustment
of paper consumption to improve resource utilisation. We
also regularly communicate environmental messages to our
employees to enhance their environmental awareness and
promote environmental policies.

We require employees to properly manage the disposal of
computers and related products such as printers and toner
cartridges, and to reuse them as much as possible. For
items that must be discarded, we require employees to carry
out waste sorting and recycling. The non-recyclable waste,
including renovation and construction waste, domestic waste
and food waste, shall be collected and treated by relevant
municipal departments in a unified manner. The solid waste
generated by us during the Reporting Period was as follows:

BMmBETETR RS R
B B m AR RE - )
RERERH L EREMOEE -
AN HAPIRAE FIEM EER
AR BMERBEYONESE IR
MREREHENFF A RS
VEMHE BRABRETS
AR RSERMNBE-R
MAEHAEBEFERRAL
RABTIRFREMRERERRK
% o

BHMEXBETIZZ=EEERT
Wk EEER M WEIRE K
MEFEMNRERE T
BrRELDBER HRLBEARE
Wen WP BRETETED D
PO 2R A ERE MR
Vo BRRERERERN £EN
FAEF R F - A R EBFI AR —
WERE RANBEHHEELE

WEEEEMRT

Type of Waste 2019/20 Unit
BENESR 2019/20FE Ef
Food waste 0.66 Tonnes
BT £ A
Construction waste 994.00 Tonnes
AR M7
Paper 1.38 Tonnes
R M43
Other domestic waste 620.00 Tonnes
H b EIEREY i
Total 1,616.04 Tonnes
wme 0]
Intensity (per m?) 115.82 kg
BE (BFHK) A
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In active response to the “Implementation Opinions on EMEGERE (FEBAEEZE M
Strengthening Ecological and Environmental Protection and BAE ARRMNTEN 2 NE A&
Resolutely Fighting Pollution Issued by the Party Committee RIBRERRITH SN AKME
and the People’s Government of Hunan Province”( & BHRERER) (JH%[2018]20
MEAEZENEEARBNBEREENAEELRIBRER ) CUR(RPHEEATERYD
RITHF S A AR BREMNEREER) ) (Xiang Fa [2018] TMARBIEARDE (ED™M
No. 20) and the “Notice on Printing the Three-Year Action [58 77 HE IR I KR 18 B R 4T
Plan of Implementing Environmental Control and Winning the BEXREE] =ZF1T785 8
Blue Sky Defence War (2018-2020) of Changsha City Issued (2018-2020)) B HI) » = H
by the Party Committee and the People’s Government of AT PR « #5288 ~ PRk - 1500 - I
Changsha Municipality”( {ff H£EAPTMZERDTARBISER Bl EIRE] IE-

& (RAT [RNEERF B RRITRERREE
= HF178)5H21(2018-2020)) HYFEA) ), we made strenuous
effort in preventing dust, managing vehicles, controlling
emissions, prohibiting burning and reducing consumption of
coal and petroleum.

Sewage 5K

Sewage discharged from our projects is mainly derived from EMEEMNSKEREERER
water consumption in public areas of canteens and residential 2 ITEMEMHEAOAEZAKE
and commercial buildings, and for firefighting and cleaning BFRAXK - BREEWREHE £
of vehicles and equipment. Domestic sewage and canteen & FKEEM  BRE KB EEK
catering wastewater are pre-treated by a septic tank and an £ o o TR B IR 18 HE A5 KR IR
oil separator respectively, before entering a sewage treatment EPRIE - MAREEEELB
plant for centralised treatment. The construction sewage BRMEANEIEESK &
generated by a contractor in the construction process will be ERETTIREERBHENRET
settled before being discharged into the municipal sewage BAESKEM-

network.
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A2. Use of Resources A2. BEREHR
The Group attaches great importance to the efficient use of AEEREERERNE XA
resources and is committed to reducing waste of resources A BIREBEEERRIE
in daily operation. During the Reporting Period, the Group BRREB -RWEHAHE A5EHE
has complied with relevant laws and regulations in relation to BTrEBERREANERERE
the use of energy. Since the Group has not engaged in the KOEH - BRANE B I A4t F &
manufacturing business, no packaging materials were used. EER BUEERATABEM
#} o
Energy BER
Type of Energy 2019/20 Unit
BEREE 2019/20% E By
Purchased electricity 3,041,044 kWh
INEEE ) + BB
Non-renewable fuel 2,450,179 kWh
SEBRAERE FEE
Total energy consumption 5,491,223 kWh
BeeRER T FLBS
Intensity (per m?) 393.54 kWh
BE (BFHK) T LR
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We acknowledge the importance of electricity and energy BMAMBHNENERNES
saving and the fact that reducing electricity consumption will M-BRLRAEEHEERLDR
indirectly reduce greenhouse gas emissions, so the we have EREMN ?3Fb'5(i WERMREES
promoted various energy saving strategies, including: BERERES B

y\ Implementation of roof greening projects
0 =wEEgrTe

Adoption of green lighting, such as switching to
(P environmental-friendly and energy-saving bulbs and

:@: using natural light in offices
EGeRA AEERRROLEBANER
EFMBBERN

10 Encouraging employees to switch off lights and turn
—) off power-consuming devices when they leave office
S ERATEBHATELENEELREY

B®E

d) Turning off idle machinery and facilities
FAEIEERATORRNBENRE

not in use

RERANEREKE  BARA TER] R

z ¢¢ Activation of “sleeping mode” when computers are
+

_ We also encourage employees to set office air-conditioners at a moderate temperature and switch
= them off when they are not in use to reduce electricity consumption.
l' BN BEESHLAEEARCEEPRERR TV ERKERBEA - LUK E NE

o
We used a total of approximately 15,500 LED bulbs in our projects to provide lighting for
residential, communal and office areas, which is estimated to save power consumption by 2.6
million KWh per year. 3
BMREEBEERERFEFRATH15500@LEDE R ATHEMEE  AXMF ARG IR
HEBE FAEBFARL26EETRRMNE HEMRS -

s The above-mentioned LED bulbs were not installed during the @ il EDE B IER R E ML MESIE

Reporting Period, but during the construction periods of various BREZRIANLZE - ERHERDRDHE T
projects. The estimated reduction in power consumption is SHEZREFHIARES- 100 E (RRTERE
calculated based on the average daily use of 3-10 hours (varying 15) « FELKIB00KEE « ¥ L A —MR8OWH
by region) and about 300 days of operation per year, compared BEHFERMmMEE-

with the use of 80W incandescent lamps.
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Water K

Our project water consumption includes water used in public EMMEERAKBERE =X
areas of canteens and residential and commercial buildings, MEEn A LEEAK B -
and for firefighting, cleaning of vehicles and equipment, BREWMEE KEITR &
renovation works, road and building cleaning, and landscape BKREFERUARELERS -
irrigation. Our water consumption during the Reporting Period BN EmEBRRENEKERR
was as follows: I

Type of Resource 2019/20 Unit

BERER 2019/206E Ef

Total water consumption 161,195.18 m?

WFEKE 3K

Intensity (per m?) 11.55 m?

BE (FFHK) S K

We obtain water from municipal water supply network, and AW AKEmBER  BmK
therefore have no difficulties in sourcing water that is fit B K EUE A KR £ IR AR
for purpose. In order to better conserve and utilise water BomEMAEHIRERAE M
resources, we have implemented the following water-saving MANXKER BT T ATAENK
measures: i

f% Installation of sensor faucets at operating sites
O ‘tauEn%zEmERkiEE

Timely maintenance of leaking faucets and pipes to reduce wasting tap water
Ko W5 5 38 % R B 7K BE BB K MR - R AR B B 2RUK

Recycling of wastewater for dust removal, street washing, vehicle tires
cleaning at construction sites
HEKERRELISHBE BREX EWHIAIPEE

Recycling of water for irrigation of vegetation
) A B WK 1 & 4k B BT

| | Constant monitoring and tracking of water consumption
= IR 7 8508 N2 A0 8 FE K 8

Enhancing water conservation awareness through water conservation labels
at the workplace
EEXSHRESHORAKEE RSEHHHKEH
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AS.

Paper

In addition to waste paper recycling, we also encourage
employees to utilise both sides of paper, such as using the
back side of waste paper for internal document printing or
as draft paper, setting an appropriate font size, optimising
typesetting to minimise the number of pages, and setting
multiple pages per sheet to minimise paper use. We
also recommend employees to use electronic media for
communication, so as to reduce paper usage. During the
Reporting Period, our total paper consumption in offices was
2.73 tonnes, 1.35 of which 1.35 tonnes were recycled.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Our construction projects are carried out by contractors, so
we are not directly involved in construction works that have a
significant impact on the environment and natural resources.
However, we still assume the responsibility of supervising
the contractors to ensure that environmental assessment
is properly completed for each project and pollution control
measures are well implemented while making good use of
resources, in an effort to minimise the negative impact on the
environment and natural resources.

A3.

MR
BT ETREADNKIN TG
BEIx»MAARNER:

a7 P RE AR B TR E AR ED X
HIENHBIEERME REAE

B FEE R/ EBEEERR R & /M
BH URTEERTHNZEEH
ANEERIBAZTHLK I
RPIAHEEE THAS 7
aﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁiuﬂ LA D 4 5k

I AEHE  BMABARE
%%ﬁ/ﬁ%ﬁ@éﬁzjsﬁ o U =
A1.350 o

BERRXRER

BHERIERHAERAESE
BT BMEmMAREEZSHE
HIREMARERENEAFE
MEEZ TR - BREMDERIEE
BEAEZEMNET BRE—EH
HEZETKRIRETEIE U
REBERITSEIESS LM ITIE
TERAER BORLEIRER
AAEREENBEETE-
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SOCIAL ASPECTS
Employment and Labour Practices

Employees are the cornerstone of our operation and development.
Therefore, we attach great importance to the welfare, health
and development of employees. We provide employees with
competitive remuneration and sound promotion opportunities to
encourage them to develop their careers while maintaining work-life
balance, and provide them with an equal, safe and fulfiling working
environment.

We have always strictly complied with labour legislations and
related regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong, including the
“Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”( {ffF#E AR
MBI &)%) ) and the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China"( (FZE AR KB L EHERE) ), the
“Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China”( &
EARKEMBELZ24EEE) ), the “Law on Occupational Disease
Prevention and Control of the People’s Republic of China”’( &
EARLIMBBEBBAE) ), and the “Social Security Law
of the People’s Republic of China’( (fFE AR L FE &R
FEJ%) ). We have established the Staff Handbook, the Human
Resource Management Policy, and various practices and policies to
ensure compliance with the requirements of laws and regulations.
During the Reporting Period, we did not have any major violations
related to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, vacations, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other treatments and benefits.
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B1.

Employment

Talent Acquisition

Attracting and retaining talents is the key to maintaining the
competitiveness of a company. We have established a fair
and just talent selection system and follows the principle
of “internal recruitment first” to guarantee promotion
opportunities for employees. We ensure that the recruitment
and promotion process is fair, open and transparent, and
select candidates only based on the objective conditions of
job applicants such as work experience, skills, educational
background, communication skills and personal qualities,
with a view to preventing gender, race, age or any other form
of discrimination. As of 31 March 2020, the total number
of employees of the Group was 248%. A breakdown of the
employees is as follows:

By Gender
o3k ko g

Female Male
® i ® g
4 The total number of employees of the Group includes the sum of employees of

Changsha Project, Qinhuangdao Project and Yinchuan Project as well as the
staff of Hong Kong Headquarters.

By Employment Type
RERRESE

B1. EfE

AT 1B

W FIEE AT TR DERBS
HWEBER-HMHRLAF AL
MATEEGE ZR[ERER
SMRABEAT  REET
METTHE RABRBELE
ABREAF ARAFEH EK
BRERBENTELER X 2
EER BBROEREAERS
EBREESBRAL  #WH
LEER R FikRETAMER
MERFE - BE_T_TF=
A=+—B ZMASENEITR
BR248AN - AT RIEBEE

Part time/contract Full time

E Yo oS

EEETRBEERY REERRIER
AREBHAE T AR
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2019/20
By Employee Category ZEBENSE 2019/205F E
Senior management BHREBAE 13 A
Middle management FREEAB 37 A
General employee —mMET 198 A

2019/20
By Age Group RERARNDE 2019/20F &
Below 20 20B% A TR 13 A
21-30 21-30%% 81 A
31-40 31-405% 83A
41-50 41-505% 55 A
Over 51 5185 A I 16 A

2019/20
By Work Location RIS E 2019/205F E
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region BEABFRITERE 7A
Mainland China oA 240 A
Overseas SN 1A
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Talent Retention

We believe that giving employees the opportunity to give full
play to their strengths, employing a fair performance appraisal
mechanism and creating a pleasant working environment
can help retain outstanding talents. We require employees
to possess both “integrity and ability”, and base employee
performance appraisal on this requirement. Moral character,
know-how, ability and performance are our main criteria
for evaluating employee performance. Each year, we make
appropriate salary adjustments, transfers and promotions
based on the results of employee performance appraisal,
which we believe will effectively minimise brain drain. The
total number of employees leaving the Company during
the Reporting Period was 90°. The turnover rates were as
follows:

AT HE
BHMEERTEI RS BER
R REHEATHWEIGEMERHK
Bl ARZYRFERTERE
EABUBREEFAS - HME
KBTI A EFRE] - ALAUE
RETEMERERE Bz M
BN MEEARHMEIENMG
BIXREMNEE - RABFRIE
ERER RRBEIXRBELE
EBHORB R BB RITE R
PEEEEERB AT REBE
R o TR0 3 HA R RO BB AR
ABBIOAS AL EIT -

2019/20
By Gender BHR 28 2019/20F E
Male 514 47.4%
Female pegi 23.5%

2019/20
By Employee Age Group EEAFRANSE 2019/205F &
Below 20 2058 A T 30.8%
21-30 21-30%% 33.3%
31-40 31-40%% 43.4%
41-50 41-508% 36.4%
Over 51 5185 A 18.8%

2019/20
By Work Location BRI(fFuhB 28 2019/205F E
Hong Kong BB 42.9%
Mainland China A A 36.3%
Overseas s -%

Note: The tumnover rate of each group is calculated by dividing the
turnover number of the group during the Reporting Period by the
number of employees in the group as at 31 March 2020.

i BARARALL R RIAZAR R
s AR Z K A BRBR A RZ AR B
RIB-ZF=R=+—HZA
WS-

5 The total number of employees leaving the Company includes the sum of — *° BEBRAHBERY ZESKRIIEE
employees leaving their jobs in Changsha Project, Qinhuangdao Project and REBEBEIABER AL -
Yinchuan Project as well as Hong Kong Headquarters.
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Remuneration and Benefits

In addition to offering reasonable and competitive salary
and five social insurances (i.e., pension, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, maternity insurance, and
occupational injury insurance) and the housing fund ( Bk
—+ ), mandatory provident fund, labour insurance, and
statutory holidays provided according to the law, we also
provide employees with various leaves such as wedding
leave, funeral leave, maternity leave, work-related injury leave,
annual leave and family planning leave as well as additional
staff benefits such as allowances for working luncheon,
transportation and communication, employee cafeteria,
and physical check-ups, with an aim to boost employees’
sense of belonging to the Company, create a good working
atmosphere and enhance enterprise cohesion.

Our staff canteens provide employees with nutritionally
balanced meals in a clean and tidy dining environment. In
order to ensure food hygiene, we require personnel involved
in food preparation to each submit a health certificate and a
medical examination report issued within three months before
taking up the job, and to conduct a medical examination
every year. In the process of food preparation, they must
wear protective equipment such as a chef hat, mask, apron,
and rubber shoes, and obtain a “Food Hygiene License”
pursuant to local regulations. The menu provides nutritious
meals concocted by dedicated professionals with meat and
vegetables.
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Equal Opportunities and Diversity FE#ERkZTE
We are dedicated to creating a diverse and inclusive BB N ABETIRESZ THR
workplace and protecting employees from discrimination and W ILERTE  REMPR R
harassment. We have formulated employment policy in strict NEEE BPBEREKE (REA
compliance with the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic R# fﬂ 85 M (REAR
of China"( (R ZE ARLFMEL B))%E) ) and the “Labour TD BEAER /£>> il 7€ {& 1% Ik
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”( (%= CEREE - FI B AR
ARKEMELSERIEL) ). Employees are offered equal E @N BRI MK IEEHEEIHEIRE
opportunities in terms of recruitment, training, promotion, HIFEN# S BimT A Fik-
transfer, compensation, benefits provision and termination MRl H 8RR ﬁfén MR A K
of contract, regardless of their age, gender, physical EEA-BER B BEE R
state, marital status, family status, race, colour, nationality, HoBORBEMERMALTH=E
religion, political affiiation, sexual orientation, etc. Our Anti- XTrEREEEE KM (RIE
Discrimination Practice is clearly set forth in the Employee RER) BEER <<E\Iﬁ%#
Code of Conduct and employees are required to strictly abide Bl - WEKE TEIEE
by it.
We also place high value on female employees’ career HMRAEERZMEE THB %
development by ensuring that they have the same promotion B ERZEEIHEFEBKEF
opportunities as male staff. We also comply with the SERKe WER (FEAR
requirements of the Law on the Protection of Women's HAEm L ERREE) Bk
Rights and Interests of the People’s Republic of China, zHEEITeREZ ER B
which stipulates that female employees are entitled to basic AR ER AW EBAER IR L
salary and their employment contracts will not be released or BEAERVREBEESEARATE
terminated, without cause, during their pregnancy, maternity B #E A o

leave or breastfeeding period.
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B2. Health and Safety

We put employees’ health and safety as the top priority
and are dedicated to providing them with a safe workplace.
We have developed a comprehensive Occupational Health
Program to identify occupational health hazards, assess
risks in the workplace, adopt control measures and organize
seminars and workshops. Employees of work categories
involving special hazards (such as electrical technicians)
must possess nationally recognised qualifications and pass
the examination before they are allowed to work. When
performing hazardous work, they must wear protective
gears. We will also regularly designate officers to inspect
construction sites to check and ensure that they are wearing
protective gears as required.

We have always strictly complied with laws and regulations
such as the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”
((hEARLMEL B L) ), the “Production Safety
Law of the People’s Republic of China’( {F%E A RN
BZ &4 E%R) ), and the “Law on Occupational Disease
Prevention and Control of the People’s Republic of China”
((PEAREMBEIBZERPAE) ), and have purchased
work-related injury insurance for all employees. During the
Reporting Period, we did not violate any laws and regulations
on occupational safety, nor did we have any fatal accidents.
There were 5 work-related accidents and 5 employees
injured, with a total of 360 working days lost.

In addition, the Group has implemented a series of policies
to create and maintain a favourable, comfortable and healthy

working environment:

° to maintain obstruction-free emergency exits at
workplace;

° to provide a workplace with adequate illumination and
moderate temperature;

o to prohibit smoking at workplace; and

° to conduct safety inspections and fire prevention
training regularly.
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B3. Development and Training B3. R RIZI

The quality of employees directly affects our business BEINE=ZEETE2RMNER
quality, reputation and business sustainability. Therefore, BR BENMEBKAFENE-
we continuously provide comprehensive and diversified hHEMFEELAEEREZ2ME -
training to employees, including face-to-face training, ZutmaERSEI - REEHE
sharing among departments, online learning and internal and B -HFMLrZz-HLEBE RN
external training. In addition to providing new employees B R ANEREE IS o B AMBR T AER
with orientation training in respect to skills and knowledge EERMEEE MBI ERMEE
training and attitude building, we also require new employees EEETRHFIN BMIFEK
to be familiar with our corporate culture and the company FREEATBRMNDEEMA
background and understand the connection between their AER THREIEBEMAR
job duties and the company development. We will also track EROBE -ZMTIZRULES
the performance of employees and continuously evaluate and MER  FETEHTHRE TS
understand employees’ training needs. Bl

Our training covered a variety of topics in order to cater EMOEIRET BECHRE "
for employees from different departments. The following Am B N REFIEBENFE KA
are some of the training courses we provided during the TEREMIS R REAREHD
Reporting Period: HIIRE

Management experiem:e sharing Garbaage sortina trainin
i che HEAREM
Emergency flood control and safety Property-related knowledge training
BERAZE . . 9 3 HH R &N A 1 A1
New employee orientation
ﬁEIlmtﬁt%’“ Staff servicg]s;;;;g;;;jﬁsﬁ?%eﬁﬂgéﬁltte training

Workplace mood management skills

m%ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁr‘j Attendance system training

ZE Rl
Firefighting knowledge training .
S0 5 T e Decoration acceptance procedures
RERLEF

Brand decoration standards

i SR E FL Complaint handling procedures and skills
Facility and equipment operation safety RIFRBEF RIS
ﬂmﬂﬁﬁ#&ﬁ%ﬂ% Real estate sales skills training

EEHERITE
Special notes for on-site construction inspection
HAeRIREIRER
Vehicle management and directed parking
=3 . . -
HFRERREREFN Equipment maintenance related training
Marketing seminar training B 0 £ 2248 RR AN
TERTR FHEAN Firefighting, anti-theft, and flood prevention training

Bik - BEE - BrtiEA
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B4.

During the Reporting Period, 100% of our employees
received training with average training hours of 5.93 hours, as
detailed below:

RBEBHH HMBE100%E L
BEXTEI FHEFIESEAE
5.93/NE - FBWMT

2019/20
2019/205F &
Training Average
percentage training hours
By Gender RHERSE EI B T 15 5% I B &
Male St 100% 4.97 hours /NEf
Female Z 1t 100% 7.03 hours /)NEf
2019/20
2019/205F &
Training Average
percentage training hours
By Employee Category RZEBENSE EIE DL T 15 5E 3 05 B
Senior management SRERASR 100% 1.78 hours /\BS
Middle management HPREEAB 100% 2.56 hours /B
General employee —®RBET 100% 6.71 hours /JNEf
Labour Standards B4. % T %A

We have zero tolerance for child labour and forced labour,
and strictly abide by the national laws and regulations on
preventing child labour and forced labour. We never allow
any child labour and forced labour in violation of relevant laws
and regulations. We require the human resources department
to check the identity documents of prospective employees
before hiring, so as to avoid misuse of child labour. We
also require suppliers not to use child labour or forced
labour. Once relevant illegal behaviours are found within
the Company or its suppliers, we will hold those involved
accountable. During the Reporting Period, we found no
violations involving child labour or forced labour.
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BS5.

Work-life Balance

We believe that employees with a work-life balance have
better and more stable performance at work, so we do not
encourage employees to work overtime. The weekly working
hours should not exceed 40 hours. If it is really necessary
for employees to temporarily work overtime, we will arrange
compensatory leave for them within three months after
overtime work. We have also established complaint channels
for employees. If an employee is unfairly treated, he/she can
report to the relevant department in writing or notify the trade
union, or directly report to the senior management.

Supply Chain Management

We are dedicated to creating quality living style for customers
and building top-notch projects. We see product quality as
the critical part on which everything else is dependent, and for
which the supply chain plays a key role. Therefore, our strict
selection of suppliers and construction materials are crucial
processes.

Our suppliers must be selected from our List of Qualified
Suppliers and we regularly monitor and review suppliers’
performance. In parallel with a fair and open procurement
system, we have also developed the tendering procedure
and the Tendering and Procurement Management Policy for
standardised procurement process. Suppliers are required
to comply with relevant laws, regulations and contractual
obligations. In order to regulate suppliers’ practices in health
and safety, human resources, environmental protection and
business ethics, we formulated the Supplier Code of Conduct
and make sure they have met the requirements of the code
before entering into cooperation agreement. As a supporter
of green procurement, we give priority to environmentally
friendly and energy saving products with an aim of minimising
the future emissions and resource consumption during the
operation process.

B5.

TE4)ZF i
BMEEIEEERSIFEH
BETIAILERERETN
=B OEEHRMIASEBEE TN
I &8 TEER A BB B40
N MBAERTIER ZEE AN
- RMAERENRE =@ A
NZBEmBR-HMASETEL
B EE BIESZIHTAFE
WS AJEAEEFARNEE
EOPYER sk @ iE T & M A R R
WA EERNSREEB MR-

HrEEEER

BB AEPRERELE
BREEBE-REEER HMME
FEmmERE V) HERE
ARG A MR R
BHEEAREEREMERER -

ML (ARHEEERE)
MEBBARPERSBEH-ER
VHETEREBMER - RFIKE
MRFRAROERESE  RE
BAEREARGE (BERRBEE
HIE) RBRERE -RMEX
HEEBVAETHBRAE &
REHEML LT (HEETT
ATRD  HHEEREREMZ
EANER RERE - BX
BRELAS  EMERREED
BEBER  FREMREEHDR
BT RIBMITHBAE SR - RfIERE
HRERB BLRBRELAD
EERENER ARERRRE
B E R Y PR UM B R B FE -
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BG6.

Through continuous monitoring and evaluation, we ensure
that our contractors and other suppliers understand
their duties and responsibilities, and conduct planning,
management and supervision of all employees’ works in
a meticulous manner. Appropriate instructions and regular
trainings are provided to workers. Only qualified, trained,
skilful and experienced workers are allowed to work at the
construction sites. With full implementation of the above
measures, we are able to control environmental impacts
in the construction process and build the community in an
environmentally friendly, harmless, and safe manner.

We also support the development of the regions where our
projects are located. When selecting suppliers for a project,
we try to source from suppliers in the city where the project
is located. During the Reporting Period, we had a total of 136
qualified suppliers, of which 93 were based in the cities where
our projects were located and 43 were from other cities in
China.

Product Responsibility

We have always aimed to provide customers with high-qualify
properties, as well as efficient and high-quality services, so
that customers have full confidence in our products and
services. We have set up consumer complaint service hotline,
complaint box and service reception to swiftly and properly
handle customer complaints. By conducting on-site and
regular visits, we have gained in-depth understanding of
actual demands of customers, established long-term and
sound cooperation with customers, supported the economic
development in the regions of operation, and indirectly
facilitated employment in those regions. During the year,
we delivered 288 properties and had no products that were
subject to recall for safety or health reasons.

Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2020
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When conducting promotional activities, we carefully TETHEESER ML
handle marketing materials to avoid containing misleading EIEEEME  BeFERE
information. We have prepared a sales management M- KRMEEEEESEFM-
handbook to make sure that all marketing and information MBI BITHREMME BR
materials are in compliance with relevant laws and FeE(EmEHEEETEMNZE)
regulations including the “Administrative Measures for (WhmEmEREEENE) -
Commercial Housing Sales”( (M @mEHEE B E) ), (FEARAMBERTEHEE
the “Administrative Measures on the Pre-sale of Urban BE) (WhmEMERZEKLKE
Commercial Housing”( (M@ mEREEEEIE) ), BEKEA) (RFEAREAM
the “Urban Real Estate Administration Law of the People’s EEE) RAPEARENEK
Republic of China”( (R AR KEMBISMEEEEE) ), TEEBRFE) EFXEER MU
the “Regulations on the Administration of Urban Real Estate NMEREHEOMEEFAMS
Development and Operation”( (5 T 5= b = 7 3% 48 2 5 1 Wi 32 mMEEBREBEBHE - HM
&) ), the “Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of memEFkEFMm F45 8
China”( (P EARXMBEESIE) ), and the “Anti-Unfair RERETFERENIES - HKMH
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China’( & EBTH REMZE  NBREH
EARKEMBERPEEHEFEA) ). We also ensure that [ 78 & B W B fr] A B8 E o A0 AR
detailed and clear information on our properties is provided BHREREERLZ2 BEE BEEK
to increase the transparency of the sales process. We also EEEERESHAM-

distribute manuals to tenants setting out operating guidelines
for equipment and fixtures. Our business does not involve any
labeling. During the Reporting Period, we did not receive any
notice of violations concerning health and safety, advertising,
labeling and privacy in respect of our products and services.

Quality Management o0 B 1

We have established a sound, comprehensive quality control EMBELTEmME2ENMEE
system to strictly monitor the quality of completed units and BIEER HEKENMERKEE
implement the criteria for acceptance inspection, so as to TS MITINEREE R E
ensure that the units meet the requirements of customers. UFEEPER KM EMR
We also collect feedback and suggestions from tenants HEEEPHEREBRER R
and home owners from time to time, and incorporate their HOUTHERMAZEFEZZTS
opinions into building quality control and management LERREF BEHEAERR
procedures to continuously improve the quality of products REE= REESKAERE
and services, in an effort to give customers a five-star quality BEEES-

living experience.
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Quality Control Process of Richly Field
A H R R Z B

01 03
Design &% &t Pre-sale TRt

Think from the perspective of users Professional inspection
Collect customer opinions Pass quality inspection

WERZAE EREFER HEAERR BBAREARE

Al

Construction Z&%

Choose high-quality materials
Strictly control the quality

REELNH BREHES

Protection of Customer Data and Privacy

We have access to the personal data of customers in the
course of business, so we take the security and privacy of
information very seriously. We sign a confidentiality agreement
with each of our employees to ensure that they understand
their responsibility to protect customer information and
related confidentiality obligation. We have established data
processing procedures where a customer’s data can only
be accessed by authorised personnel and used in business
activities related to the customer. If an employee authorised
to access customer data improperly discloses customer data,
he/she will be deemed to have stolen confidential information
of the Company and the case will be handed over to the law
enforcement agency for handling.
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After-sales service Ei&

Customer feedback
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Delivery 3Z##

Up-to-standard delivery
Accurate disclosure of information
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B7. Anti-corruption B7. RES
We emphasise ethics and integrity, and have zero tolerance KMaAEELAE BTEAR
for any form of bribery, extortion, fraud, and money EREANBE R HFEX
laundering. We have developed the Anti-money Laundering GREEH RMEHE IR
Policy which requires employees, customers, suppliers, BHE]-ERKBI BP-HE
contractors, job applicants and any other partners to abide B KB E A AEAMm
by all applicable laws and regulations, and signed a letter of AENHREETHBEANE
responsibility for clean governance, in an effort to maintain the BER EITRBREERESE
highest standard of integrity in the course of business. EEBBERERBRESOHE
We have also established a whistleblowing mechanism HZMTEBLRmES  EET
whereby employees can report suspected misconduct or KOsEsEEmAAE SR E
malpractices orally or in writing. We handle all reported TRETBEITRETRR  HM
incidents in a strictly confidential manner, and will not disclose NS RE 7 N E T 2R W
the identity and other information of the whistleblower without EH BRIEEEREBERNE
consent, unless otherwise required by law. After a suspected AT HEMTSRER = H &R
violation is confirmed by internal investigation, we will report WMAR S DME A E G - EREB
the case to the competent law enforcement agency for FERRBREFERUEEETMHE
handling. BMTERREENREHME
b=

During the Reporting Period, we strictly observed the Anti- BRI ERRBRIEET (hE
Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China ARLRBRESEE) AREM
and other laws and regulations related to anti-corruption, MR RE BB B8R BEFTT
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, and found no BREERERER REER
violations of such laws and regulations. ERIEEZRNIER
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Community

B8. Community Investment
We always wish to give back to the society and spare
no effort to support the community. We contribute to the
harmonious and sustainable development of the society
mainly by encouraging employees to participate in community
activities. During the Reporting Period, we organised visits to
fire officers and soldiers. And during the COVID-19 outbreak,
we contributed to the community’s fight against the epidemic
through donations of money, vegetables and other supplies
and volunteer work. Looking ahead, we will continue to
participate in community activities, express care for the

community, and help improve social welfare.

Visiting fire officers and soldiers

Richly Field China Development Limited
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Biographical Details of Directors

B BEEHIG

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Li Yi Feng

Mr. Li Yi Feng (“Mr. Li"), aged 57, was re-designated as an executive
Director, chairman of the Board, chief executive officer, chairman of
the nomination committee of the Board, member of the remuneration
committee of the Board and the authorised representative of the
Company under the Listing Rules on 31 January 2019 (the “Re-
designation”). Immediately prior to the Re-designation, he was a non-
executive Director.

Mr. Li has been engaged in construction planning, design, real estate
and commercial properties over 30 years and has gained extensive
experience in planning, development, operation and management.
He has a great wealth of experience in asset acquisition and mergers,
business negotiations and capital operations.

Mr. Li obtained his Master’s degree in Architecture from Xi'an Institute
of Metallurgy and Construction Engineering” ( P %25 & 22 6% ) (now
renamed as Xi'an University of Architecture and Technology)* ( 78 % i 38
B AE) | In addition, Mr. Li obtained his certificate of completion from
Ontario Real Estate College in Canada.

Since 1985, Mr. Li has been engaging in architecture teaching,
architecture study and design work. Since 2002, Mr. Li joined Homelife
(Canada) and RE/MAX (Canada), offering consultancy services on
residential and commercial property investments. Mr. Li joined the
Company in early 2009 as the chief design officer. Since 2011, Mr. Li has
served as the director of Richly Field (Beijing) Investment Consulting Co.,
Lt (M HA=EREM (R REBEMERAR) .

Following the Re-designation, Mr. Li was also appointed as a director
certain subsidiaries of the Company, namely Chuang Yu Holdings Limited,
Globe Outlets City Holdings Limited, Globe Outlets City Limited, Mile Gain
Limited, Million Harmony Holdings Limited, Million Harmony Limited, Pilot
Will Holdings Limited, Pilot Will Limited, Profuse Gain Holdings Limited,
Profuse Gain Limited, Quality Depot Limited, Richly Field Hainan Holdings
Limited, King Future Holdings Limited and King Future Limited with effect
from 31 January 2019.

BHITES

FRERE
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—NFE-A=1T-HEREREARFTRTT
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Mr. Chen Wei

Mr. Chen Wei (“Mr. Chen”), aged 48, was re-designated as an executive
Director and the vice president of the Company on 21 March 2018.
Immediately prior to such re-designation as executive Director, he was a
non-executive Director.

Mr. Chen has extensive experience in aspects related to project planning
and construction management. Mr. Chen graduated from Jinling
polytechnic University* (& B3 K2 ) (now renamed as Jinling Institute
of Technology* (£ FERHZERT ) ) studying in decoration and construction
management. He was accredited as an engineer by Nanjing Construction
Engineering Intermediate Professional Qualification Assessment
Committee* (AR ML LT RAREXERMERTIEEZEF)In
December 2012. During the period from March 2015 to July 2017, Mr.
Chen received further education in Zhongshan Vocational College* ($Z 1L
B 22 R flT 2B ) majoring in society related works and completed all the
required curriculums under the vocational teaching plan. He has been
engaging in construction management since 1996 and was the chairman
of Nanjing First Construction Engineering Group Company Limited* ( B3 &
E—FETREBEFRAF) from 2008 to 2013.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen

Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen (“Ms. Hsu”), aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 November 2013 and has been
the chairman of the audit and remuneration committees of the Company
since 28 January 2014. She has over 20 years’ experience in accounting.
Ms. Hsu graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor degree in business administration. Ms. Hsu had been working
with Ernst & Young for 18 years and was a partner of Ernst & Young
before she retired from the firm in February 2011.

Ms. Hsu is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ms. Hsu is currently an independent non-executive
director of Perfect Shape Medical Limited (stock code: 1830) and China
Display Optoelectronics Technology Holdings Limited (Stock code: 334).
Beside, Ms. Hsu is also an independent non-executive director of Circle
International Holdings Limited (CCH) whose shares are listed on the
National Stock Exchange of Australia (NSX).
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Ms. Hsu served as an independent non-executive director of each of
Titan Petrochemicals Group Ltd. (stock code: 1192) from December
2015 to May 2016 and BC Technology Group Limited (KY) (Stock Code:
0863) from April 2012 to May 2018. All the aforesaid companies are listed
on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wong Tak Chun

Mr. Wong Tak Chun (“Mr. Wong”), aged 39, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 3 September 2018.

He is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries, and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators
in the United Kingdom. He obtained a bachelor degree in Economics
from the University of British Columbia in 2005 and obtained a master
degree in corporate governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2014. Mr. Wong has thirteen years of experience in
accounting, corporate governance, corporate finance, capital markets,
and investor relations. He worked as an assistant manager in KPMG from
August 2005 to May 2010. From May 2010 to June 2013, he served
as the company secretary and finance manager of Central China Real
Estate Limited (stock code: 0832). He served as the deputy chief financial
officer since February 2014 and the company secretary since April 2014
of Modern Land (China) Co., Limited (stock code: 1107) until January
2016. He served as the company secretary and the chief financial officer
of Helidongsheng International Logistic Company Limited* ( 137 8 F+ B
ByREZAR AT ) in Hunan, the People’s Republic of China, from
March 2016 to February 2017. Since February 2017, Mr. Wong has
worked as the chief financial officer and company secretary of Top Spring
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3688). Since 17 January
2017, Mr Wong has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Dadi Education Holdings Limited (stock code: 8417).
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Mr. Xu Jinghong

Mr. Xu Jinghong (“Mr. Xu”), aged 52, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 1 April 2014. He graduated from Tianjin
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Tianjin Institute Of Textile
Science and Technology) with a bachelor’'s degree in mechanical
manufacturing technology and equipment. In addition, Mr. Xu completed
a course of management science and engineering for postgraduate
research students in Nanjing University. Mr. Xu had served as the general
manager of Nanjing Yuexing International Home Square Limited* (&&=
AEBBRREES AR AR and the general manager of the Furniture
Centre at Nanjing Golden Eagle International Shopping Centre Group
Limited* (FA R & BRI EYEEGR A REER L), and the chairman
of Nanjing Meitu Furniture Company Limited* (# REEB/FE AR A
A]) . Mr. Xu is currently the vice president of the association of home
decoration of the china federation of industry and commerce* (2 B T
ERERMHERE S ), the vice chairman of the Market Committee of
China Furniture Association* (R BIR BB EMHZEZE ), the honorary
president of Guangdong Furniture Chamber Of Commerce* ([ EER & X2
FELEER), the chairman of Xiamen Meitu Mei Network Technology
Company Limited* (EFIEE EH &R B R A A) and the vice
president of the Xiyingmen Group* (E&FIEE) .

* For identification purpose only
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15 N7 1% BN IR &S

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

ferkPFa
Shi ne‘ZO[ng

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RICHLY FIELD CHINA DEVELOPMENT
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and

continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Richly
Field China Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 89
to 215, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Multiple Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern

As described in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group reported net loss of approximately HK$294,856,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2020 and as at 31 March 2020, the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately HK$352,886,000. As at the same
date, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$27,107,000 only. As set out in note 2.1 “Basis of preparation”,
subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group breached
the terms of certain bank and other borrowings to repay approximately
RMB263,426,000 and place RMB123,000,000 as pledged deposit,
respectively in June 2020. As such, these borrowings become in default
and the lenders have the right to demand immediate repayment of the
entire outstanding principal and interests. These conditions, together
with other matters as described in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may
cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking a number of
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, and to
remediate the delayed payments which are set out in note 2.1 to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group has been in
active negotiation with the lenders for the renewal or extension of the
repayment terms of the outstanding principals and accrued interests.

The consolidated financial statements had been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of these
measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including (i)
the successful renewal or extension of the repayment terms of the
outstanding principals and interests of the bank and other borrowings,
(i) the successful acceleration of pre-sales and sales of properties under
development and speeding up the collection of sales proceeds and (i)
continuous financial support from the related parties. Should the Group
fail to achieve the above mentioned plans and measures, it might not be
able to continue as a going concern, and adjustments would have to be
made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report, solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
However, because of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Lau Kai Wong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kai Wong

Practising Certificate Number: PO6623

Hong Kong
31 July 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

moBERRHAMPEHIIHRIRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NEF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$ 000
=g FEx FHET
Revenue Wz 5 181,687 284,184
Cost of sales SHE AR (170,426) (307,917)
Gross profit (loss) ER (48) 11,261 (23,733)
(Loss) gain on revaluation of REMEE (BE) s
investment properties 15 (140,551) 2,590
Other income and gain RN & 6 1,207 488
Selling expenses HERX (11,418) (11,571)
Administrative expenses TTHEF X (66,921) (88,645)
Finance costs MEER 7 (113,913) (138,001)
Share of results of associates iy AN 18 (4,390) (1,982)
Loss before tax BRBLAT RS 18 8 (324,725) (260,854)
Income tax credit (expense) Frig i s (F) 11 29,869 (7,443)
Loss for the year FREE (294,856) (268,297)
Other comprehensive expense Hih2HEMAX
Items that may be reclassified to EEEH P EEEZER
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEREF CERZHE
foreign operations (7,794) (28,842)
Share of other comprehensive expense JEMREE AR M2 EMX
of associates (4,547) (1,924)
Other comprehensive expense FREMEPEMRS BEFHE
for the year, net of tax (12,341) (30,766)
Total comprehensive expense FRETEHBZEHE
for the year (307,197) (299,063)
HK$ # 7T HK$ & 7T
Loss per share BRER 12
Basic HAK (1.26) cents Al (1.15) cents /&1l
Diluted e (1.26) cents #E{ll  (1.15) cents & fll
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

oI R

As at 31 March 2020
R_E-_ZEF=A=+—H

2020 2019
. —NF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
P 5 FExT FHET
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BB Mk 14 27,551 31,095
Investment properties EE 15 1,323,909 1,492,566
Right-of-use assets FAEEE 16 553,905 -
Prepaid land lease payments B T E R 17 = 644,699
Interests in associates N RAYNCIA - X 18 18,414 56,750
Financial asset designated at fair value BT A FETAEM
through other comprehensive income 2EWZE ([EBEATE
(‘FVTOCT) SARMEEKRS])
TREE 19 2,724 2,724
Goodwill [EES 20 109,516 116,650
2,036,019 2,344,484
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development Y 21 2,294,377 1,804,630
Completed properties held for sales BEHEZ BT 22 97,589 98,556
Inventories e 23 - -
Trade receivables JRE L R X 24 8,989 14,959
Prepayments, deposits and other TEIE - RE N
receivables Ho e W R IE 25 209,990 195,922
Cash and cash equivalents Re &Iﬁﬁﬁﬁ o 26 27,107 75,114
2,638,052 2,189,181
Current liabilities FEBEE
Trade payables JERTERIR 27 1,064,654 701,384
Other payables and accruals HMENFIERERTER 28 661,541 623,691
Contract liabilities BRAEE 28 401,145 176,019
Amounts due to related parties FEATREE T IE 29 413,968 98,438
Interest-bearing bank and other SEBEITREMER
borrowings 30 324,931 1,192,819
Notes payable ANES 31 - 93,471
Provisions B 32 6,332 6,745
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 2,140 -
Tax payable FE IR 116,227 127,770
2,990,938 3,020,337

a0 Richly Field China Development Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ZGeMBIRRE

As at 31 March 2020
R_E-_ZF=A=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 5 FHET FHET
Net current liabilities FEEEEE (352,886) (831,156)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERE 1,683,133 1,518,328
Non-current liabilities FREBAE
Deferred income R IE A 28 61,029 65,004
Amounts due to related parties FEATREE 5 I 29 425,199 683,576
Interest-bearing bank and other SHERSRITREMER
borrowings 30 1,052,854 279,792
Lease liabilities HEARE 16 1,338 -
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFIEE & 33 65,011 100,057
1,605,431 1,128,429
Net assets EEFH 77,702 384,899
Equity R
Issued capital 21T 34 1,166,834 1,166,834
Reserves fEiE (1,089,132) (781,935)
Total equity RSB 77,702 384,899

The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 215 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 July
2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Li Yi Feng
EhERE
Director

EF

FEBIE2ICAZKAMBRREN —T =
TELA=Zt HEEFSHEREET
HoUYATIEETRREE:

Mr. Chen Wei
PRETKE
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
nGEmENE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE-_Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

Notes:

@

The contributed surplus represents the surplus arising on reduction of paid-up
capital during the year ended 31 March 2004.

The reorganisation reserve represents the carrying amount of net liabilities
of subsidiaries, net of expenses, being disposed of under the schemes of
arrangement under section 166 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and section 99 of the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended time to time). Both schemes of arrangement
were sanctioned by the High Court of Hong Kong and the Supreme Court of
Bermuda on 27 May 2008 and 13 June 2008, respectively.

The statutory reserve funds represents 10% of the profit after tax of the
Company’s subsidiaries registered in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
appropriate to the reserve as stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for
certain subsidiaries in the PRC, until such reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital and thereafter any further appropriation is optional.

Other reserve represents () the difference between the considerations paid to
obtain additional non-controling interests and its carrying amount of the net
assets on the date of the acquisition, which the excess of the fair value of the
consideration over the carrying amount of the net assets acquired has been
debited directly to equity; (i) the deemed contributions from shareholders that
arisen from the difference between the initial fair value and cash receipts on the
loans from related parties; (i) the deemed contribution from shareholder that
arisen from the excess of the net identifiable assets acquired over the fair value
of ordinary shares of the Company issued upon a business combination; and
(iv) the deemed contribution from shareholder that arisen from the excess of
the carrying amounts of indebtedness capitalised over the fair value of ordinary
shares of the Company issued.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mOIRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE_Z-_ZF=A=+—HItFE

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REFTH
Loss before tax bR AT E 18 (324,725) (260,854)
Adjustments for: NI E=S
Bank interest income |RITH EHA (117) (86)
Finance costs MEER 113,913 138,001
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEE W= MR E 2 B8 63 -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y B MR ETTE 3,280 3,425
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREZEETE 19,355 -
(Loss) gain on revaluation of investment properties 12 & ¥ % ~ & (E18) Wi 140,551 (2,590)
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments TERT L AH & 5k 2 B8 - 18,404
Impairment loss of completed properties BIEHECRIMEZ
held for sales BEEE - 35,604
Share of results of associates ey NI 4,390 1,982
Operating cash flows before movements in EEESEHAZ
working capital LERERE (43,290) (66,114)
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables FE YRR SRR A (32 40) 5,238 (2,671)
Increase in properties under development and EEMERBELEZ
completed properties held for sales W T ) 2380 (488,984) (113,704)
(Increase) decrease in prepayments, deposits and  TE 3B - e M H s
other receivables FEMFRIE (35 00) R (40,369) 613,716
Increase in trade payables JE 1~ BR FRE A1 417,275 267,143
Increase (decrease) in other payables and H b RIE R
accruals FEETBRE M CRd) 55,926 (71,685)
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities aHaEEMN ORd) 231,740 (133,701)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KRETHELECEESTE 137,536 492,984
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

molREREXR

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE_Z-_ZF=A=+—HItFE

2020 2019
—EIEH —ZE-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Construction costs for investment properties WEYHE 7 BER AN (52,017) (196,899)
Repayment from (advance to) an associate E N AIEN (Pﬁ?%@%/’\) 31,647 (20,680)
(Advance to) a related party FaET (FTERF) (3,889) (5,352)
Purchases of items of property, NEWME JF‘?ibE%& Y18 B
plant and equipment (1,564) (1,764)
Refund of construction costs for REEE WS 2 BENAE
investment properties - 35,356
Bank interest received B UERTTH B 117 86
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEHFAZRESTE (25,706) (189,253)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Advance from related parties RERBER 28K 126,540 341,567
Proceeds from new bank and other borrowings LR &ﬁﬁﬂﬁi” pd
TS 30 20,343 48,730
Repayment to related parties ElEzEE EZ@/T (69,597) (507,390)
Interest paid 2ARFE (114,111) (105,499)
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EEIRIT N HAER (25,259) (14,483)
Repayment of notes payable EERNRE (93,471) (3,427)
Repayment for principal elements of EEHEaBE A2 H Y
lease liabilities (2,000) -
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES @& ZEFMAZESFE (157,555) (240,502)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN RERASZEER CRD)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EHnFEE (45,725) 63,229
Cash and cash equivalents at FYHRSRRSEE®D
beginning of year 75,114 14,848
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net INEZ B EFER (2,282) (2,963)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZEERREEER
AT END OF YEAR, represented BIRTTER N IR
by bank balances and cash 27,107 75,114
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o Bl TS R =i 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020

BHE—

96

—REZA=+—RALFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEEHR
Richly Field China Development Limited (the “Company”) was WHARERER AR ([RAAF])
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands with limited liability and ARHEREIEMKAIANBR AR
continued as an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda TR —ZEENF-_A+—HREHHA
after the change of domicile from the Cayman Islands to Bermuda EHERMEBRER BEBER
effective on 11 February 2004. The addresses of the registered EEPRBEKERBRARNR AR
office and principal place of business of the Company are Victoria A EM SRt & EEEEH
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and 2t > 7l & Victoria Place, 5th Floor,
Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong, 31 Victoria Street Hamilton HM10,
respectively. Bermuda X & /& IR E B B35 1 B
TRRI1TKES06E
The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. The RARMEZEBRIEEZER M B
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out below: NEIMEZEBIHINAT
Information about subsidiaries MEBARER
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: ANARMMEBARFBOT:
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities
FMAL/ BRIRAZRE/
A% TRREELY A ARREERERDL TEER
Directly Indirectly
EE B
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZECZ2F CT-NF ZBIEF T4
Chuang Yu Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = - 100% 100%  Investment holding
EIMIERBRAR EE 1% RAER
Globe Outlets City Holdings Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
RESSRETt RE R IAERER R F BE 1T REER
Hunan Richly Field Outlets Real Estate Limited* The People’s Republic of HK$596,400,000 - - 100% 100%  Property development
(‘Hunan Richly Field") ## (note) China (the “PRC")/ 596,400,0007% 7T NERE
HERHRRRTEEERAR Mainland China
([Hmmml) = (i) REARLAME ([$E])/
HER
Jiangxi Richly Town Construction Projects The PRC/Mainland China HK$10,000,000 100% 100% - - Construction and maintenance
Co., Limited™* RE/RER 10,000,000%7% REREE
TABHEETRERAR
Mile Gain Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
BRERRA EREXHE/BE 1ET RAER
Milion Harmony Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
ERzERERAR BE 1T BEER
Million Harmony Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% = - Investment holding
BHERRA EREXHE/BE 1ET REER

Richly Field China Development Limited
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BHE-_Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ARAREEER (&)

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEARER (&)

Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of

registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities

EMRL/ BRIRBRRAE/
£ SRREELE AfRA FRREERERDL TEEH

Directly Indirectly
B B
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZBIEF CT-NF ZBIRF CENF
Pilot Will Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
RERRERAR Bk 1T TEEH
Pilot Will Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
REFRAA EERAHEE/BE 1ET REER
Profuse Gain Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
ERBRERAR Bk 18T TEEH
Profuse Gain Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ERBERAR EERAHEE/BE 1ET REER
Quality Depot Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$100 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
mEBRAR RBRAHS/FE 100%7T LEEY
Richly Field (Bejiing) Investment Consutting The PRC/Mainland China HK$15,000,000 100% 100% - - Property management and
Co., Ltd.™* HE/RE N 15,000,000 T investment holding

WHERH (ER)REBRERR A" NEEERRERR
Richly Field Hainan Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% - - Inactive
WHERERERAR BE BT TEEH
TRBBRREERERAR The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management

FE/REA AR ¥1,000,0007C nEER
Changsha Yutian Outlets Business Administration ~ The PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management and

Co. Limited** FE/REAM AR 100,000,000 trading of fashion wears and
RORBEGRACEERFRAT accessories
NEERREEREREMH

ROBRBRENEERERAF The PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management

FE/REA ARH500,0007C NEER
BREBEBBELRERAA" The PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management

S E/HE R AR 20,000,000 nEER
Richly Field Kabuskiki Kaisha* Japan JPY3,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
HEKA g BA 3,000,0008 LEXH
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HE T ZF-_A=-+—HIFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

1. REIREBER &)

B ARER (4)

Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities
EMRL/ BRIRBRRAE/
£ SRREELE AMRE ARRRERERDL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
EE GF:3
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZBIEF CT-NF ZBBF _ENF
King Future Holdings Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HRERERAT BE BT RERRK
King Future Limited BVI Us$10 100% 100% - - Investment holding
HEERAR RERZES 10%7T REER
Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Co., Ltd.** The PRC/Mainland China US$20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property development
ZERRRBRIEEBRAA FE/REA 20,000,000 ¢ NERE
Hunan Longsheng Decoration Engineering The PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
Company Limited** BE/RER AR H10,000,00070 Tmis
HEEERERATIRERAR™
LEHERERESERAR The PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
BE/RER ARH500,0007C umEh
EESERAEEBRAR) The PRG/Mainland China RMB350,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property development and
HE/REN AR 350,000,007 management and
home furnishing
NERERERNREELS
# Registered as limited liability companies under PRC law # RETREEIMAERAT
i Registered as wholly-owned foreign enterprises under PRC law i BIERBREESIMANEBECYE
#*  Registered as Sino-foreign joint ventures under PRC law o RIEREEES AR BEL DR
* For identification purposes only * E R R
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), rounded to the nearest thousand except
for per share data. Hong Kong dollar is the Company’s functional
currency and the Group’s presentation currency.

The Group reported net loss of approximately HK$294,856,000.
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$352,886,000 and total borrowings, including
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and amounts due to
related parties of approximately HK$738,899,000 will be due in the
coming twelve months from the end of the reporting period. As at
the same date, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$27,107,000.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group
breached the terms of certain bank and other borrowings to repay
approximately RMB263,426,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$283,320) and to place RMB123,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$134,624,000) as pledged deposit, respectively
in June 2020. These constituted events of default and as stipulated
in the relevant loan agreements, the providers of finance (the
“Lenders”) have the right to demand immediate repayment of the
outstanding principal (amounted to RMB1,210,700,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,325,111,000) as at 31 March 2020)
and estimated unpaid interests (amounted to RMB97,389,000
(equivalent to HK$106,592,000) as at 31 March 2020). The Group
has been actively in discussions with the Lenders for the renewal or
extension of the repayment terms.

21 RBEEE

ZEGAMBHRERBEANRA REHK
BAm (B IAEE]) -

AEEBATEEEBMHEREAMM
HEHERERBKEMEZIZRERE
ZEB([EEEDHE-KRER
BN ZEGAMBRERTDAET
(BT 2% YEMBEAAZERE
AT BTRARBZIMEEE R
rEBZ 25 EK-

A& E 15 E 18 )F 5 49294,856,000
BL R _ZE-_FTF=Z/F =+ —
H X"&EBE R AEEFHEY
352,886,000 T M fg sk 4B 5 (B2 1E
AFERTEEMERUARENEER
FRIE) #)738,899,0008 Jr © i 1 ¥R
FEHRBHRERTZMEARIE R
AE AEEEReRRECEERY
27,107,000/& 7T °

RN EERE AEBERE TRT
MEMERNER IR T _2F
NADRIEZELH AR®263,426,000
7T (% M #283,320,0005 7t) &
FAAR®123,000,000T (&
MR #11384,624,0008 L) ERERTT
Ko BERBRELEN MHEHE
BEXBama B mEREBEA(E
AN EEERABEERERZER
¢ (R-_ZT-_THF=-ZA=Z+—A84A
AR #1,210,700,0007T (A E R
#91,325,111,0008 7T) ) KA sH %
NHEBE(R—ZE_EEE=H=+—
HAAR®97,389,0007 (#HE R
106,592,000 7)) c AEBME EHE
TAREERTEREFAREIRIDE
THER -
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2.1

100

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The above conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

In view of the above, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group’s cash flow projections covering a period of twelve
months from 31 March 2020 which have taken into account the
followings:

(i) the Group’s property development projects had shown
steady progress and the Group is in the process of
accelerating the pre-sales and sales of its properties under
development;

(i) the continuous financial support from related parties;

@iy~ the unutilised loan facility from a related company beneficially
owned by a controlling shareholder of RMB1,000,000,000
that will not be expiring before 31 March 2021 of which
approximately RMB896,850,000 remained unutilised as at 31
March 2020;

(iv)  the forecasted operating cash flows for the year ending 31
March 2021.

In addition, the Group is also considering various options for
additional financing to the Group, such as new investors and
business partners.

Based on the above, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to fuffill its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the coming twelve months
from 31 March 2020. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis. These consolidated
financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the
carrying amounts and reclassification of assets and liabilities that
might be necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern.

Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE-_Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Company has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS(s)”), amendments and
Interpretations (“Int(s)”), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015 - 2017 Cycle
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2.2

102

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 has been summarised
below. The application of other new and amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and position for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements with respect
to lease accounting. It introduces significant changes to the lessee
accounting by removing the distinction between operating lease
and finance lease and requiring the recognition of right-of-use
asset and a lease liability for all leases, except for short-term leases
and leases of low value assets. In contrast to lessee accounting,
the requirements for lessor accounting have remained largely
unchanged. Details of these new accounting policies are described
in note 2,3. The Group adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial application
of 1 April 2019. Under this approach, the standard is applied
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the
standard recognised at the date of initial application. Comparative
information has not been restated and continues to be reported
under HKAS 17 Leases.

Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2020
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases

(continued)

On transition to HKFRS 16, the Group elected to apply the practical
expedient to grandfather the assessment of which arrangements
are, or contain, leases. It applied HKFRS 16 only to contracts
that were previously identified as leases. Contracts that were not
identified as leases under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not
reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16
has been applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or
after 1 April 2019.

The Group as lessee

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease liability in
relation to leases which had previously been classified as ‘operating
leases’ under the principles of HKAS 17 Leases (except for lease
of low value assets and lease with remaining lease term of twelve
months or less). These liabilities were measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 April 2019. The lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 April
2019 was 8.82%.
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2.2

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases

(continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)
The Group recognises right-of-use assets and measures them at an
amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments.

The following table summarises the impact of transition to HKFRS
16 at 1 April 2019. Line items that were not affected by the
adjustments have not been included.

22 BAMIREEITEBHHK

WREER ([EEMBEREE
all)

RaERBMBREERF1657E
ENEE (8

a

REBEREBEA (8)
AEERAEAEEERRESNE
BBz RAERSTEAREE
U RBEAMENKEAEHEREZS
BEHFHE -

TEBMAR —_F-AFHA—-BBEER
ERBMBREERFIHR 2T E -
TEERAAFABMZIZENIA
E o

Carrying
amount Carrying
previously amount
reported Impact on as restated
at 31 March adoption of at 1 April
2019 HKFRS 16 2019
A RWE S RZZE-NF
RZB-NF MBREER mA—-A
=R=+-H £16% 2 74
EHzEHE 7 REE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
s T THET FHET
Right-of-use assets FREEE @), b) - 667,954 667,954
Prepaid lease payments BRMEEFE-FAHLH
- non current portion (@ 644,699 (644,699 -
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables T8 - & REMEKHE (@) 195,922 17,777) 178,145
Lease liabilities HEEE (b) - (5,478) (5,478)
Notes: Bk -

104

(@ Prepaid lease payments representing the prepayment for land use rights
in the PRC of approximately HK$662,476,000, of which the current
portion amounting to HK$17,777,000 was reported under “prepayments,
deposits and other receivables”, were adjusted to right-of-use assets; and

(o) As at 1 April 2019, right-of-use assets in respect of lease arrangement
for buildings were measured at an amount equal to the lease liability of

approximately HK$5,478,000.

Richly Field China Development Limited

Annual Report 2020

(@) FENFEEZE (BPEtEmETE
5 7% 18 49662,476,0007% 7T - H BN EA
B 217,777,00078 7T 2 72 [ F8 1+ 2008 -
e REMERFIBE]IR2R)EAE
BEREEE: &

) M-ZE-hEmWF—8 AHEFHEE
T2 FEAREERASHREERRY
5,478,000/ L2 &5 T IAGT=



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
O TS IREMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE-_Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases
(continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Differences between operating lease commitment as at 31 March
2019, the date immediately preceding the date of initial application,
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate, and the lease
liability recognised as at 1 April 2019 is as follow:

22 BRI REEITERYE
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All) &)

KRB BAMEREERE 1655
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HK$ 000
FHEIT
Operating lease commitment disclosed as at RZE-—NF=ZA=+—HBHED
31 March 2019 RS RIE 6,100
Discounted using the applicable incremental borrowing A& X fEf HHIFE ARE Mg E
rate at the date of initial application B RN AL IR 622)
Lease liability recognised as at 1 April 2019 RZZE—NFNA—BRIANHEEEE 5,478
Analysed as: DT
Non-current portion ERENE 3,478
Current portion B EL 2,000
5,478

The Group as lessor

The Group leases some of the properties. The accounting policies
applicable to the Group as lessor remain substantially unchanged
from those under HKAS 17.

Practical expedients applied

On the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group has used
the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

o reliance on assessments on whether leases are onerous
by applying HKAS 37 immediately before the date of initial
application as an alternative to performing an impairment
review.

o the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the
right-of-use asset at the date of initial application.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective

The Group had not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective.

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

106

Richly Field China Development Limited

Insurance Contracts?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Definition of a Business*

Reference to the conceptual

framework®

Definition of Material’

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (continued)

Conceptual Framework for ~ Revised Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 Financial Reporting’

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 — Related Rent
Concessions®

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract®
Annual Improvements Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
to HKFRSs 2018-2020°

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

6 Effective for annual periods beginning or after 1 June 2020

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except as otherwise set out in the accounting
policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations

Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
incurred to effect a business combination are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in the business combination
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Taxes;

° assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance
with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement
of the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with
the share-based payment transactions of the Group are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.
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2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

o Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments as if the acquired lease was a new
lease at the acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date;
or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets
are measured at an amount equal to the lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

23 FEGHBEME (8)

XXKaest(®

s HEGERFSHEEREAEZEME
ECOMOBWERS A WEHB
HE—EFHE EFA TIE
hzHEBRI: (a)FHHNKER
HE1218 A W m ok (b)4E B8
EEBRKEBE FAREERMA
ERHEABEZSETE UK
ABEURMBABEMIBERZEF
AT HEE -

BEEAMEEORE RBEEBES
TRFFEREE 2 SBERAKE LA
FANRWET O RENRFE (N
BIWHEM BHAKRBOAERNE
EREENBENKER RN FE
MEBFE - HWEBEHRFMGER M
WRER AT H R & EEMAE R BN
BRHMNFRSRNEBENRE WK
WETERAEEREs 2 B REEE
o RSN 0k 88 - Dol e NS S
B (B mEm - MEZEERER
NERSHEE LB RS-

WEXGEE CHEERNBRBEHE
HEE KA RRBEREE (MF)
Sl B o

—goerER RETEREARAT 111



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
5 Ol T IR M5t

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

2.3
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash generating unit (the “CGU”") (or groups
of CGU) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
a reporting period, the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of
the unit on a pro rate basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwiill
is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of an associate used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

After application of the equity method, including recognising the
associate’s losses, the Group determines whether there is objective
evidence of impairment with respect to the Group’s investment
in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group (such
as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate that are not related to the Group.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms
and 20% to 25%

Office equipment 15% to 33 /3%
Furniture and fixtures 15% to 20%
Motor vehicles 20% to 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction for
such purposes).

Owned investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair values.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

If an item of prepaid land lease payments becomes an investment
property when there is a change in use, as evidenced by end of
owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying amount
and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in properties
revaluation reserve. The properties revaluation reserve in respect of
that item will be transferred directly to retained earnings when it is
derecognised.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leasing
Accounting policy applicable on or after 1 April 2019

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements
in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease
payments as an operating expense on a straightline basis over
the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased assets are consumed.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease
incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for
costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on
which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, provision is
recognised and measured under HKAS 37 “Provision, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. The costs are included in the
related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

They are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and
useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)

Accounting policy applicable on or after 1 April 2019
(continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group recognises and measures
lease liability at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)

Accounting policy applicable on or after 1 April 2019
(continued)

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect
to some of its investment properties. Leases for which the Group
is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under
the contract to each component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment properties
measured at fair value model.

Upon application of HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019, variable lease
payments for operating leases that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Accounting policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as
an income in the period in which they are earned.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)

Accounting policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019
(continued)

The Group as lessor (continued)

In the event that lease incentives including rent free periods are
given to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised
as rent receivables. The aggregate benefit of incentives is
recognised as a reduction of rental income on a straight-line basis,
except where another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction
of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing
costs, professional fees, payments for land use rights and other
costs directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Sales deposits and instalments received in respect of the presale
of properties under development prior to completion of the
development are included in current liabilities as contract liabilities.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
as the construction period of the relevant property development
project is expected to complete within the normal operating
cycle. On completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sales.

Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2020
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2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Completed properties held for sales

Completed properties held for sales are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of
the total land and buildings costs attributable to unsold properties.
Net realisable value is estimated by the directors based on the
prevailing market prices, on an individual property basis.

Sales deposits and instalments received in respect of the presale of
completed properties held for sales are included in current liabilities
as contract liabilities.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and disposal.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised
as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs.
The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of tangible assets and right-of-use
assets other than goodwill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2020
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of tangible assets and right-of-use
assets other than goodwill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above) (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

A financial asset and a financial liability is offset and the net amount
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when,
and only when the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified,
at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI”) and
FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. The Group’s financial
assets are classified as financial assets at amortised cost and
FVTOCI.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.

Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2020
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest

income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on
initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the
financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and
the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a

financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method (continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial

asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the

“Other income and gain” line item (note 6).

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOC/

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election
(on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments
in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is
not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business

combination.

126 Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2020
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI (continued)

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of
the equity investments, instead, they will be transferred to retained
earnings.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses on investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The expected credit losses are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.

23 FEGHBEME (8)

TRMIA (5

EREE (&)

HEE B A FEF AR M 2 B W a AI5R
ATA(E)
BAFEFAEMEZE RS ZRAT
EREVHRRFEMR S KA
BE-HER BARAFEAE HQF
EEELANBREIEREREME2E
WaNER ANKEE[RFRAR
FRERARER Ritkhama s

BrgEHoEEEas MEERE
{%Ba/ﬁnﬂ
ZERATIEREZREEREEK
MRS ENEIRERIERPER
B IEAR SRR HE R R U@ #B 55 % B KA
Al £ Rl & o

AEEERRBEBEANASAEZEHT
ARENBEMEEERENBERE-
EHEEERSRESARESANE
MoUARMESRMIT A YMRERIA
RAZ B R ey # 1L

REE B R BRI R ER 2B
EEEE-BHEEBREDEREE
EEREASBEBEEEBELRM
af TREEHABTHR BEL

ERRARBEMERRERME
/RE‘E/E‘JEI‘?E%HE(’T%féiﬁ%ﬁ%?aﬁ{%‘f
B EE)FhEE-

CECREEE WHTEARRERLF 127



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

im0 B B IR R B 5

ik

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

2.3

128

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2020
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on
a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low
risk of default, i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a
financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally
understood definition.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor;
or

o information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
O IRZE Mt

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE-_Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over two to three years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets,
this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the

reporting date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective

interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified

approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their

carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE-_Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Classification as debt or equity (continued)

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised
cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material). When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from
a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit (loss) differs from ‘loss before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group'’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through
sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for such investment properties are measured in
accordance with the general principles above.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, tax effect is included in the accounting for
the business combination.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease
terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

23 FEGHBEME (8)

BIE (8)
EXERBERBAREEZERREZR
AEEBRBREHRBEHRO S EEH
BERBBEREBZTAMELEZR
BHRER-

R EFMAAFERAGFENREY
EZERRAABEHRELEHREE
Me ZEVWEREREEDERREBH
E2BURE - BR IF & R AR 1% 8 A BR
SheBREMEATHETIAEED
EHEBEEMEEBHEBREREY
EFMBENBAMD KB RN XD
BARAER BHERKEWESR K
HERFREES MARKRENEZE
ERBEABMEEREEERE L
M—RRBIGHE -

BIEIMGEE R AN B s A RER - 1
HENEMEEKREREENERA
BRHNEBEENEBERT BB &R
ERBETED R EMEEEERE
B R o R HE AR o i B B A TR SR FE
MEBERBEBEH 2L EFTRE
ARBEEAEBTAHZ TR
e

B EASEERERREEENAH
HEARBNHEERZNELEHREAM
EASEEAEEREANEESR
AREREEEXHERE

RRERFAREERBEZHER
HpMmes AEEHERAREERTEE
BENSREREE G ERFI125%
SR RE - R ERY L ER
o AHEREEELRBEERAEZY
IR 2 BB 0 R 7Y 90 46 T 3 R 0 7H B 0 B

e

CECREEE WHTEARRERLF 137



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
5 Ol T IR M5t

For the year ended 31 March 2020

BHE—

2.3

138

—EREZA=+—RALFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on
a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

e Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a

performance obligation.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

o The Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created and
enhanced; or

o The Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer. A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.

Sales of properties

For property development and sales contracts for which the
control of the property is transferred at a point in time, revenue is
recognised when the customer obtains the physical possession or
the legal title of the completed property and the Group has present
right to payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group typical receives a deposit on acceptance of sale order,
giving rise to a contract liability until the customer obtains control of
the goods.
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2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time value
of money if the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing is explicitly
stated in the contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by
the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payments and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price
for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer
of the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for
the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. This interest accrual increases
the amount of the contract liability during the period between the
advance payments received and the transfer of the associated
goods and services, and therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the goods and services is transferred to
customers. The interest is expensed as accrued unless it is eligible
to be capitalised under HKAS 23 Borrowing costs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. The Group
recognises such costs (i.e. sales commissions) as an asset if it
expects to recover these costs.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the assets relate.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the contract
cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of consideration
that the Group expects to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate
directly to providing those goods or services that have not yet been
recognised as expenses.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one year.

Property management services

For property management services contracts, the Group recognises
revenue equal to the right to invoice amount when it corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s performance
to date, on a monthly basis. The Group has elected the practical
expedient for not to disclose the remaining performance obligations
for these types of contracts. The majority of the property
management service contracts do not have a fixed term.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognized as an expense unless another HKFRS requires
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognized for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in central pension
schemes operated by the local municipal governments. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension schemes. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension schemes.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain
or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or l0ss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and, their statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average exchange rates for
the year.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 2.3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and
disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations, that the directors of the Company have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumptions involves making
judgements by the management, at a particular point of time, about
the future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The conditions set out in note 2.1 indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concerns and therefore, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections in the next twelve months taking into account the major
events or conditions which may give rise to business risks and
concluded that the Group has the ability to continue as a going
concern.

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the investment
property portfolio of the Group and concluded that all of the
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time. Therefore,
the directors of the Company have determined that the “sale”
presumption set out in the amendments to HKAS 12 “Income
taxes” is rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised the
deferred tax on changes in fair value of investment properties on the
basis that the Group is subject to enterprise income tax in the PRC.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased
out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the
portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services or the
portions that are used for different purposes are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

Contingent liabilities of the delay in project construction
works

Certain projects’ construction works were delayed compared
with the original time schedule agreed with local government due
to various reasons. The Group’s management determines the
contingent liability in relation to the penalty arisen from the delay in
completion of construction. The determination requires significant
judgment. In making this judgement, the management evaluated
the possibility of penalty happened. The management reassesses
the contingent liability at the end of each reporting period and no
contingent liability was recognised as at 31 March 2020. Details of
which are set out in note 32.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sales
Properties under development and completed properties held for
sales are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling price less
selling expenses and the estimated cost of completion, which were
derived at after considering recent local economic developments,
recent sales transactions, recent construction costs of the Group
and other similar properties in the surrounding areas and internally
available information.

The Group’s management reviews the properties under
development and completed properties held for sales periodically
and carries out an impairment review on a project-by-project basis
at each financial year end. The budget cost and development
progress of the project is reviewed by the Group on a regular
basis and adjusted as appropriate. Where there is any decrease
in the estimated selling price or increase in estimated construction
cost arising from any change in local economic or property
market conditions, there may be written down on the properties
under development and completed properties held for sales.
As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amounts of properties under
development and completed properties held for sales are
approximately HK$2,294,377,000 (2019: HK$1,804,630,000) and
HK$97,589,000 (2019: HK$98,556,000) respectively. During the
year ended 31 March 2020, no impairment loss of completed
properties held for sales was recognised (2019: HK$35,604,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties, including those completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction, are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at
their fair value, details of which are disclosed in note 15. The fair
value of the investment properties was determined by reference
to valuations conducted on these properties by an independent
qualified valuer using property valuation techniques which involve
certain assumptions and inputs as set out in note 15. Favourable or
unfavourable changes to these assumptions may result in changes
in the fair value of the Group’s investment properties included in
the consolidated statement of financial position and corresponding
adjustments to the changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of investment properties
was approximately HK$1,323,909,000 (2019: HK$1,492,566,000).

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires the determination of the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. The recoverable amount is the higher of value-in-use
and fair value less costs of disposals. Estimating the value-in-use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and apply a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in facts and
circumstances which results in downward revision of future cash
flows, a material impairment loss may arise. The carrying amount
of goodwill at 31 March 2020 was approximately HK$109,516,000
(2019: HK$116,650,000). Details of which are set out in note 20.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

The Group performs assessments on whether items of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets have suffered any
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicated
that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be recoverable,
in accordance with the stated accounting policy. Where there is an
indicator of impairment, an estimation of the recoverable amount is
required. Such estimations are based on certain assumptions which
are subject to uncertainly and might differ from the actual result.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets (continued)

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment was approximately HK$27,551,000 (2019:
HK$31,095,000). As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of
right-of-use assets was approximately HK$553,905,000 (1 April
2019: HK$667,954,000). No impairment loss of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets was recognised for the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

Current tax and deferred tax assets

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications
of transactions, files tax reports and makes tax provision in
accordance with the prevailing tax regulations and prescribed
timeframe. However, the implementation of tax varies amongst
different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and the
Group had not yet finalised certain calculations with local tax
authorities. Judgement is required in determining the Group’s
provision for income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact on the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the periods in which such determination is made. The
carrying amount of income tax payable, carried as a liability in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020
was approximately HK$116,227,000 (2019: HK$127,770,000).

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. There was no deferred tax recognised with respect
to tax losses at 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil). The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2020 was approximately
HK$780,751,000 (2019: HK$736,255,000). Details of which are set
out in note 11.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Over 90% of the Group'’s revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities
are generated from the Group’s property development and
investment projects in Changsha, Hunan Province (the “Changsha
Project”), Qinhuangdao of Hebei Province (the “Qinhuangdao
Project”) and Ningxia, Yinchuan City (the “Ningxia Project”) in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The chief executive
officer (the chief operating decision maker) makes decisions about
resources allocation and assesses performance of the Group
based on the operating results and financial position of the Group
as a whole, as the Group’s resources are integrated and no other
discrete operating segment information is provided to the chief
operation decision maker. As such, no segment information is
presented.

Accordingly, the chief executive officer is of the opinion that the
Changsha Project, Qinhuangdao Project and Ningxia Project in the
PRC is a single reportable operating segment of the Group.

An analysis of the Group’s revenues from external customers for
each group of similar products and services is disclosed in note 5.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is derived solely from
its operations in the PRC, and all non-current assets (other than
financial assets) of the Group are located in the PRC.

During the year, the Group had no transactions with external
customer which individually contributed over 10% to the Group’s
total revenue (2019: Nil).

4.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE_Z-_ZF=A=+—HItFE

5. REVENUE

() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

() BEFEHNW&EDIF

AEBKmZOMMT :

2020 2019
—E-FF —FTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Sales of properties VI E 143,999 235,062
Management fee income BEEBUA 16,437 20,379
Total revenue from contracts with BEAEHWRELE
customers 160,436 255,441
Revenue from other source H b SOR M 2
Rental income for investment properties & & EE TR EWE 2 HES WA
under operating lease
- Lease payments that are fixed or —BEIENREES X2
depend on an index or a rate HERE 9,270 10,509
— Variable lease payments that do not  — I FFEPIEE &~
depend on an index or a rate AT & 8 11,981 18,234
21,251 28,743
181,687 284,184
2020 2019
—E-%F —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Timing of revenue recognition WAr 2 T SR e i
At a point in time RE—FREE 143,999 235,062
Over time P& By 16,437 20,379
Total revenue from contracts BEEAHWERE
with customers 160,436 255,441
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

BHE—

“EFZAZTHLFE

5. REVENUE (continued)

()

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of properties

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
properties, the relevant properties specified in the contracts
are based on customer’s specifications with no alternative
use. Taking into consideration of the relevant contract
terms, the legal environment and relevant legal precedent,
the Group concluded that the Group does not have an
enforceable right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant
properties to customers. Revenue from sales of residential
properties is therefore recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal title of
the completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group receives 20% to 100% of the contract value
as deposits from customers when they sign the sale and
purchase agreement. Such advance payment schemes result
in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the property
construction period.

Property management services

Revenue from property management services is recognised
over time, and the progress measured using the output
method. The property management service fees are billed to
the tenants monthly.

(i)
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BE-Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE (continued)
(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligations

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March
2020 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as

U (®)

(i)

N

TEHEHRNENEEZRS
B

PEE_T_TF=A=+—H
WS TEOEE (REKRLE D
RIEMK) N 5B KR H

follows: BRI 0T
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-hNF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FExT FAT
Within one year —FR 222,030 114,792
More than one year but not more MR- AT HBMRE
than two years 269,135 203,274
More than two years 8 38 R A - 22,890
Total revenue from contracts XEAEHRELE
with customers 491,165 340,956

All property management and other services are for periods
of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is

not disclosed.

PrEMEEEREMRE T AH
—FHUT - WMBEBUBEREE
AIEABHRPIERT DEEZRFR
BRHENNRZELERE-

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN Ha A Rz
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHERT FHET
Interest income on bank deposits HITFRFEHA 117 86
Net exchange gain b 5 s 5 16 63
Sales of fashion wears and accessories e € K Ao g sH & - 50
Others HAh 1,074 289
1,207 488
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BHE-_Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MEEH
An analysis of the Group’s finance cost is as follows: AEB s REEADTAT
2020 2019
—ECEHF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest on bank and other borrowings RIT R EME KT E 184,748 225,960
Interest on notes payable JERTRIBEFIE 13,868 8,784
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEMNE 362 -
Less: Amount capitalised in the cost of B EREEREENAR
qualifying assets BEXtb &8 (85,065) (96,743)
113,913 138,001
The capitalisation rates used to determine the amount of borrowing HE2_ZT-_ZF=-A=Z+—HILtHF

costs eligible for capitalisation for the years ended 31 March 2020

T ANBEEANERALEERASE
was 8.47% (2019: 8.87%). 2

ZERNHEEB AT (ZFE— AN
18.87% ) °

8
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

8.

LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging (crediting):

8. BRBIAIEIR

AEEBRBABEE MR (GFA)T

5| & 18 -
2020 2019
—BERF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx FHET
(a)  Staff costs: @@ BIRA:
Salaries, wages and other benefits He ITELEMER 26,176 29,315
Contributions to defined contribution AERFURIKRET B
retirement plans 3,002 3,123
29,178 32,438
(b)  Other items: (o) EHEA:
Cost of inventories recognised as WRAERAZ 2 FEK A
expenses” 158,835 259,086
Impairment loss recognised in MFFIELEZ
respect of completed properties BT YERER
held for sales* B EE - 35,604
Loss on written-off of property, WMEEM S B R EE 2
plant and equipment* [E5 1> 63 -
Depreciation of property, Y- BB MEETE
plant and equipment* 3,280 3,425
Depreciation of right-of-use assets* FRESENTE" 19,355 -
Amortisation of prepaid land TE £ 30 & 7 B i
lease payments*® - 18,404
Auditors’ remuneration* ZEANEN &~ 1,250 1,350
Direct operating expenses incurred REAEEES AR
for investment properties that WEWEFTEX
generated rental income during BELERZY
the year* 5,153 7,321
Minimum lease payments under @AM REFT 2 E&EA
operating leases in respect of EBRTz&EHEER"
land and buildings* N/A ~iE A 1,906

# This amount is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement #
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

* This amount is included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated *
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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9.

“EFZAZTHLFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) and Section 383(1) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2020

EERTHRARZHME

BEESBHEXZMARAR ([BR
Frl)Es EmEA (T EWHEA]) &
EA RGN EI83(NER R B (#
BESNEER) GOIE2HHECE
ERTREFEFAWNS DT

BE_ZE_ZF=A=+—HILEE

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services
as a director, whether of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings
RUEES (TREFAARENEAR) REAAREHEXI SR zHE

Salaries, Employer's
allowances contributions
and to defined
benefits in contribution Total
Fees kind  retirement plans remuneration
RE/K
Fe RRER RBRGTEZ
ne BENFR -ESLEN WessE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Pt 5E TET TET TET TR
Chief executive and THRERDTES:
executive directors:
Mr. Li Vi Feng FME%E (o) 850 22 17 889
Executive director: HOTES:
Mr. Chen Wei RExE 898 - - 898
1,748 22 17 1,787
Independent non-executive directors: B JFHITES:
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen REGET 199 - - 199
Mr. Wong Tak Chun B2k (d) 199 - - 199
Mr. Xu Jinghong ﬁ‘%ﬂ%ﬂ%%i 199 - - 199
597 - - 597
2,345 22 17 2,384

CECREEE WHTEARRERLF

157



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR IREMSE

For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE T ZF-_A=-+—HIFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2019

9. EERTHHARZHME &

BE_ZT-NAF=A=1T—HLFE

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services
as a director, whether of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings
REAEE (THRBEADARARBRR)REEA RS HES TR #He

Salaries, Employer’s
allowances contributions
and to defined
benefits in contribution Total
Fees kind retirement plans remuneration
REMR
e 2R RIRFTEIZ
e EMia EEHR e B
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
firzE TET FET TR T
Chief executive and TRBERDTES:
executive directors:
Mr. Ma Jun SRkt @ 825 - 15 840
Mr. Li Yi Feng NIE S (b) 260 - - 260
Executive director: HOTES:
Mr. Chen Wei BEEE 930 - - 930
2,015 - 15 2,030
Non-executive director: FUTES:
Dr. Wang Yucan TEREL (© 91 - 4 95
Independent non-executive directors: B JFHITES:
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen ®REGuT 199 - - 199
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BAEXEE © 85 - - 85
Mr. Wong Tak Chun HERLE (d) 115 - - 115
Mr. Xu Jinghong HERLE 199 - - 199
598 - - 598
2,704 - 19 2,723
Notes: B 5E -

@ Resigned on 31 January 2019.

(o) Re-designated as an Executive Director on 31 January 2019 and
appointed as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer on 31 January
2019.

© Resigned on 3 September 2018.

d Appointed on 3 September 2018.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE-_Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

10. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
two were directors and the chief executive (2019: two) of the
Company whose remuneration are included in the disclosures in
note 9 above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2019: three)
individuals were as follows:

10. EE H W
RAEESSHEMALTE S BFX
NAMBEERITHRELHE (ZE—H
L) EBE RN E BN
B-HB -2 (ZE—AF:=H)A
+>HMmT

2020 2019

—EB-EHF —E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FEx FHET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fe R EEYHE 2,249 1,962
Employer’s contributions to defined FERTORINGT B2 B E MK

contribution retirement plans 45 54

2,294 2,016

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as
follows:

OB T HEZIFEERIFTHA
BemmHMEE Z ABMT:

No. of employee

BEAR
2020 2019
—E-EHF —ENF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0008 7T 1 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 75 £1,500,0007% 7T 2 -

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors of the
Company or five highest paid employees of the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

BE_ZT-_ZTHER-_F-NLF=A
ST-ALEFE AREEIERAAR
AEFREEHAKEERL L &K ME
BEXMME E/MAIRIMARE
B2 EE NERBERZAEE-
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11.

160

INCOME TAX CREDIT (EXPENSE)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in Bermuda.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EIT (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the subsidiaries registered in the PRC is 25% (2019: 25%)).

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the
year ended 31 March 2020 as the Group did not generate any
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (2019: Nil).

Land appreciation tax in the PRC is levied on properties developed
by the Group for sale, at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, which under the applicable
regulations is calculated based on the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including cost of land use
rights, borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

1. RrEHER (FX)

REBRERAINER AEEHA
BAERAREMBNR-

BEAEARLMBECEMER X
(IERBRZE]) REEMEBE
EHEGEN RPREFMzBBARZ
BEAE2E% (ZE—NE:25%) o

AR AEBRRFAEREEL EBEET
MERBREMN(ZFE—NLF:8) A
A EBEE-_E_EF=A=1+—H
EFEZEBRNESHTIRERE-

Bz L IRER A B RE
HEZWE - BRAETHZ A ENURE
HEI0%E60%H U ETHIREE
FTE WA & WD 5 P S BRIR A0 ER R F00R
RX (BRLHmEREXE - HEKX
AEMBMEZERAX)FERL -

2020 2019
—E-%F —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Deferred tax B IR
Current year REE (29,869) 7,443
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HE_T-TF=-A=+—HItFE
1. INCOME TAX CREDIT (EXPENSE) (continued) 1. IEHER (BIxX) (&)
The income tax (credit) expense for the year can be reconciled to KEREZFEH(BER) A EEE
the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss B RE M2 ®E 2 BB AT
and other comprehensive income as follows: B
2020 2019
—E-EHF —h&F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx T
Loss before tax bR AT E 18 (324,725) (260,854)
Tax at the applicable tax rates RERABETE 2 BIA (78,586) (65,214)
Tax effect of share of results attributable to B & A BIE(HEE 2R G T E
associates 1,097 495
Tax effect of non-taxable income DARMBAZBIETE (138)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR 2 G2 7,049 10,345
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences AR 2 Al FIRE T 288 2
not recognised Mg e = 8,901
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERZMIBBE MG E 43,083 57,819
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B ABAEARBERZHIBEEE
recognised (2,374) (4,903)
Income tax (credit) expense for the year REFZ 2 FEH (Ke) X (29,869) 7,443
At 31 March 2020, the Group has tax losses arising in Mainland RZEZZETF=H=+—H &K
China of approximately RMB713,340,000 (equivalent to SEEHEAMEEREERLDY
approximately HK$780,751,000) (2019: RMB631,545,000 AR®713,340,0007T (B E R4
(equivalent to approximately HK$736,255,000)) that will expire 780,751,000 ) (ZE— L F:
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. AR #631,545,0007T (HE R LD
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these 736,255,000 ) ) - BN —ERF
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss- A JE i DA A R 3 88 R 2R B ER Bl A o
making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable BERZEEEHECHREEE —REHE
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised. ZHBRARES  WRAETD KA RE

FERB S A AR IAE 18 - M
BRZEEEBRABELERBAEE
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11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (EXPENSE) (continued)

At 31 March 2020, the Group has deductible temporary differences
of approximately RMB166,574,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$182,315,000) (2019: RMB166,574,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$194,192,000)). No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it
is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

12. LOSS PER SHARE
(@) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the
following data

1. FIBSFHER (BX) (&)

TE2E_ZEHF=ZA=+—H"
AREBBAMBBEREZEOA
R#¥166,574,000T (HHERD
182,315,000 ) (=& — L F:
AR ®166,574,0007T (488 R4
194,192,000/8 7T ) ) - AR KA g
B FERR B M) 0] i $E 88 AT $0 05 BG BE =
B MNP BEZ S AT 0 R R R = AR
RIELERIBEBEE -

12. BREE
() BREAERE
SREREEIIRA TEIEHE

2020 2019
—E-EHF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss attributable to owners of KNFIHER AFEGEE

the Company (294,856) (268,297)
2020 2019
—BC-FF —EFNF

Weighted average number of TRz T8 (EA)
ordinary shares (basic) 23,336,687,255  23,336,687,255

(b) Diluted loss per share
For the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, basic loss per
share is the same as diluted loss per share as there are no
potential ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

13. DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of
any dividends in respect of the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019:
Nil).
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ME - BERRKRE
Leasehold Office  Furniture and Motor
Buildings  improvements equipment fixtures vehicles Total
BRR
BT HENEEE WK BE#E RE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
31 March 2020 ZECEE-fB=1-H
At 1 April 2019: RZB-NEMA-A:
Cost R 36,794 3,103 6,441 1,585 6,849 54,772
Accumulated depreciation 2TE (9,208) (1,721) (5,449) (920) (6,379) (23,677)
Net carrying amount ERFE 27,586 1,382 992 665 470 31,095
At 1 April 2019, RZE-NEWA-H"
net of accumulated depreciation NBREHE 27,586 1,382 992 665 470 31,095
Additions NE - 942 223 255 144 1,564
Disposal during the year ERLE - - (16) (14) (33) (63)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ ERHTERE (1,789) 017) (286) (218) (76) (3,280)
Exchange realignment BB (1,558) (85) (51) A1) (30) (1,765)
At 31 March 2020, R-E-ZF=A=+-H"
net of accumulated depreciation NBZmE 24,245 1,322 862 647 475 27,551
At 31 March 2020: R-E-ZFE-A=+-H:
Cost FX A 34,606 3,826 6,167 1,579 5,980 52,158
Accumulated depreciation 2iTE (10,361) (2,504) (5,305) (932) (5,505) (24,607)
Net carrying amount REFE 24,245 1,322 862 647 475 27,551
31 March 2019 “E-NE=ZR=1-8
At1 Apri 2018: W-2-)\EMA-R:
Cost FX AR 39,388 2,303 6,359 1,129 7,075 56,754
Accumulated depreciation 2TE (7,887) (1,000) (5,390) (791) (6,690) (21,758)
Net carrying amount RETE 31,501 1,803 969 338 385 34,996
At1 April 2018, W-2-)\EMA-R-
net of accumulated depreciation B 2HNE 31,501 1,803 969 338 385 34,996
Additions "E - 501 494 545 224 1,764
Depreciation provided during the year ~ ERHTERE (1905) (814) #13) (183) (110) (3425)
Exchange realignment ERAZ (2,010) (108) (58) (35) (29) (2,240)
At 31 March 2019, RZE-NE=A=+-H"
net of accumulated depreciation NBRZME 27,586 1,382 992 665 470 31,095
At 31 March 2019: RZE-NE=R=+-R:
Cost R 36,794 3,108 6,441 1,585 6,849 54,772
Accumulated depreciation 2HTE (9,208) (1721) (5,449) (920) (6,379 (23,677)
Net carrying amount REFE 27,586 1,382 992 665 470 31,095
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15.

164

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REYE
Under
Completed construction Total
5531 rE Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FTET FTET
FAIR VALUE AFE
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FMA—A 1,085,536 305,989 1,391,525
Additions NE 93,395 103,504 196,899
Increase (decrease) in fair value recognised in 1Bz #ER 2 N FEE AN
profit or loss (R) 6,255 (3,665) 2,590
Exchange realignment B R (74,894) (23,554) (98,448)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=+—H 1,110,292 382,274 1,492,566
Additions NE 2,968 57,693 60,661
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss 1B#&H #ER 2 A FER (136,785) (3,766) (140,551)
Exchange realignment B (63,683) (25,084) (88,767)
At 31 March 2020 RZBE-ZF=A=1—H 912,792 M1,117 1,323,909

All of the Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland
China.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2020 and 2019 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on that date by Avista Valuation Advisory Limited
(“Avista”), independent qualified professional valuers not connected
with the Group. Avista are members of the Institute of Valuers.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The valuation was arrived at by reference to market evidence of
transaction prices and rentals for similar properties in the similar
locations and conditions. Details of valuation techniques and
assumptions are discussed below. There has been no change from
the valuation technique used in the prior year. In estimating the fair
value of the property, the highest and best use of the property is its
current use.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified
valuers to perform the valuation. The management of the Group
works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

An analysis of the Group’s investment properties that are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value grouped into fair
value hierarchy level 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
fair value measurement is observable and the information about
how the valuation has been reached and the use of significant
unobservable inputs are as follows:

15. BEWE (&)

HEEES SRR KR Y
AUNERHBRAS 2 WH RS
B ET AR BRFER TXH
o b — TR M R R
FoRAENETATEG ENE
T BERBEEMHRTRE 2 E M
e

REFEESABENRFE A5 HE
BRI BERA ™IS A BR BIE - R e
RBF-—RBARE AKESXRE
EZhAERGEMETHRE KL
BEEERAERINE[BEMTIS
F ARERENBEIEARERE
ABIE -

AEERNNEBRRREATFENEL
REAFEAENBARBAERRE
ENRAFEERF=ZRIVENE
Z AR A B E B A E R ER
EATHEBEEGABEZERDT :

Relationship of
Valuation Significant Range of significant
Fair value Fairvalue asat31  technique unobservable unobservable unobservable
hierarchy March 2020 and key inputs inputs inputs inputs to fair value
R-2-%% EXFUBE TTER EXTUBEBALE
AVHEER ZAST-BRAVE RESERIEBAUE BAHE BAREEE BATEZEE
Commercial Investment Level 3 HK$613,249,000  Income Approach Discount rate 7.75% (2019: 7.5%) The higher the discount
Property A (completed) (2019: HK$791,695,000) per annum rate, the lower the fair
- by reference to forecasted net value
income discounted using a
market discount rate and Capitalisation rate 4.75% (2019: 4.5%) The higher the
capitalised income beyond per annum capitalisation rate, the
the forecast period lower the fair value
BEREMEA(BRI) £=8 6132490008  MAE nRE BETT5% nRkEE ATERE
(ZZ— 1% 1791,695,000 (ZB-NE:75%)
BL)  -2REATSAREARNEN
WAFERBREARNE BARfE BE475% ER s ATE

AEBA
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

15. REWE (&)

Relationship of
Valuation Significant Range of significant
Fair value Fairvalue asat 31  technique unobservable unobservable unobservable
hierarchy March 2020 and key inputs inputs inputs inputs to fair value
R-2=%% EXFUBE TIRR EXTUBEAARE
NTEER ZAZt-AZAYE HEFERIEZAAGE BAEE BABBEE BAVEZBE
Commercial Investment Level 3 HK$145,568,000  Market Comparison Approach Adjusted market price  RMB1,095 - RMB1,352 The higher the adjusted
Property B (2019: HK$161,930,000) (2019: RMB908 - market price, the
(under construction) - by reference to recent seling RMB1,734) per square higher the fair value
price of comparable metre
properties and adjusted to
reflect the time, size and
location of the property
BERANEB (AR E=f 14556800087 WIHLEA mBEnE BEARARK1006T  BHEETEER
(ZZ—N%:161,980,000 ZARH1,3527 AFEES
BL)  -2RANBNECHERNE (ZZ-nE:
HER AR 2B 5 ARBIBTE
BRib AREA,73470)
Commercial Investment Level 3 HK$299,543,000  Income Approach Fair market rent RMB4 - RMBS7 The higher the fair
Property C (completed) (2019: HK$318,597,000) (2019: RMB4 - market rent, the higher
- taking into account the current RMB110) the fair value
rents of the property per square metre
interests and the reversionary
potentials of the tenancies Term yield 5% (2019: 5%) per annum  The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value
Reversionary yield 5.5% (2019: 5.5%) per The higher the
annum reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value
BEREMEC(BRI) £=8 299543000 WA RTmEHES BYFRARBITE IRz kAN
(ZZ—N1% 318,597,000 ARSI NTESS
BL)  —HADEERCEFNHLNES (ZZ-nE:
ESE ARB4TE
ARBHOT)
Jiikiligags BE5% G leE Sty
(ZZ-NF:5%) ATEWE
BERa% BE55% EEREEEE
(ZZ-NEF:55%) RTEBE
Commercial Investment Level 3 HK$265,549,000  Market Comparison Approach Adjusted market price  RMB1,419 - RMB1,796 The higher the adjusted
Property D (2019: HK$220,344,000) (2019: RMB1,284 - market price, the
(under construction) - by reference to recent seling RMB1,768) per square higher the fair value
price of comparable metre
properties and adjusted to
reflect the time, size and
location of the property
BREENZD (BR) £=8 2655400008 WIHLEE HHETE BYRRARE MO BHEEDHELS
(ZZ—hf 220,344,000 ZARM1, 19T ATEES
Br)  -2RANEWE ABEELE (ZZ-NnEF:
HEBIARBNE 2R & AR¥1,284F
BRitE ARB1,7687T)
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. BEWE (&)
At 31 March 2020, the Group’s investment properties with a net RZEZEF=ZRA=+—H K&5H
carrying amount of HK$1,217,556,000 (2019: HK$1,381,655,000) B ™ F1E A1,217,556,000/& 7T (=
were pledged to secure certain bank and other borrowings (note T— N4 :1,381,655,000/87L) 2%
30) and amounts due to related parties (note 29) of the Group. EMECIERAEBRE FTRITRA
fth f8 3% (BT 5E30) & FE AT B8 5 3k 8
(MI7E29) 2 &4 -
16. LEASES 16. &
(i) Right-of-use assets () ERAEEE
31/3/2020 1/4/2019
—E-EH —E-NF
=HA=+-—H mAE—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Land T b 550,549 662,476
Buildings BF 3,356 5,478
553,905 667,954

As at 31 March 2020, right-of-use assets of HK$550,549,000
represents land use rights located in the PRC.

R-ZE-TFE=ZA=+—H8"
A& ES50,549,000/8 T8 L
R 2 i -
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16. LEASES (continued)

168

(i)

(i)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group has lease arrangement for office premises. The
lease term is three years at fixed rentals without any extension
or termination options.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, certain land use rights
with a carrying value of approximately HK$54,720,000 (2019:
nil) were reclassified to properties under development as a
result of changes of development plan.

As at 31 March 2020, right-of-use assets in respect of land
use rights amounting to HK$550,549,000 (1 April 2019:
HK$662,476,000) had been pledged to secure certain bank
and other borrowings (note 30) and amounts due to related
parties (note 29) to the Group.

16. HE (&)

(i)

EHAEEE (5)
AEERBAENETAHEER
- A=F M2BEE A
W BT E SRR R -

BE_Z-_TF=-A=+—HLt
FE BARBEHEIAFEEZ KB
BE# /54,720,000 7t (= =
—NF E)za T FERE

R—ZEBE-_ZEF=ZA=+—8"
T ERES R ZERBREE
550,549,000 T (= — &
IMmA—H:662,476,000/% 7T)
BEBAEEE THRITREAME
F(KMIFE30) R BT BEE /5 5 E

(M 5E29) 2 B -

Lease liabilities iy HEAE
31/3/2020 1/4/2019
—E-FF —TNF
=RB=+-—H mA—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current JEENEA 1,338 3,478
Current B HA 2,140 2,000
3,478 5,478
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BHE—

16. LEASES (continued)

(ii

(i)

Lease liabilities (continued)

Amounts payable under lease liabilities:

16. A& (&)
(ii)

HEESRE (®)

HERBEETENKEA

31/3/2020
—E-ZF
=A=+—H
HK$’000
FHEx
Within one year —F R 2,140
After one year but within two years —FEERFAN 1,338
3,478
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months J& : 121& A X B 28 1& k18 (2,140)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 128 A 1& B HAE 8 3B 1,338
Amounts recognised in profit or loss (i) ABERPEIAZ
Year ended
31/3/2020
BZE
—zo%E
=A=+-—H
LEFE
HK$’000
FET
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets FREEENERX
- Land — 1 17,233
— Buildings —EF 2,122
19,355
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEABEMNEMX 362
Others (iv) HAtb

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the total cash
outflows for leases including interest paid on lease liabilities
and payment of lease liabilities amounted to approximately

HK$2,362,000.

Ej@i_?_’yﬁz )EJ + EHJ:
FE -HAERenbRBE (A
HEaBzZEMNFBLREEAE
3 49 52,362,0007 7T °
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17. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 17. B Lt BERK

2019
—T-NF
HK$’000
FHET
Carrying amount at beginning of year REF 2 BREE 728,216
Amortised during the year TS P 8 (18,404)
Exchange realignment RIS (47,336)
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—HZEEE 662,476

Current portion included in prepayments, FTAENFIE e R EMmEWREIEZ
deposits and other receivables (note 25) BVHAER 5 (P 5E25) (17,777)
Non-current portion JEBNHAEE 644,699

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s leasehold land with a net carrying
amount of HK$662,476,000 was pledged to secure certain bank
and other borrowings (note 30) and amounts due to related parties
(note 29) of the Group.

Upon adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019, the carrying
amount of prepaid land lease payments of HK$662,476,000 was
reclassified to right-of-use assets.

R-E-hAhF=ZA=1+—B X&H
BRE % B /662,476,000 T2 HE
THEEAREERE TRITREME
(B RE30) K & 1+ B8 3 75 30 IA (B
iE29) 2 E e

RZE—NFNA—BEWNEETB
WEERFE16%E BN LHHEER
Z R (E662,476,0008 T2 B H
HETHRBEE-

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. R E QAR 2
2020 2019
—E-TF —ZE-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B &E FET FET
Share of net liabilities MR B EFE (48,690) (39,7593)
Amounts due from associates JiE LS BS: 25 N B SRIB (@) 98,233 127,767
49,543 88,014
Provision for impairment VEREREE (b) (31,129) (31,264)
18,414 56,750
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BHE—

18.

“EFZAZTHLFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

18. REtE N B 2R (&)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interest in the PR E IR - A% B R LA T I 3E @ A
following associates that are not individually material: BEAZEERNTIHEAEZ
Place of Proportion of nominal value of
incorporation/ paid-up capital by the Group
establishment and Class of and portion of voting power Principal
Name Form of entity operation equity held held indirectly activities
EMARL RIR i AREfEHERAHEELS
A8 1 3% Fq-giuk B ER REEEEZRERELS TEXH
2020 2019
—g-8F  —T A5
Champ Wisdom Limited Limited liability company BvVI Registered 50% 50% Investment
(“Champ Wisdom”) capital holding
BEER ARG ([FHE]) EREMLA KBRS BRUTIEN 50% 50% #HEER
Champ Wisdom Holdings Limited Limited liability company Hong Kong Registered 50% 50% Investment
(Subsidiary of Champ Wisdom) capital holding
BEERERAR (BEZMBEAR) BREMLA B Bl 50% 50% REER
Huailai Dayi Wineries Company Limited  Limited liability company The PRC Registered 50% 50% Property
(Subsidiary of Champ Wisdom) capital development
BRA-BEELEERAA BREMERAT HE ERlileN 50% 50% MERE
(BRzHBARE)
Chuang Yao Limited (‘Chuang Yao”) Limited liability company BVI Registered 42% 42% Investment
capital holding
BIBERNA ([8112]) BREEAT RBELHS P ARA 42% 42% REER
Chuang Yao Holdings Limited Limited liability company Hong Kong Registered 42% 42% Investment
(Subsidiary of Chuang Yao) capital holding
AIRERER AR (RIEZMBRR) BRELAA B BRUTEN 42% 42% BEER
Globe Outlet Town (Jilin) Limited Limited liability company The PRC Registered 42% 42% Property
(Subsidiary of Chuang Yao) capital development
ERRRRAERZEMNAERRE BREERF HE Bl 42% 42% MERE
(BlEzHBRR)
Cosmos View Holdings Limited Limited liability company BvI Registered 50% 50% Investment
(“Cosmos View”) capital holding
REERERAR ([ER]) BREERAT RBRLES ERIEN 50% 50% HEER
Richly Field Nanchang Holdings Ltd. Limited liability company Hong Kong Registered 50% 50% Investment
(Subsidiary of Cosmos View) capital holding
HEEERRERAA EREMLA B BRUTIEN 50% 50% HEER
(ERZMBAR)
Jiangxi Globe Qutlets City Co., Ltd. Limited liability company The PRC Registered 50% 50% Property
(Subsidiary of Cosmos View) capital development
IRRRRS BT MRERAR EREMELA HE BRUTIEN 50% 50% MERE
(RRzMERR)
TECEFFR HWHEPEREERALA 171
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REt&E ARl 2 &= (&)
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually BRI ~TEKREE QNG ZEEER:
material:

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET

Aggregate carrying amount of individually eV BHmERANERN S EXREE

immaterial associates in the consolidated NAEIZEAEAEE

financial statements 18,414 56,750
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of ARNEBELZZHENF 2

those associates’ BETEE

Loss from continuing operations REBFEEEER BB (4,390) (1,982)

Other comprehensive expense HEih 2 MY (4,547) (1,924)
Total comprehensive expense e (8,937) (3,906)

Notes:

172

@)

Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no
fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
these balances are considered as quasi-equity investments in the
associates.

Globe Outlet Town (ilin) Limited (“Jiin Company”) is principally engaged
in a property development project in Changchun, Jilin Province, the PRC.
At 31 March 2020, the Group had an amount due from Jilin Company
of HK$69,781,000 (2019: HK$99,864,000). Although Jiin Company
had been making losses and recorded net liabilities at 31 March 2020
and 2019, in view of steady development of property project with partial
completion of structural development by Jilin Company during the year
ended 31 March 2020 and the future prospects of this project, no further
impairment loss (2019: Nil) was provided for the year ended 31 March
2020. At 31 March 2020, an aggregate impairment loss on investment in
Jilin Company of HK$8,927,000 (2019: HK$9,611,000) was recognised.
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BEEERH - AAREERR ZEMHEH
BB E N B 2 AU E -

EMEERATE R BT IIRBR QD
AIEMRARANDEERFEEFMRE R
EMHREMEREBE-R_ZE_F
FZAZ+—B AEEEERSHA
A7 IB69,781,000/8 T (=T — NLF :
99,864,000/ L) - B EET MR G —ERE
RETEREE  WR BB FN_FT—H
FZA=T—HSBAEFH ERERE
TE-TFEZAZ+—ALFEEHA
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R R T RZIEE AR S REZE
TECEFEZAC+ R FETEE
—SREREEE(ZE—hF &) -
R-ZTE-TE=A=1+—H HERKEE
&R E) 2R E 518 42%8 58,927,000
B (ZF—NF:9,611,00087T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
O IRZE Mt

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE-_Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(o) (continued)

Jiangxi Globe Outlets City Co., Ltd. (“Jiangxi Outlets”) is principally
engaged in a property development project in Nanchang, Jiangxi
Province, the PRC (the “Jiangxi Outlets Brand Discount City Project”). At
31 March 2020, the Group had an amount due from Jiangxi Outlets of
approximately HK$11,780,000 (2019: HK$11,067,000) and an aggregate
impairment loss on investment in Jiangxi Outlets of approximately
HK$5,530,000 (2019: HK$4,817,000) was recognised as at 31 March
2020.

Huailai Dayi Wineries Company Limited (‘Huailai Dayi”) is principally
engaged in a property development project in Huailai, Hebei Province, the
PRC (the “Huailai Dayi Project”). At 31 March 2020, the Group had an
amount due from Huailai Dayi of approximately HK$16,672,000 (2019:
HK$16,836,000) and an aggregate impairment loss on investment in
Huailai Dayi of approximately HK$16,672,000 (2019: HK$16,836,000)
was recognised as at 31 March 2020.

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity
shares held by the Company.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of
associates, Champ Wisdom, Cosmos View and their subsidiaries,
because the share of losses of the associates exceeded the
Group’s interest in the associate. The amounts of the Group’s
unrecognised share of losses of these associates for the current
year and cumulatively were approximately HK$30,000 (2019:
HK$9,000) and HK$6,151,000 (2019: HK$6,520,000), respectively.

18. REtE N B 2R (&)

BMisE: (&)
b (&)

PRI Z BTN AER AR ([T
PR T ZRPBTIAER S
M EWEERER (NIERISHRE
ZREFTMHIBE ) - HNZEZZTF = A
=+—B ANEEAEEKT R
FRIE#911,780,000/8 7T (— T — A 4F -
11,067,000 L) " WER T _TF =
A=+ —HEREEN T A BEFHE
2B E 18 48 495,530,000 T (=&
— L 4,817,000/ 7T ) °

BRA—BEEHEEERAR ([MZRK
— ) EERFEATIL B ERYE ) ER
RIEE ([BRKXK—EE]) -RZZE=F
FZAZ+—B AEEEERRERK
—RIBHI16,672,000/8 7T ( —E—HF:
16,836,000 7C)  WER =T -FF =
A=+ —B@REERERK—ZRE
5 18 48 5 4916,672,0008 7L (— T — A,
£ 116,836,000/ 7T) °

REEBRBE QR ZREHHARF
WA ZEmR AKX

AEBERIEEREGLGHZE AT
B EEENBRAAIZER R
EhAEMZEBLERAAZEEE B
BEASEERZEHBE AR ZER -
AFEEAEEHMAEREMLZEH
BRI ZEBRRSRED ALY
30,0008 L (=& — LF 19,0008
7T ) %6,151,0008 L (=& — N F -
6,520,000 7T ) °
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19. FINANCIAL ASSET DESIGNATED AT FVTOCI

19. EERAFEFAHMEZEIK

mZEBMEE
2020 2019
—ECERHF —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Unlisted equity investment LR ERE 2,724 2,724

The above unlisted equity investment represents investment in
unlisted equity securities issued by a private entity incorporated
in Hong Kong which is engaged in operation of trampoline park
business in the PRC. At 31 March 2020, there was no open market
for such investment and the directors of the Company consider that
the marketability of the Group’s shareholdings in such investment is
low. Such investment was therefore stated at cost less impairment.

The investment is not held for trading. Instead, it is held for medium
to long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company have elected to designate the investment in unlisted
equity investment as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising
short-term fluctuations in the investment'’s fair value in profit or loss
would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding the
investment for long-term purposes and realising its performance

potential in the long run.

The fair value measurement of the investment is disclosed in note

40(e).
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20. GOODWILL 20. B8
2020 2019
—ECEF ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
Cost: P

At beginning of the year REA) 116,650 124,878
Exchange realignment PE 3% (7,134) (8,228)
At end of the year NG N 109,516 116,650

Accumulated impairment losses: 2FTREEE
At beginning of the year NG - -
Impairment loss EEE 1R - -
At end of the year RER - -
Net carrying amount REFE 109,516 116,650

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
the cash-generating unit of Qinhuangdao Project for impairment
testing.

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering project life of a five-
year period approved by board of directors at a pre-tax discount
rate of 10% (2019: 10%). Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 3%. Based on
the impairment assessment made, no impairment on the goodwill
as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 is considered necessary.

HEBETZRENR
BREBEHBAZABEARES
EREHEAZHSELEEN  LETR
=R

BeELEuzA BB IRE
AERBeRERANFEZEREER
B MReREFMNIRELES
SENCEBEFHAFHVBRE
BRBEAMFTREI0% (ZFT—NF:
10%)FE - BHAFHZRERE
ER3%hrt B R EXHER -RIEME
HemEMH R_E_ZEFR_F
—NE=A=+—RH BEAELEHE
B E
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BHE—

—EREZA=+—RALFE

20. GOODWILL (continued)

21.

176

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The following describes the key assumptions on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risk relating to the cash generating unit.

Budgeted selling price and construction costs — The basis used
to determine the budgeted selling prices and construction costs
is based on the latest market information and expected market
trends.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on discount rate and
budgeted gross margins are consistent with external information
sources.

20. & (/)

HEEETZRERNR (8
TXwmllEEERAMEEHITHENHR
MEHIRERETERNTKREDEZR
=5
WTHEE-FEBZHBESBHRB AL
IR ELEENU 2 BB ERRE-

BEEERZZKA-RARBEERE
’%E&@ AR BEETIAZH T 5
EMREHRMEBE SRIE-

FRERBREENETZETZHRIHBE
B HMN R E B AR — B

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 21. ZEW=E
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FExT TFAT
Properties under development fEEYHE 2,294,377 1,804,630
Properties under development expected ERYERAHNETEER
to be completed within HIASE
normal operating cycle:
Within one year —F N 128,231 434,759
After one year —Fi& 2,166,146 1,369,871
2,294,377 1,804,630

At 31 March 2020, the Group’s properties under development
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$293,136,000 (2019:
HK$272,660,000) were pledged to secure for certain bank and
other borrowings (note 30) and amounts due to related parties
(note 29) of the Group.
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22. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALES 22. H{EHE2R T WX
2020 2019
el el ¥:3 —E—hE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Completed properties held for sales BEHE 2R TYZ 97,589 98,556

During the year ended 31 March 2020, a write-down on completed
properties held for sales to their net realisable value amounted to nil
(2019: approximately HK$35,604,000) was recognised in profit or

ME-F-FF=A=+—ALF
B ERIEE BRSNS ZRT
MEBAERARRFEE (- F

loss. — L6 #935,604,000/8 7T ) °
23. INVENTORIES 23. FE
2020 2019
—E-FEHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Finished goods — fashion wears BIRY o — B 25 R B &
and accessories - -
24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24, FEURBRFX
2020 2019
—ECEHF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FExT FAET
Rental receivables FEWHE & 4,509 1,128
Rental recognised using the straight-line FRESEIERZESR
method 4,480 13,831
Total et 8,989 14,959

The Group does not hold any collateral over its trade receivables.

AREEY EHRERBURFRFTEEAE

#m e
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24,

178

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An aged analysis of the rental receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

24, EWERF (&)

NBEZEHMAEE BRESKRHSE
HIRZBREOITT -

2020 2019
—E-%F —TNF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FET

Within one year —FR 4,509 234
More than one year —FLAE - 894
4,509 1,128

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables
are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based
on a provision matrix grouped by the past due status of these
receivables. However, no loss allowance was made on these
receivables as the identified impairment loss is immaterial.
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25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

25. MAFIR - RERH LB

RECEIVABLES b1 |

2020 2019

—BEF —T-hF

Notes HK$’000 HK$000

B &E FET FEIT

Other receivables H b & YRR @) 22,618 19,303
Less: impairment of other receivables B Bt FE UK IE 2 R E (4,219) (4,494)
18,399 14,809

Other prepayments H b B IE 10,356 16,069
Prepaid construction costs TERTREEE A AR () 145,662 114,551
Deposits Bme 3,358 2,545
Amount due from a related party JE U B 3 5 FR ©) 32,215 30,171
Prepaid land lease payments TEfT L E - 17,777
209,990 195,922

CECREEE WHTEARRERLF 179



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
O TS IREMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. A HIE  RERAMLERK

RECEIVABLES (continued) 3 (#)

Notes: B3 -

(@  The Group recognised ECL for other receivables based on individually @ AEEREEREAEYRIESLER R
significant debtor or the ageing of balances collectively that are not TERZ ERBHERIRICHERR 2 B fh eI
individually significant as follows: FOHZ FEHIE BRSBTS

Average Gross

expected carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance

FHEHERE REAE BiRRE

% HK$ 000 HK$’000

% FAET FAET

For the year ended 31 March 2020: BHE_Z-_TF=A=+—H
IEFE:
Other receivables — Performing At FEUGRIE — FE 4V * 18,399 -
Other receivables — Default H e TR — B A 100 4,219 4,219
22,618 4,219
For the year ended 31 March 2019: HE_Z-NWF=A=+—H
IEFE:

Other receivables — Performing HEfEWIE-EL * 14,809 -
Other receivables — Default HibEWRIE— L 100 4,494 4,494
19,303 4,494

* For the year ended 31 March 2020, the remaining balance * HE-_T-_TF=A=1+—HILFE"
of other receivables of approximately HK$18,399,000 (2019: 7 4918,399,0008 T (= F — L4 -
HK$14,809,000), it has low risk of default or there has not been 14,809,000/ 7T ) #) ELAth JE U 70 IE B EE
significantly increase in credit risk since initial recognition and T ERANRBERENEERR B S
therefore no impairment has been recognised. T B2 LA SR I 48 B 3 0 - B b I AR RE AR

-
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25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

@)

25. A E

RIE - e R HAEREK

I8 (&)
MisE: ()

(continued) @ (&)
The movement of impairment of other receivables is as follows: HMEUGRIBE 2 REZE T
12-month Lifetime ECL -
ECL credit impaired Total
ZHTE
1218 A B8 EEEE
FEEE —=8RE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAET FAT FAET
At 1 April 2018 R-Z—\&EmA—A - 4,811 4,811
Exchange realignment P& 5 S - 317) 317)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 A\—E-NF=A=+—HBK
—E-AFWNA—H - 4,494 4,494
Exchange realignment E X8 - ©@75) ©@75)
At 31 March 2020 WZZEZZFE=A=+—H - 4,219 4,219
At 31 March 2020 and 2019, the balance represented prepaid (b) EC_/;—E_ TERZT-NF=ZR=+—
construction costs to subcontractors for the development of property H - &5 8R18 ?JEF%@%"EP Bl Y218 B W5
projects in the PRC. @FE%HZL ERA o
At 31 March 2020, included in prepaid construction costs are balances RZTEZZEF=A=+—RH B2
due from related parties of approximately HK$26,568,000 (2019: BEKAPDEBETERZEHD
HK$1,220,000). 26,568,000/ 7T ( —F — FL4F : 1,220,000
PEIL) ©
The balance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Mr. © HHAEER 2ENEREREE A

Wang Hua (“Mr. Wang”), a substantial shareholder of the Group, is also
the controlling shareholder of the related party.

The directors of the Company consider that there is no significant
expected credit losses associated with the amount due from the
related party as there is no recent history of default or there has not
been a significant increase in credit risk since intitial recognition and no
impairment loss has been recognised.

CECREEE WHTEARRERLF
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26.

27.

182

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The interest rates on the cash at bank ranged from 0.01% to
0.35% (2019: 0.01% to 0.385%) per annum.

At 31 March 2020, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in Renminbi amounted to approximately
RMB23,808,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$26,058,000
(2019: RMB63,097,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$73,558,000)). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

TRADE PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

26.

27.

ReERkBAESEMm

RITBEESZ2FMENT0.01%=E
0.35% (ZFE—NF:0.01%=
0.385% ) °

R-_E-_ZEF=A=+—H K&
EUARBIEZRS RIEITEH
4/ AR ®23,808,0007 (% R
4926,058,0008 T) (= Z— L%
AR #63,097,0007T (HERH
73,558,0008 L) ) c AR B T8 H
AABAEMEYE BREPBEANI
ZHNEEIBIGN R EE SERMNE
EEBT AEEEEEBRELS
INEEBZBITHARELBRABHEM

FE A4S BR K

NBEZEBMAEE BNRANXRHS
HRzERERTAT:

2020 2019

s —TNF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Within one year —FRr 935,264 520,324
One to two years —EWE 18,695 127,345
Over two years 780 W 110,695 53,715
1,064,654 701,384

The Group has financial risk management policies to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit time frame.
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/

28. HittENRERENER &

CONTRACT LIABILITIES HnaE
2020 2019
—EB-EHF —E-NEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FEx FHET
Other deposits received Hih 2 Wiz 4 66,014 20,203
Other payables B FIR 114,576 137,581
Interest payables FETFIE 122,361 80,918
Deferred income EEWA (o) 407,917 434,490
Accruals fEEtE A 11,702 15,503
722,570 688,695
2020 2019
—E-EHF —EF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B & FHEx FHET
Analysed for reporting purpose: BREBRBNDSNA:
Current portion BRERER 2 661,541 623,691
Non-current portion FEBNEREL
Deferred income EEWA (o) 61,029 65,004
722,570 688,695
2020 2019
—EBEF —ZE-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
BT FET FET
Contract liabilities SHEE @) 401,145 176,019
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Notes:

184

@)

Contract liabilities include advanced receipts and deposits received from
customers to transfer completed properties to them.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March 2020 that was
included in the contract liabilities as at 1 April 2019 amounted to
approximately HK$99,272,000 (2019: HK$233,027,000). There was
no revenue recognised in the current year that related to performance
obligations that were satisfied in prior year.

Balance represented government subsidies of approximately
HK$407,917,000 (2019: HK$434,490,000) received from the Finance
Bureau of Changli County, Qinhuangdao, Hebei Province to support the
development of the Qinhuangdao Project.

Pursuant to a business plan approved by management during the
year ended 31 March 2018, the Qinhuangdao Project commenced
pre-construction work and approximately HK$61,029,000 (2019:
HK$65,004,000) of the deferred income is expected to offset future
construction costs of investment properties and is therefore classified as a
non-current liability.
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29. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 29. BERNBELNE
2020 2019
—EEF —E-hnF
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
P 5 FET FET
JeShing Real Estate Group Company CPRBEXERESEBBRAR
Limited (“JeShing”) ([eREZE]) @), (b), (©) 262,015 206,463
LERE M R EBR AR (VLERIE &MY LERE B BB R A A
(II#REHR]) (b) 22,360 22,941
HMRFE—RETRREEFGRAA MRE—RETREEE
(FEARE BRAR (ARE—]) (o) 249,186 252,767
LEREERERN(LB)BERAR HMEREEERELR(LE)
(‘B [E") BRAR ([4E]) (@) 1,724 1,837
HRSRERREMSLEER HARSRERREMS
ERAAE (BRESEEEXRE LEEBERNA]
([EREBRBBERE]) ©) 303,882 298,006
Total 5t 839,167 782,014
Current portion B ER &L 7 (413,968) (98,438)
Non-current portion JEBNERER 7> 425,199 683,576
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FHET
Carrying amount repayable (based on ATEENEREDE (REER S
scheduled repayment dates set out v BEERBEME)
in the loan agreements)
Within one year —FR 413,968 98,438
In the second year £ F 425,199 683,576
839,167 782,014
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29. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

(continued)

186

Notes:

@)

On 1 September 2017, JeShing entered into a loan agreement
with the Group, pursuant to which JeShing granted a loan facility of
RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$328,350,000) for a
term of 2 years. On 28 June 2018, JeShing entered into a supplementary
agreement with the Group and had granted additional loan facility of
RMB700,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$766,150,000). The
balance is unsecured and interest bearing at 5% per annum.

During the year ended the 31 March 2019, the Group had signed an
extension agreement with JeShing to extend the repayment date to
beyond 31 March 2020.

During the year ended the 31 March 2020, the Group had signed an
extension agreement with JeShing to extend the repayment date to
beyond 31 March 2021.

As at 31 March 2020, principal amount of approximately
RMB103,150,000 (equivalent to HK$112,898,000) (2019: approximately
RMB52,765,000 (equivalent to HK$61,514,000)) was utilised by the
Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, an entrusted loan agreement was
entered into among JT & Z£ £ (as the entrusting party), JeShing (as the
entrusting party), B3R 25 — (as the entrusting party), a lending bank (as
the lender) and the Group (as the borrower). Pursuant to the entrusted
loan agreement, a loan of principal amount of RMB301,800,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$330,320,000) was provided to the
Group with maturity date on 30 May 2019. Mr. Wang is also the
controlling shareholder of JL# ¥4, JeShing and R % —. During
the year ended the 31 March 2019, the Group had signed an extension
agreement with JT & 2 &, JeShing and ® R 5 — to extend the
repayment date to beyond 31 December 2020.
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29. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

(continued)

The balance is secured by the Group’s right-of-use assets (2019:
prepaid land lease payments), investment properties and properties
under development in Qinhuangdao with a carrying amount of
HK$401,931,000, HK$265,549,000 and HK$86,540,000 respectively
(2019: HK$441,924,000, HK$220,343,000 and HK$76,809,000),
carrying interest ranging from 5.7% to 6.19% (2019: 5.7% to 6.19%) per
annum.

Included an amount due to JeShing of HK$1,320,000 which is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand as at 31 March 2020
and 2019.

Amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand as at
31 March 2020 and 2019. Mr. Wang is a controling shareholder of this
related company.

On 2 December 2016, MR & K BIEKE entered into a loan
agreement with the Group, pursuant to which E R & B BEERE
granted a loan facility of RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$328,350,000) for a term of 3 years. The balance is secured by
certain of the Group’s investment properties with a carrying amount
of HK$522,452,000 (2019: HK$674,478,000) and interest bearing
ranging from 8.5% to 9.5% per annum. Mr. Wang is also the controlling
shareholder of F R B KE. Durng the year ended 31 March
2019, the Group had signed an extension agreement with & 2= & B%[H
B E to extend the repayment date to beyond 31 March 2020. During
the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group had signed an extension
agreement with B R B K E to extend the repayment date to
beyond 31 March 2021.

29. FERBEE S RKIE (4)

fiaE: (&)

)

CECREEE WHTEARRERLF

(&)

EHAAEBZFEREEE(ZE—N
FREMLHWHEER) REZ2EZE
BEMERERYERE EEAED
A401,931,00078 Jt ~ 265,549,000/
7T 186,540,000 7T (=& — L& :
441,924,0007 7T » 220,343,000 7T
76,809,000/ 7T.) - N F5.7%%E
6.19% ( —F—NF :5.7%%6.19% ) Z
FRIRFE -

BRER-ZZE-ZZTEFR-_ZT—NLF=A
=+ —HENESERE % 2 5IH1,320,000
BT BT AR 68 MIREK

fsg-

R -TFER - T-NF=ZA=1+—
B ZIBAEIRE 28 MREREE-
ThABHBERT 2R

RZZE—RE+-_A-H BmRLEH
SR EEAREE T B Bt /@
R BRBEBRERER D ARE300,000,000
JC (#8 8 M #9328,350,0008 L) 2 &
B B =F -EHALREEER
8 £522,452,0008 L (ZF — NL%F:

674,478,000/ 70) 2 & TR E W EEIK
A RIEN F8E5%EIL% L FEF KR &

ThRENBEREBREBEREMIZRAR
H-HE_ZT-AE=ZA=+—RHItF
EoAEBEEReRERREEEL
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. st EMITREME K
BORROWINGS
2020 2019
o33 —E-NE
Contractual Contractual
interest HK$'000 interest HK$'000
aRFE TET BHF% TEL
Current b
Bank loans - secured FITEF-BHER (note o) 8%-10% 272,257 8%-10% 1,107,510
(FtzEe)
Bank loans - unsecured RITEF—EER 6.53% 10,945 6.53% 11,658
Other loans - secured HEi g5 gHm (note d) = 11% 34,974
(Wizkd)
Other loans - unsecured HipER—mEA 6.4%-36% 41,729 6.4%-36% 38,677
324,931 1,192,819
Non-current FEE
Bank loans - secured ROTER-HHEA (note ¢) 8%-10% 757,339 -
(FtzEe)
Other loans - secured HeEF-BHA (note d) 11%-11.5% 295,515 11%-11.5% 279,792
(Fizkd)
1,052,854 279,792
Analysed into: BUTERIDH
Bank loans repayable based on AR ERHE I ETER
scheduled repayment dates in AHEEZRITER:
loan agreements:
Within one year —FR 283,202 1,119,168
In the second year FF 532,782 -
In the third to fifth years E-ZERF 224,557 -
1,040,541 1,119,168
Other loans repayable based on ~ ERREHHE 2 ETER
scheduled repayment dates in AHERC EMER:
loan agreements:
Within one year —FR 41,729 73,651
In the second year BCE - 279,792
In the third to fifth years E-EERF 295,515 -
337,244 353,443

188
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. A EMITREMMER (&)
BORROWINGS (continued)
Certain bank and other borrowings of the Group are secured by AEBETRITIMEMERBEAEE
assets of the Group with net carrying amounts as listed below: RHFEN TN 2EERA:
2020 2019
—ECEHF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Investment properties REME 429,555 486,834
Right-of-use assets/prepaid land EREEE, T L ER
lease payments 148,618 220,552
Properties under development EEWME 206,596 195,851
784,769 903,237
Notes: B 5
@@  The Group’s banking facilities amounting to HK$1,040,541,000 (@  AEERITENE &1,040,541,0007 7T
(2019: HK$1,119,168,000), of which HK$1,040,541,000 (2019: (ZZ—Hh%:1,119,168,000/ 7T ) *
HK$1,119,168,000) had been utilised as at 31 March 2020. RZEZEF=A=+—HEHAH

1,040,541,0008 0 (—Z & — L5 :
1,119,168,000/8 7T ) °

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group’s bank facilities were further ) RZZEZZEFR=_FT-NF=ZA=+—
secured by: B AEEZRITHBHERN T SIHE—
A
. a corporate guarantee executed by JeShing; . CERBEBERIHDAIER:
. a personal guarantee executed by Mr. Wang; and . FREETHBEAEZR: &
. a corporate guarantee executed by IR & EBIBXRE, a . AReRERRE (FEERE
company which Mr. Wang is a controlling shareholder. ERRR)EIH R EER
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

190

©

During the year ended 31 March 2020, in respect of bank borrowings
with a principal amount of RMB940,700,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,029,596,000) as at 31 March 2020, the Group entered into
an extension agreement in October 2019, in which the due dates
thereof have been extended to 30 June 2020, 30 June 2021 and
30 June 2022 for repayment of RMB263,426,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$283,320,000), RMB486,781,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$532,782,000) and RMB205,169,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$224,557,000) together with all accrued interest
respectively. Subsequent to the reporting period, the Group failed to
repay approximately RMB263,426,000 in June 2020 and breached the
repayment terms. Pursuant to the terms of the loan agreement, the bank
has a discretionary right to demand immediate full repayment of the
outstanding principal of RMB940,700,000 together with the estimated
unpaid interest of RMB85,247,000. The directors of the Company
had commenced negotiation of the repayment terms of loan with the
banker since then. The directors of the Company are confident that their
negotiations with the bank will ultimately reach a successful conclusion.

The other loan represented a loan with a principal amount of
RMB270,000,000 of which RMB30,000,000 was due in April 2019
and was in default since April 2019 until in June 2019, the Group
entered into a supplementary agreement with the lender to extend the
repayment term of the entire outstanding principal of RMB270,000,000
and all relevant accrued interest to June 2022, pursuant to the terms
of the supplementary agreements, the Group was required to place
RMB123,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$134,624,000) as
pledged deposit on or before 30 June 2020. However, the Group failed
to make the required pledged deposit on or before 30 June 2020.
Pursuant to the terms of the supplementary agreement, the lender has a
discretionary right to demand immediate full repayment of the outstanding
principal of RMB270,000,000 together with the unpaid interest of
RMB12,142,000. The directors of the Company had commenced
negotiation of the repayment terms of loan with the lender since then.
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31.

NOTES PAYABLE

On 30 October 2015, the Company, Mr. He Dazhao (“Mr. He"), a
former substantial shareholder of the Company (the “Subscriber”)
and Mr. Wang (the “Guarantor”) entered into the agreement in
relation to the issue of the convertible note in the principal amount
of HK$130,000,000 with 7% coupon rate. The whole or part of the
convertible note shall be redeemed by the Company in stages with
a final maturity date on 30 April 2016 (the “Initial Maturity Date”)
(or such other date as the Company and the Subscriber agree in
writing).

Convertible note in the principal amount of HK$130,000,000 was
issued by the Company to the Subscriber on 13 November 2015.

In the event that the Company defaults in redemption on the
relevant redemption date or events of default occurs, the
Subscriber will have the right to convert the whole or part of the
principal amount of the convertible note into conversion shares up
to a maximum of 1,300,000,000 shares, and any remaining balance
of the convertible note will be redeemed by the Company.

The fair value of the liability component of the convertible notes
was calculated using cash flows discounted at a rate based on
the interest rate of 7%. Upon initial recognition, the fair value of
liability component of the convertible notes is HK$130,000,000 and
attributing to the equity component the residual amount of nil.

The Group had not redeemed any of the convertible note up to
the Initial Maturity Date. On 13 January 2017, the Group and Mr.
He entered into a deed of amendment to extend the maturity date
to 31 March 2017 and limit a fixed period of time for conversion
between 1 April 2017 to 31 December 2017 in the event that
any outstanding principal amount of the convertible note is not
redeemed by the Company as at 31 March 2017. The amendment
of the terms of the convertible note had been accounted for as a
continuation of the original convertible note. As at 31 March 2017,
convertible note with principal amount and accrued interest of
approximately HK$110,863,000 remained outstanding.

31.
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31. NOTES PAYABLE (continued)

192

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group had redeemed
convertible note of HK$30,000,000 and no convertible note were
converted into ordinary shares of the Company. In addition, no
further amendments to the convertible notes had been made. As
at 31 March 2018, the notes payable is due for repayment and
conversion right has expired.

Starting from 1 April 2018, the interest rate of the liability
component of the convertible notes was increased to 10% as a
penalty interest and further increased to 20% on 1 July 2018.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group had made
a repayment of approximately HK$107,339,000 (2019:
HK$3,427,000) to fully settle the notes payable.

The movements of the carrying amount of the notes payable for the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 were set out below:

31.

EAEE (&)

BHz_2-N\NF=ZA=Z+—H
EFE - AEEEMDRDBRKEIER
30,000,000/ T & I & 7] 2 g &
B AARRNB 2 E@BBK- I W
ERARBREBIELHE BT R
—E-NFZA=+—8B ENEE
BRHEERERED D Ho

B \FHA-BE THRE
BREES 2 AR REEE10% -
ER-F-—N\FLBE—AE—SHE
20% -

BHE - T -_ZF=ZA=+—HItHF
[§ AREEEHERL107,339,000/8
T (=ZZF— NF:3,427,0008 L)
NEREEEEMNZE-

BE_Z_ZTER_FT-NAF=A
S+ ALFREZENREBRZERE
ZEHEINWT

HK$’'000

FHET

As at 1 April 2018 RZE—NFMHA—H 88,114

Repayment during the year FARERK (3,427)

Effective interest charged during the year FRWELZ BREF S 8,784
As at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 ATE—NEFE=ZA=+—HE

—E-AFHA—H 93,471
Repayment during the year FRER (107,339)
Effective interest charged during the year FRWE 2 BEEFE 13,868

As at 31 March 2020

JrA

F=A=+—H -
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32. PROVISIONS

32. 1%

2020 2019

—E-FF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FExT FHET

At 1 April R A—H 6,745 7,221

Exchange realignment [ A 5 (413) (476)

At 31 March R=A=+—H 6,332 6,745
Notes: M 5E -

(@  From 2011 and 2012, the Group entered into a number of lease @ BZE——FR-_ZT—_Fi KAEE

agreements (the “Tenancy Agreements”) with its tenants in relation to the
lease of certain shop premises developed under the Changsha Project.
Pursuant to certain Tenancy Agreements, the shop premises shall be
ready for lease during the period from August 2011 to May 2012.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the PRC government launched
a series of adjustment measures and policies to control the property
market. These regulatory control measures and policies caused the
slowdown in the presale of the properties under development of the
Changsha Project, which in turn added pressure on the Group’s capital
requirement and further resulted in the slowdown in the construction
progress of the Changsha Project. As the results of the pre-sale of the
properties under development of the Changsha Project were below the
expectation of the Group, during the year ended 31 March 2012, the
Group made certain adjustments to the original design of the Changsha
Project, which included among others, adjustments to the floor design
of a certain residential portion, and the allocation of the floor area among
the residential portion, the commercial portion and the facilities, to mest
the local demand. These adjustments, which required the approval from
the relevant local government authorities, also affected the construction
progress of the Changsha Project. As the construction of the Changsha
Project was behind the original schedule, during the year ended 31
March 2012, the Group was not able to deliver the shop premises to
a number of tenants according to the agreed timetable set out in the
Tenancy Agreements. Pursuant to the Tenancy Agreements, the tenants
could terminate the agreements and/or claim against the Group for the
delay in the delivery of the shop premises on the basis of loss incurred or
the number of days delayed.

EEBPHESHEEETEE#R2ET
MUz HEER Y ZREE R ([HE

W l) - RIpE THEWZE

BRI

BAR—E——FN\RE=-ZT—=-F1A

HIR A HAEE -

REBEE-Z——"H=A=+—HIF
B P EBAHEL T — R0 BB
RIRE AR HIEET S - W EREHE
MR BEEREDRBERYEZR
Bk RASEESTRILRENL
E—FPEYRPABNTIREZRE -
HREDPHEBEEZYMEZAEKAR
RAREEY RBEE-_T——F=H
=t—BLEFE FAEEHHEDIAR
ZRERHELETHE EhaEH

BETEEHHNF DR URES

o RAEBD MEEZEETDEEN
BRE NHDAEE R EHARTE
B AR BT R A P ERRDIE
EMIREE - EAPIEE ITREER
REFIRER REE-F—=—F=A
=t+—HIEFE AREELREER
HFEZEHERRRAZERPR
M- RBEHERZE BEARTESER
BRI I s R SR FTE £ 2 18
KT BHAAEEIELFHR
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32. PROVISIONS (continued)

Notes: (continued)
()] (continued)

The Group has been in discussions with the tenants regarding the delay
in the delivery of the shop premises. Some of the tenants have terminated
the Tenancy Agreements with the Group with the initial deposits being
refunded by the Group. For those tenants who are wiling to continue
their leases, the Group has been in discussions with them regarding
the revised terms of agreements by offering them certain discounts on
the leasing fees or a rent-free period as compensation for the delay. As
at the date of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has
not received any claims for compensation from its tenants against the
Group, and no estimation can be made on the amount of this potential
compensation. With respect to the terms of the Tenancy Agreements, no
reversal of provision for the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 was
made due to certain tenants forfeited their claims.

() During 2013 and 2014, the Group has signed pre-sale agreements
regarding the sale of residential properties with buyers. However, the
Group failed to deliver the residential properties according to the pre-sale
agreements. As at the date of these financial statements, the Group has
not received any claims for compensation for the delay. With respect of
the terms of the pre-sales agreement, no provision was recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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33. DEFERRED TAXATION 33. EEMIE
The movements in deferred tax (assets) liabilities during the year are FRCBEEMREB (BE)BEBEZ2Z8HM
as follows: T
Deferred tax (assets) liabilities ELEHE (BEE)EE
Fair value
adjustment  Accelerated
arising on tax  Revaluation
acquisition depreciation of properties Total
BEEEZ EBIE
DNREFR neE MEER mst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET THET FET
At 1 April 2018 RZE—-N\$MA—AH 59,801 73,306 (33,691) 99,416
Charged to profit or loss REZ PR - 6,795 648 7,443
Exchange realignment ME N R (3,939) (5,300) 2,437 (6,802)
At 31 March 2019 and RZZ-NF=A=+—H
1 April 2019 kZT—-NFMHA—H 55,862 74,801 (30,606) 100,057
Charged (credited) to REBmFHIBR (FFAER)
profit or loss - 5,269 (35,138) (29,869
Exchange realignment fE 5 R (3,417) @,741) 2,981 (6,177)
At 31 March 2020 RZE-_ZEF=ZA=+—H 52,445 75,329 (62,763) 65,011
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34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. A
2020 2019
—E-8F —E-NF
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
RO EE kx| B8 E ok
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THET
Authorised: EE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each  F X {E0.05% 7,2
Liak
At 1 April and 31 March REA—B R
=A=t+—H 40,000,000,000 2,000,000 40,000,000,000 2,000,000
2020 2019
“BCEf ZE-NE
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
BAEE X BEnE ! Eia-
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL FTAET
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each & FI{E0.05% 7T 2
Limi
At 1 April and 31 March REA—B R
=A=+—*H 23,336,687,255 1,166,834 23,336,687,255 1,166,834

35. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group

35. EXEE
AEEERHEEA NREAEEY

will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the FREBENFELE AKEEEL

return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged

from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes amounts due to related parties and interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share

capital, reserves and accumulated losses.
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36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 36. REHELTH

(@ As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging
from six months to twenty years (2019: six months to twenty
years. These properties are expected to generate rental yields
of 2.55% (2019: 2.79%) on an ongoing basis.

Certain of the Group’s existing operating lease arrangements
are with terms of contingent lease payments and are
calculated based on a percentage of relevant performance
of the tenants, ranging from 5% to 10%, pursuant to the
rental agreements. Contingent rents recognised as income for
the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted to approximately
HK$18,234,000. During the year ended 31 March 2020,
the Group recognised variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate amounting to approximately
HK$11,981,000.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

(@)

ERBEEA
AEEREGEHEZHE T
HEEME HELEBERZ
AN TFREAZE-_+F (=
TE-hFRNEAE=+F)-
ZEVMEBHRBFEEL2.55%
(ZZE—NF:279% )28 %
U 25 ©

AEEBETHAEKEHERH
WHEANAEERE  WREME
EmaEArP 2 HEEEA S
L (N F5%F10% )t E - EH =
T E-AFEZA=Z+—HIHF
EHERBBRAHNIAEESH A
18,234,000 L #H E T =
TEZA=Z+—HILFE A&
BRI IEERIEE LR 27
FHENRELAE11,981,000%
T o

RBERHEFELKBEREE
T R 21 HA T R LA A S AT JR B A8
HEETZAMBEEEREMN
T

2020

—E-FF

HK$’000

FEx

Within one year —FR 22,632
After one year but within two years —FREMFA 17,864
After two year but within three years MERB=FRK 11,861
After three year but within four years —FRENFEA 9,941
After four year but within five years MEREBERFR 5,123
Atfter five years HF® 21,736
89,157
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36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

(@) As lessor (continued)

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants falling due as follows:

36. REBEEZTH (&)

(a)

EREBEA (8
R-ZB-NAF=ZA=+—H &
SERBMAFE TR MECERE
BTN ARRGARF ERIRABEE 2 2
HEHMT:

2019
—FT-NF
HK$'000
FHET
Within one year —F R 26,253
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_ZERF (RREEEMFE) 63,874
After five years hFi& 47,910
138,037
(b) As lessee (b) EAEEA

As at 31 March 2019, the Group leases certain of its office
premise under operating lease arrangement. The lease for the
office properties are negotiated for terms of two to three years
(2019: one to two years).

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group has recognised right-
of-use assets for these leases from 1 April 2019.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling
due as follows:

K-E—AF=A=+—A &
FERBEEAEZHAARE
FHAZVE -HAZWERE
EEBERZBMA_E=4
—E-AF —EWE) -

REMNEEV B REERNF16
iR AKEEBE T -NFO
A-—BERZEHERIBEAE
BE-

RZE—NAF=ZA=+—H &
SETAREKCEEERTRRE
HEMERIBELTE 2D BB B
T

2019
—T-NF
HK$'000
TET

—FR

Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive

F_EZFELF (BREEMF)

2,361
3,739

6,100
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37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37. EXREIE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the RBEBR NREBEXRAENT

reporting period:

2020 2019
—BERF —ZE-hF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx FET
Construction of properties included BREYE  WEREHE T2
under property, plant and equipment I EYNEERIIES
and investment properties 472,697 690,926
38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38.BEAIRS
(@) In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in () BREAHMBREEMBIBEEZ
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the RGN REBEBRFRNBUATE
following material transactions with related parties during the REAEARG -
years.
2020 2019
—EEF —ZE-hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
=g FET FHET
Related parties: BT
Interest expense FMERX @), (i) 51,374 78,680
Rental income from £&VREI Xt KRERDREX(LES
BERRARAR (RARE") BRAERDF
(IR RE]) 2
e WA 1,992 1,861
Management fee income RERDRE
from K B[E BREERA (iv) 283 285
These transactions were conducted on terms and conditions ZERZIREFTHERE 2 IEHK
mutually agreed between the parties. AR AT
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

38. BEAXRS (&)

(@ (continued) (@ =&

Notes: Bt 3 -

0) Included in the balance is imputed interest of HK$2,860,000 0] BRAEHPEGHE T S2,860,000
(2019: HK$21,294,000). BT (ZF — L% 21,294,000

I °

(i)  Being interest expense to JeShing, /T &4 &, B AR5 — and B iy BIRMEREBE -IHEMH B

% B FIFE 5 & where Mr. Wang has control over these entities. F-RERERBEBEREELHN
FERY ETALEH%SERA
BIEGIHE-

(iif) JeShing has provided certain undertaking to the Group in respect iy MZZTEZZTF=ZA=+—RH'%
of the recoverability of the Group’s total interests in associates of BREXERASEERBEERFZ
approximately HK$18,414,000 (2019: HK$56,750,000) as at 31 484 25 4918,414,0008 7T (= &
March 2020. — N4 : 56,750,000/ 7T ) Z ATUL

1% R A S B E L B FFGE -

(V)  Mr. Wang has beneficial interest and control over )& & vy TEREHEEDRBEZEZRSERS

Kbl
(b) Compensation of key management b)) XEEFEEBAEZHE
personnel of the Group
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hnF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Short term employee benefits RHEERA 2,367 2,704
Post employment benefits EHREzER 17 19
2,384 2,723
(c) The remuneration of key management personnel is () xZEBABZHME  mAEE
determined by the Group with reference to the performance KR2ERARBAETMEBEME
of individual and market trends. E°
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. ®EREsZERMTIA
Categories of financial instruments eI AR
2020 2019
—g-®FE -TNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised costs BHEN AT EZEMERE 90,068 137,598

Financial asset at FVTOCI

B ESARMEEREZ

TREE 2,724 2,724
Financial liabilities cREE
Amortised cost B R 3,596,259 3,303,685

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
trade payables, other payables and accruals, amounts due to
related parties, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, and
notes payable. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented

on a timely and effective manner.

(@ Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings (note 30) and
amounts due to related parties (note 29). The Group aims
at keeping borrowings at fixed rates in order to reduce cash
flow risk. The Group’s exposure to changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s amounts due to related
parties with floating interest rates. The Group does not have
any interest rate hedging policy, and will consider hedging

significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

40.

SHEAREERSMIAZA
P
AEETESHTABERBUKENR
e hHEMEEFE RekBeE
BEdn BAERX EiEAFRERE
AEMEMNBEENRIE  GTRRMT
REMEFT AERENREE - @ T
AZHBRENERE -BZF2R
TAEBzZRAREBEMERR (¥
REEFERE) FERRIRY
BELRR -BEZFRR BRI
mr-EEEEELREEZFRR
VARE (R I B A RO BR U@ & 16 0 -

(@) F=EEp
NEEEE RN ERIT R EAM
&3 (BY5E30) M FE B & 5 &
18 (MY 5F29) EER A FEF =&
o ANEBEE EIREFENELER
BR-UBREBRER K&
BrEms scmsHEESRARE
THAEBERFEEZENES
HEHRIEBB AEEWETM
MEHAPEK WIERETER
EEHMERZFEER -
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

202

(a)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings). The analysis
is prepared assuming the variable-rate financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year.

40. cHEMREERESHIAE 2R

T{E (@)
(@ FEmEb(E)
BRE DM

TRETHMESER S (A
FEMEHAFTITE) BAKH
FRIEATE IR 2 BURE (BIBF B
MNEBRZFZE) DM DHER
PR IR W R TT (R 2 7 B A R
CRIANREFHHRITRE-

Increase (decrease)
in loss before tax

RREiATE 18
B CRd)
HK$’000
T
2020 —E-EF
Increase of 100 basis points 511 00 = 2h 1,224
Decrease of 100 basis points B A 1001E £ 24 (1,224)
2019 —E-hEF
Increase of 100 basis points 2 01001 £ 24 1,303
Decrease of 100 basis points B A 1001E £ 24 (1,303)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses mainly are carried out in the
Mainland China, all transactions including major revenue and
cost items are denominated in RMB and the Group has no
material transactional currency exposure. The RMB is not a
freely convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes
controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies
and in certain cases the remittance of currency out of
Mainland China.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors the foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(©)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with
creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk
of financial loss from defaults.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to trade and other receivables. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations of its debtors’
financial position and condition are performed on each and
every major debtor periodically. These evaluations focus on
the debtor’'s past history of making payments when due
and current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the debtor as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the debtor operates. No credit
terms are granted to the debtors of the Group’s property
development and investment business. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from its debtors.

For trade receivable, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL by using a
provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss
experience, as well as the general economic conditions of
the industry in which the debtors operate. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

40. TREAREEREMIAE 2R
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

204

For other non-traded related receivables, the Group has
assessed whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group will measure the
loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its
management to develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk
grading to categorise exposures according to their degree of
risk of default. The credit rating information is supplied by the
management uses the Group’s own days past due to rate its
major customers and other debtors. The Group’s exposure
and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously
monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded
is spread amongst approved counterparties.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) T {E (#)
(c) Credit risk (continued) ) EERR &)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (continued)
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:

40. TREAREEREMIAE 2R

AEEERZEERE (&)
AEEE 2 EERBRFRIER

BEATEE:

Basis for recognising ECL

BRANCEBBEZEE
Other
Trade financial

Category Description receivables assets

Ehl t 88 FE W BR X HttemEE

Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
or has not been a significant increase in credit  (simplified
risk since initial recognition and that are not credit  approach)
impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

& %Y PRMEECENRBRBESEERREVIARERUR 2BEHEEES 12@ABBEE
WEAEEMETELBEERE (BAE—BR) B (BHLZXR) &1

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that  not credit not credit
are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2) impaired impaired

=4 LREEFERBRBVIAERLURKNEIEIMERLE 2HEHACEES 2HEMEES
FERE (BREZRER) B-RELEE B-RELE

BRE ERE

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL —
one or more events that have a detrimental impact  credit impaired credit impaired
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset have
occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

X E-HEIZHEUZEEZHARKREREELAR 2HBEHEEE 2HEHEES
TEZEHBEAR TREERTER/EREER B-BELEE B-BELEE
B(RBARE=RER) BRE BRE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe  Amount is Amount is
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic  written off written off
prospect of recovery

s EEBRRTEBEARAREVEREEASERAT MHEHESE MWHEHEESSE

A BEWR B B AR IR

CECREEE WHTEARRERLF

205



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

pA=Y.=\
ik

Hrh 5 $R R Bl 5

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

206

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Credit risk (continued)

40. cHEMREERESHIAE 2R

The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s

N RENED)
) EEREE#)

TRAMAEESREEZRFEE

-]

financial assets as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to BERAEEREH 2 EREER
credit risk. % o
31 March 2020 31 March 2019
—2-FzA=1-8H “E-AFZAZt-H
Gross Net Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying Loss carrying carrying Loss carrying
credit rating  lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount amount allowance amount
128 A =%
ABEETR 2HEREERHE BEAE FBEEF KERE HRLE  BERE  FEDIE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TET FEL TR TEr
Trade receivables N/A Lifetime ECL 8,989 - 8,989 14,959 - 14,959
(simplified approach)
FEMER NiEm 2HERREERR
(FE)
Deposits and other Performing 12-month ECL 53,972 - 53,972 47,525 - 47,525
receivables
e REAM | PEABHREEEE
FEY IR
Deposits and other Default Lifetime ECL - 4219 (4,219) - 4,494 (4,494) -
receivables credit impaired
Be REAM #H PHRAEERR-
FEY kA BEEEERE
Note: Mzt :

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified

approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses on these
items by using a provision matrix, grouped by past due status. The
identified impairment loss is not significant.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 40. TRIEREERESMIAZD
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 1B (&)

(d) Liquidity risk d RBELRMR

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the Group reported
net loss of approximately HK$294,856,000. As at 31 March
2020, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$352,886,000 and total borrowings, including interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, amounts due to
related parties and notes payable of approximately
HK$738,899,000 which will be due in the coming twelve
months from the end of the reporting period. As at the same
date, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$27,107,000. In order to improve the
Group’s liquidity position, the directors of the Company
have been implementing various operating and financing
measures, details of which are set out in note 2.1. Based
on those measures, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the Company and the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as when they
fall due in the coming twelve months from 31 March 2020
and it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to the parent company’s
board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions and related
parties to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

Management of the Group aims to maintain sufficient
cash and bank balances and available funding through (i)
refinancing of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
when they fall due; and (i) obtaining new financing to
strengthen the liquidity position of the Group and to meet the
Group’s commitments for properties development projects
and other business operations.

HRAEEHRS BB FEY
294,856,000/ 7T ' AN &£ E @
R EeRB R-_ZT_ZTF
—A=+—8 XEBEBRHEA
&% %8 41352,886,000/8 7T &
BREE(BEFTERTEHE
ffE R FE B E 5 I K E
T Z %) #738,899,000/ T °
B REBRREBF AR+ =@
AEH -REB AEBHNRS
NMIReEMEME 27,107,000
B -AREAEBNTHES
M RAREZTETZHEE
LEERE  BEAFBENME
21 - ERZFEE AQAE
EREB ARBRAEEKER
WEBEESRBRTEN S _ZF
A=+ —HEBRR+=ZFEARN
BHRNBEET BRBELE
ALERRUZSHEEVBRERES
A e

AEBAENEEERAEHR
FHLEREH BERSER
ZEBMRENEEEFENEAD
RedmK WEFBRAEES
RWETAEE - AEBZRER
EHERAERLARRDESS
KOEREFEARERUETE
@ B RS N B 2B 07 BT 5T A Y
ARERE UENEEHERE
WRBpESFR-

AEBEEESEEBB)NGE
RITREMERZN PG BRE
RBGHRE #FEHHE
T RBTEGBULRTHEHSRE
ToUAMBAKEE 2R E DM
AEBEAREBEYEHRER R
Hih R 2 ERPE-
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
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VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following tables set out the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group

can be required to pay.

40. cRiEMEEREMIAEZA
¥E )

d) RBELEAR (2
TEIBALEZSBEEAR
EHRZBRTANBME XA
AHMKBEBELRE (BERDS
R KB T e BRERE
HA o 2 B R 5 2 R B A2
RALEETENZ SR AH-

Total
On demand or undiscounted Carrying
less than 1 year 1to 2 years 2to 5 years cash flows amount
RERY, RERRE
-FZR -EmE WMERE RELH RAEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fign ThEr Thn FiEn ThL
2020 ZECEf
Trade payables FERTEER 1,064,654 - = 1,064,654 1,064,654
Other payables and accruals EENFERENER 314,653 - - 314,653 314,653
Amounts due to related parties [ENEERTE 428,676 477,254 - 905,930 839,167
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings & 85877 & £ ftt 3 348,070 532,782 720,448 1,601,300 1,377,785
2,156,053 1,010,036 720,448 3,886,537 3,596,259
Lease liabilities HEEE 2,361 1,378 - 3,739 3,478
2019 —Z-nE
Trade payables ERER 701,384 - - 701,384 701,384
Other payables and accruals EEATEREER 254,205 - - 254,205 254,205
Amounts due to related parties ERBELFE 147,864 720,645 - 868,509 782,014
Notes payable [HpES 93,471 - - 93471 93,471
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5 83817 B £t fE 3 1,242,901 311,968 - 1,554,869 1472611
2,439,825 1,032,613 - 3,472,438 3,303,685

Richly Field China Development Limited
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value

e

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period for recurring measurement, grouped into
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable in accordance to the Group’s accounting policy.

40.

tREREEREMIAZA

YE (@)

e) AF¥E
THRIBHAEREHAIRDFME
HEY ST EDHUEETR
BUHE HIRAFETTFEHR
TRERBEAEBEHEBES
BE—FTE=H-

31 March 2020
—E_EF=8A=1+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& E-R E=& @zt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET THERT THERT
Financial asset at FVTOCI &2 F{EF A
Hit 2wz
SRMEE
Unlisted equity investment LR ERE - - 2,724 2,724
31 March 2020
“E-BH=H=+-H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B E& E=& @zt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FTHET FTHET
Financial asset at FVTOCI & QA FEEF A
Htt2mElKE 2
TREE
Unlisted equity investment  3F_E i IR & - = 2,724 2,724

During the year ended 31 March 2020, there were no
transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy.

CECREEE WHTEARRERLF
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 40. cREREEREMIAZA

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) | (4)
(e) Fair value (continued) ) ¥Em)
Fair value of financial asset that is measured at fair BREREMEEUANTEFERZ
value on a recurring basis TRMEEZATE
The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value TRHBINULEEEEZT EZTE
measurements of each financial instrument on a recurring sRIEZAFEMAERZEE
basis are set out below: TR R AN B ¢
Relationship of
key inputs
and significant
Valuation Significant unobservable
Fair value Fair values technique and unobservable inputs to
Financial instruments hierarchy as at 31 March key inputs inputs fair value
TEHAEER
EXFAER
BAHESR
RERER EXFABR ATEZEN
¢WMIA ATERR R=ZA=+-HBZATHE TERARE BARE Bi%
2020 2019
b St 313 —Z-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FEL
Financial asset at FVTOCI
- Unlisted equity investment Level 3 2,724 2,724 Market approach Marketability The higher the
- by reference Discount marketability
to pricing discount, the
multiples of lower the fair
similar business value
enterprises
Minority Discount ~ The higher
the minority
discount, the
lower the fair
value
BOTHEFARtZ ARG
TREE
—JF kR E A mnE-ER2  THERPETE  TERPLNE
ZROEBR #e rTE
R BEE MR

SUBERE  SUBRESE
e ¥
i
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 40. cREREEREMIAZA

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) NAERE D
(e) Fair value (continued) e) A¥EE
Fair value of financial asset that is measured at fair BEREHMEEUAFEFEZ
value on a recurring basis (continued) TREEZAFE(E)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial B MR EIRE =R A FER
assets on recurring basis are as follows: EVEHMEEZHEWNT
Unlisted
equity
investment
kL
BERE
HK$'000
FHEIT
As 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, RZE—-—NFHA—H"
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 —T-hAF=A=+—8"
—E-NAFmA—BR
—ZE-ZEF=fF=+—H 2,724
The management of the Group considers that the carrying AEBEEERE RBHEKA
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities TRz HEMmemEEREC/REE
recorded at amortised cost approximate to their fair values. CEmEEREAFEMES -
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 41. QB BARR R #EHEE B &K
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the ARAFIRBERRZUBMRAKEHR
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: wm
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment UEN VNG 34 87
Right-of-use assets EREEE 3,356 -
Interests in subsidiaries LI EYNGIPA m 179,289 457,982
Interests in associates REE R A2 B - -
Financial assets designated at FVTOCI BERAFESARMEE
Wz &mEE 2,724 2,724
185,403 460,793
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TERTFRIE - R & R A A FE Y GRIR
receivables 3,130 3,018
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEER 501 821
3,631 3,839
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals H A fE S 5IR &F’E FTEA 13,389 16,242
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERHE R m 107,474 9,849
Amount due to a related party JERTEET K 1,320 1,320
Lease liabilities HEAaE 2,140 -
Notes payable ANE S - 93,471
124,323 120,882
Net current liabilities RBAEFE (120,692) (117,043)
Total assets less current liabilities WEERARBARE 64,711 343,750
Non-current liabilities FREBAE
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,338 -
Net assets EESHE 63,373 343,750
Equity R
Issued capital BEITRAR 1,166,834 1,166,834
Accumulated losses RitEE (1,103,461) (823,084)
Total equity B 63,373 343,750
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 4. KR MBERRRBEEE R

AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE (&)
COMPANY (continued)
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KARIFEEZHEZERNT :
Capital
Share Contributed redemption Reorganisation Other  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
R EE BB EAEOREE EARE Hit#E By ] @
(note)
(Fizr)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAR TAR TET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2018 RZE-\FNA—H 850,462 69,476 109 287,004 6,856 (1,728,245) (514,338)
Loss and total comprehensive AEERERZERTAE
expense for the year - - - - - (308,746) (308,746)
At31 March 2019 and 1 Apri 2019 R=T-AF=F=1+—-AkK
“Z-NEMA-AH 850,462 69,476 109 287,004 6,856 (2,036,991) (823,084)
Loss and total comprehensive AEERERZERTAE
expense for the year - - - - - (280,377) (280,377)
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-FF=F=+—H 850,462 69,476 109 287,004 6,856 (2,317,368) (1,103,461)
Note: B 5
Reorganisation reserve represented the difference between the nominal value of SRFEBERESESHERMETRG <HE
the shares issued and the net asset value of the subsidiaries of the Company HAQNFMBARZEEFEMZEZE-
upon a group reorganisation.
42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 42, BBIRRESTE

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include any
directors, including independent non-executive directors, and other
employees of the Company, any subsidiary or any invested entity
which the Group holds any equity interest. The Scheme became
effective on 2 November 2009 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

CECREEE WHTEARRERLF
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42.

214

—EREZA=+—RALFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent,
upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
All options are settled by physical delivery of shares.

Share options granted to a director or chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 20
business days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a vesting period of one to three years and ends
on a date which is not later than the expiry date of the Scheme.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the
share options; (i) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of a share. Share options
do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

No share option was granted during the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share
option outstanding under the Scheme (2019: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
O IRZE Mt

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE-_Z-ZF=-A=+—HIFE

43.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 43. METFBHELE 2ERBHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRFNAEEREZHELEZBE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 2 eRERekIRSEY -BE
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for EEBEECAGNEERSREIR
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the RREREERNGEEESRERT D
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing HAEMETHREREZAEGE
activities.
Finance
1 April Financing costs Exchange 31 March
2019 cash flows incurred Accruals  realignment 2020
“Z-N% g E4f2 —Z-%5%
mA-A ReRE MEER &R EifZ =ZA=1+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL THEL FHEL FEL FTEL TEL
Interest-bearing bank and HERITRAMBER
other borrowings 1,472,611 (104,797) 133,374 (33,493 (89,910 1,377,785
Interest payables (included other {71 8. (5 A E A B R
payables and accruals (note 28)) I8 & fEzt B (PiizE28) ) 80,918 - - 33,493 (5,145) 109,266
Notes payable ANES 93,471 (107,339) 13,868 - - -
Amounts due to related parties  FE B 5 5B 782,014 56,943 51,374 - (51,164) 839,167
Lease liabilties BEaE 5,478 (2,362) 362 - - 3,478
2,434,492 (157,555) 198,978 - (146,219) 2,329,696
Deemed
Finance  contribution
1 April Financing costs from Exchange 31 March
2018 cash flows incurred  shareholders Accruals  realignment 2019
“E-N\% BE Ekx RARR “E-7%
mA-A RehE BEER xE EER EX#E% ZA=t+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITREMER
other borrowings 1,541,030 (29262) 147,280 - 63,771)  (102,666) 1,472,611
Interest payables (included in -~ FE(IFIS (F AE 0 EL
other payables and accruals HIERETER
(note 28)) (Piz28) ) - - - - 83,771 (2,853) 80,918
Notes payable EREE 88,114 (3,427) 8,784 - - - 93,471
Amounts due to related parties B 5 7R 975,932 (207,813) 78,680 (5,139) - (59,646) 782,014
2605076 (240502 234,744 (5,139) - (165165 2420014
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFFIFREE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controling A TN ARB D TR 2K EZMERR 2K
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from SEBA A MM BEE 2 £EREE &
the published audited financial statements is set out below. BEHFEERERTZ -

RESULTS E 4

Year ended 31 March

BE=A=t-HLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZE-BF _ZNF ZE-N\§ _ET—+F _TRF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET THT TR TR
(Restated) (Restated)
(&E5)  (KEF)

Turnover HED 181,687 284,184 195,338 60,596 95,867
Loss attributable to: IATALEEER:
- Owners of the Company S VNCIE Y =UN (294,856) (268,297 (391,630) (324,554) (302,581)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
At 31 March
R=ZA=+-H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

“BIRE —“FTNFE E\F ZT+F ZTRF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TET THET TER
(Restated) (Restated)

(&s5))  (KE5)

Total assets BEE 4674071 4533665 5,057,244 3323597 3,563,155
Total liabilities BweE (4,596,369)  (4,148,766)  (4,378421)  (3,402,635)  (3,503,172)
Equity attributable to: AT AL

— Owners of the Company S YNCIE PN 77,702 384,899 678,823 (79,038 59,983

216 Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2020



AN\

>\

RICHLY FIELD CHINA DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

ffHPEERBIRRG

Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong
AU B AE EAE 3% TR SRAT R ELS06 %
Website #94E : www.richlyfieldchinagroup.com



	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	物業組合
	管理層討論與分析
	董事會報告
	企業管治報告
	環境、社會及管治報告
	董事履歷詳情
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益報表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	五年財務摘要
	封底



